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6. Beginning and Ending Dates of Survey
February 1994 to July 1995
/

7. Objectives of Survey

The Rorth Charleston Historical and Architectural Survey was initiated by
the City in order to develop an understanding of North Charleston's historic
resources. There are many sites, buildings, structures and areas that
retain a link to the past and provide clues to the development of the City
of North Charleston; however, their historical significance and inter-
relatedness are not always easy to interpret. Through a professional survey
this understanding can be developed.

The essential purpose of inventorying historic properties in a given area is
to create a data base of information about existing above-~ground sites that
are over fifty years old and that retain enough integrity of design and
material to serve as visual reminders of the past. This purpose is separate
from the important task of identifying archaeological resources, which has
not been comprehensively accomplished for North Charleston, and distinct
from another crucial role of local historians, that of memorializing places
which have been lost. The inventory of existing historic sites provides a
list of properties worthy of attention by citizens and planners as they
guide North Charleston's growth and development. The South Carolina Depart-
ment of Archives and History (SHPO) uses the inventory of resources and
survey report for preservation planning, and as an evaluation tool to estab-
lish the National Register eligibility of properties in the survey area.

The City of North Charleston will incorporate the survey results into its
comprehensive planning process, thus helping to protect and enhance historic
resources. Another intended use of the survey is to promote public aware-
ness of this City's heritage. The City believes that through the
identification of our historic resources, North Charleston and its residents
can celebrate their history with pride and recognize their role in local and
national history. This goal shaped the Narrative History which is such a
large component of the Survey Report.

The computerized inventory of every site surveyed will be loaded into the
city-wide data base that is currently being developed. With this inform-
ation computerized, the Department of Planning and Management will be able
to answer questions about historic sites as well as graphically display the
analysis. Questions such as Where are all the properties built from 1915 to
1920? or How many bungalow-style houses are in the City? can be answered
immediately. Additionally, historic sites can be factored into the analysis
of neighborhoods and the update of the Comprehensive Development Plan.

For the consultants, objectives for the North Charleston Historical and
BArchitectural Survey expanded as work proceeded. We began the project with
an idea of setting North Charleston into the context of the South Carolina
Lowcountry. We ended by seeing North Charleston as part of the Lowcountry,
but also its best reflection of national history. We hope that the products
of this survey illuminate both facets of the city’'s character.

8. Nethodology and Products of Survey
The North Charleston Historical and Architectural Survey was conducted in

accordance with the SURVEY MANUAL: South Carolina Statewide Survey of His-
toric Places (revised edition June 1990). There were five stages, as



outlined in the Manual: 1) background historical research; 2) reconnais-
sance survey; 3) intensive survey; 4) research on individual properties; 5)
production of survey report. Survey-eligible properties are defined as
above-~ground cultural resources that retain their physical integrity:
buildings, sites, structures and objects (including landscape features) that
were originally built before 1945 and those that were constructed after 1944
but are sigrnificant for design or historical associations.

Survey Products are provided in duplicate to the Department of Planning and
Management and to the SHPO. They are 1) Statewide Survey Site Form and Con-
tinuation Sheets; 2} black-and-white photographs (attached to Continuation
Sheets); 3) photographic negative and negative logs (housed at SHPO); 4)
Compiled Inventory of survey sites (ipcluded with this report, and provided
on diskette to the City of North Charleston); 5) maps; 6) coloxr slides; 7)
gcript for slide presentation; 8) this Survey Report, including Project
Narrative History and Bibliography; and 9) a brochure discussing Rorth
Charleston's historic resources.

packground historical research and preliminary intensive survey indicated
that the City of North Charleston had a large collection of World War II-era
housing unlike any historic resources that had been intensively surveyed in
South Carolina to date. As a result, the project was carried out in two
phases. The Phase One area includes Olde North Charleston, between Mixson
Avenue to the west and Virginia Avenue to the east, bounded to the north and
south by creeks and railroad lines. The area was extended northwest to take
in Liberty Homes (Century Oaks Community), and southwest to take in Johm C.
Calhoun Homes. A non-contiguous area made up of George Legare Homes (North
Park Village) and Ben Tillman Homes (River Place)} was included becaanse of
the connections of these complexes to the themes that were being researched
during Phase One. Phase Two includes the rest of the Survey Area.

Historical Research

The historical narrative provides an ovarview of the development of the
survey area and interprets the circumstances uander which its built
environment developed. The history is oxganized thematically, with each
section including axamples of related sites. Because of the Department of
Planning and Management's interest in understanding the separate
neighborhcoods that make up the City of North Charleston, geography was an
important basis for research. We began the North Charleston Historical and
Architectural Survey with a review of written materials: previous survey and
Natiocnal Register documents, published books, archaeological reports, and
periodicals. Few general sources specifically address the geographical and
historical themes that created today's North Charleston.

Turning to property research, we used deeds and plats to trace land
transactions and patterns of neighborhood development. We found that periods
of intense construction activity could be correlated with employment peaks
and valleys at the Navy Yard. Property records also encouraged us to
research the interactions among the City of Charleston, federal and state
governments, and industrial land owners. 7Two important keys were City of
Charleston Year Books (published annually from the 1880s to the 19508), and
microfilmed editions of the Charleston News and Courier. The newspaper has
been the most important reference workx for this project.

Baving gone at the project “backward" by conducting property-specific
research first, we could turn to general works of national and local
history. A good bit of scholarly work into early settlement of the North



Maps and the computerized inventory include all the buildings, using the
same site number for each.

The Survey Manual describes another procedure for numbering sites inm a
complex, assigning each a primary number followed by decimals (.00 to .99).
This method was used during Phase One for war housing projects, Garco Mill,
and Garco Village, complexes where there are large numbers of buildings
constructed to a few basic pattermns, and a few individual properties (parks,
office, commercial buildings). Each type or individual property was assigned
a unigue site number. As with other essentially identical properties, the
best example of each type provided data for the “address" section of the
form, with other examples listed on the continuation sheet.

During Phase Two, a change was made to the way in which the address section
of the site form was completed, and the system of defining categories of
buildings was expanded. Neighborhood was added to the address section. For
sites surveyed in groups, the card indicates the number of buildings in the
group instead of a particular address. All the sites are listed on continu-
ation sheets. This modification allows the Compiled Inventory and the cards
themselves to reflect surveyed resources more accurately.

Categories of resources were revised during Phase Two, to make site forms
more useful for architectural evaluations of Worth Charleston's historic
buildings. It was clear during the reconnaissance survey that the neighbor-
hoods in the city vary tremendously in their sense of time and place. Phase
Two emphasized evaluation, comparison and consclidation of information. The
visual qualities that distinguish NWorth Charleston's neighborhoods result
from relationships: the similarities of some buildings to each other, and
the possibility of describing them as categories; the differences between
buildings of different categories; and the comparisons of neighborhoods
according to the categories of buildings within them.

In several of North Charleston's historic neighborhoods, buildings lend
themselves to groupings according to obvious characteristics: date built,
architecural style, size, material. The cateqories (or “typologies”) were
organized for each neighborhood in response to historical data and physical
description. Although there are similar house (such as the "bungalow*
style) in most of the city's neighborhoods, each site number and site card
includes sites in only one neighborhood. Buildings that did not fit easily
into categories, and those outside visually cohesive neighborhoods, were
treated as separate sites.

Categories are based on architectural reference works such as vVirginia
McAlester and Lee McAhlester's A Field Guide to American Houses (New York:
Alfred A. EKnopf, 1984) and on the Survey Manual. It also responds to
realities noted in the field. Construction style and building elements for
all the buildings in a given category are tabulated and summarized on the
site card, using the standard Statewide Inventory format; every building in
the category is described on the continuation sheet.

One old survey convention that was re-instituted for these inventories is
the shorthand of describing building facades according to bays: W-E-W
(window-entry-window). A new convention is CMU ("concrete masonry unit"),
the term that describes modern concrete block construction. We also substi-
tuted the term “carport®” for the "porte-cochere* of the site form, because
houges in North Charelston have this wing not to cover a doorway (most do
not even access a door) but to cover an automobile.



The aggregate compilation of data makes it possible to compare styles in
different neighborhoods. It also makes it possible to evaluate alterations
as they affect twentieth century buildings. The changes to most buildings
in North Charleston have not been wholesale redesign or enlargement (schools
are a notable exception) as is common with 100-year old buildings. Instead,
the changes are more in the character of remodeling or improvements in
materials unavailable twenty years earlier: asbestos siding over original
weatherboard, vinyl over original asbestos. Dates of such changes are less
important than their cumulative impact; assessing their detriment to the
integrity of an individual building is possible when it is known whether
changes such as replacement porch supports are almost universal in a given
neighborhood.

It is important to stress that properties treated as individual sites are
neither more nor less important than those treated as groups. To provide
accessible information, we used one photograph to describe several buildings
when they share essential qualities of design and plan. The photographs
provide epough visual information that the arrangement of categories is
comprehensible, and supply representative views of the buildings themselves.
Construction materials, building shapes and other elements not apparent
through a black-and-white photograph are handled as text. Buildings that
cannot be discussed by reference to similar buildings must be described
separately, and photographed as individual sites.

Index of Sites (“Compiled Inventory")

For each property surveyed, the compiled inventory includes the Topographic
Quad Number (part of the site form control number), site number, address,
Tax Map parcel number, type of resource, and date of construction. For most
properties, it also includes the name of the neighborhood; and, for those
inventoried with similar properties, the descriptive name of the category.
It was computerized in a database format compatible with the system used by
the Department of Planning and Management of the City of North Charleston.
A copy of the compiled inventory is found at Appendix Pour, arranged in
order of street address.

Mapg

Project maps include a general base map and neighborhood inset maps. The
Department of Planning and Management relies on Tax Parcel information,
which is provided in the Compiled Inventory. The survey maps are most
useful as guides for understanding the relationships among neighborhoods,
transportation corridors and employment centers; and for understanding the
patterns of historical development within neighborhoods.
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INTRODUCTION

North Charleston‘'s history is a complex story of time, place and details.
The growth and development of the area that became the City of North
Charleston has been most affected by its strategic location between two of
the Lowcountry's great rivers, and between peninsular Charleston and the
inland world. The area's earliest history was part and parcel with the
history of peninsular Charleston, Charleston Neck, and riverfront settle-
mants throughout Charleston County.

Before the Revolutionary War, agricultaral changes began that affected the
poorly-drained Neck and North Area significantly after the war. In most of
North Charleston by 1800, indigo planting had effectively ended, and rice
planters had moved away from their inland fields. From that time forward,
North Charleston (except along the Cooper River above Noisette Creek)
developed separately from the plantation regions of the Lowcountry.

Much of the area began to reforest in the early nineteenth century. Because
of the prevalence of malaria swamps, it was only lightly settled. North
Charleston's settlement patterns focussed on transportation corridors,
crossroads communities, and rare elevated sections that were both suitable
for agriculture and accessible to road, rail or water (the area around
Ladson, along the earliest railroad, is a good example). Through Rorth
Charleston extended the main State Road (Meeting Street Road/Rivers Avenue)
leading inland toward Goose Creek, Columbia, and beyond, and Dorchester
Road, accessing Ashley River ferries and St. Andrews Parish Church. The
routes were connected by today’'s Bighway 78 and Ladson Road, which were
often impassible before the twentieth century.

Railroads in and out of the peninsular city also crossed North Charleston:
the South Carolina Rail Road (1830), toward Aiken and Coluambia, and North-
eastern Railroad (1855) toward Moncks Corner and Florence. These first
lines carried mail, passengers and freight. During the Civil War soldiers,
slaves and refugees all traveled by rail. It is North Charleston's location
that kept the Civil War largely outside the area: roads and railroads led to
upcountry areas that were safely Confederate until the war was nearly over,
and the rivers were accessible only to Confederate-held Charleston Harbor.

For several decades after the Civil War, Charleston County's economy
operated as a boom-and~bust series of success and failure. During this
period, in such trends as railroad expansion, freedmen's villages, and
congolidation of a rural society with urban centers, North Charleston's
history is similar to that of other Lowcountry areas.

The unique aspects of North Charleston’'s twentieth century development stem
from the same forces that influenced its early history: its proximity to the
City of Charleston (Chicora Park), its situation on the Cooper River (Navy
Yard), and the application of modern technology to a geographic problem
{(drainage and roads).

The recovery from the financial crash of the early 1890s brought a new
confidence to the City of Charleston, which bought a former rice plantation
to create a suburban pleasure park for its citizens. while Chicora Park was
still being developed, it was sold again, this time to the federal
government for the establishment of a Naval Base to replace Port Royal
(Beaufort). The city retained ownership of inland areas of the park. The
gradual use and reuse of these tracts, for Municipal Prison Farm, Pinehaven
Sanitorium, Army and Navy barracks, highway rights-of-way, and housing



projects provide some of the most interesting stories of land use in North
Charleston.

Acquigition of land by the City of Charleston and the coming of the Navy
Base are complex and fascinating trends that affected the development of
today's City of North Charleston. The other most interesting seguence of
events is that which led to the area's suitability for residence: drainage
and highway improvements. Beginning in the early twentieth century, the
Charleston County Sanitary and Drainage Commission transformed vast areas
from St. Pauls Parish to Awendaw as it drained wetlands for productive
agriculture and to reduce mosquito swamps. For the first time, areas of
Rorth Charleston beyond the strips of high ground followed by the earliest
roads and almost continucusly settled, were healthy to live in, accessible,
and capable of agricultural production. Along with the creation of the Navy
Yard as an employment center, this drainage program resulted in the
development of North Charleston's earliest white subdivisions.

During the twentieth century, North Charleston’s history reflects American
history more than it does themes gpecific to Lowcountry South Carolina.
Cycles of war, peace and mobilization, Great Depression and New Deal,
resulted in a built environment that strongly reflects national trends: the
bungalow of the early twentieth century, popular into the 1940s; the
Craftsman-enhanced bungalow of the era just before and after World War One;
the transitional building style referred to in this report as Minimal-
Traditional; and the post-World War Two ranch house.

It may be that the wholesale use of prefabricated demountable housing during
World War Two is a cause for the large numbers of moved buildings identified
in the survey area. These structures were first assembled by trained
workers from the area, whose experience may have helped when Liberty Homes
buildings were moved to new locations. Experience and example probably
gncouraged the relocation of surplus World War Two buildings from one end of
North Charleston (bor-Towne Apartments) to the other (Ferndale). By the
mid-1580s, when dozens of craftsman-style residences were available for
removal from the Garco Village, Rorth Charleston was ready. Garco hounses are
found at Highland Terrace, on Bonds Avenue, in Cherokee Place, Wando Woods
and Liberty Hill. The number of moved buildings in North Charleston that
retain their original shape and plan is unique.

GEOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

North Charleston lies between the Ashley and Cooper rivers. The city begins
at the upper part of Charleston Reck, the historic name for the area above
the peninsular City of Charleston. Settlement patterns, agricultural and
commercial economics, and even government structures have been affected by
the nearby urban center and the transportation networks surrounding it.
Topography, soil type and climate have also affected the area‘'s development.

The Charleston peninsula is about one and one-half miles wide at its
southern end. Above the Neck proper, from a point about six or seven miles
north of the southern tip, the peninsula begins to spread, with the Ashley
River bending west and the Cooper curving to the east. By Seven Mile the
rivers are four miles apart; at Ten Mile, eight miles apart.

The Ashley River makes a series of S-curves with high bluffs opposite wide
marshes. It is navigable to about thirty miles upriver from Charleston, to
Bacons Bridge in Dorchester County. Above Bees Ferry the Ashley is brackish;
tidal influence and salt water incursion extend nearly to Bacons Bridge.



Above North Charleston, the river beging to spread as a large swamp, curving
north ten miles to merge with Wassamassaw Swamp. With its headwaters in
Berkeley and Dorchester counties, the Ashley River watershed area is very
large, but the river itself has few tributaries as compared tc Rantowles
Creek or the Cooper River. The soil on both sides of the Ashley is light

and sandy, and not particularly fertile.l

The Cooper River is navigable for a greater distance than the Ashley River.
From a point above Shipyard Creek, the Cooper also has the gualities that
favor tidal ricefield agriculture: water above the saltwater line is driven
strongly by river tides, so that the ebb and flow could move fresh water
across ricefields as needed. The Cooper River is fed by Roisette Creek,
Filbin Creek, and Goose Creek, which runs far inland, past Otranto and The
Elms.

Topography in North Charleston is generally level, except for slopes near
the shallow creeks and marshes that crisscross the North Area. Some
sections, such as the southeast side of 0Olde North Charleston, Charleston
Farms along Filbin Creek, or George Legare Homes (North Park Village), are
uneven and almost hilly. Ten Mile Hill is a rare elevated peak. Soils are
generally fertile, and where well-drained have been productive agricultural
lands. Into the twentieth century, large sections were very poorly drained
and unattractive for residential settlement.

The most important land routes in North Charleston have developed over
several periods of history. Originally they curved along ridges of land,
detouring around swampy bottoms. The earliest road north out of the City of
Charleston was the "Broad Path," an extension of King Street and Meeting
Street, which led overland to the interior. 1Its route is generally repre-
sented by Rivers Avenue. The other principal early land route in North
Charleston is Dorchester Road, which runs northwest along the ridge of land
at the east side of Ashley River, corresponding to the Ashley River Road
(Highway 61) at the opposite shore. These riverside roads were historically
connected by Bees Ferry, which gave access to St. Andrews Parish Church, and
by a ferry from the west terminus of Ladson Road to Dorchester Village and
St. George's, Dorchester, Parish Church. Across the high land at the north
end of North Charleston, Ladson Road and Highway 78 run between Ashley River
and Goose Creek. BAn early bridge carried travelers east to St. James, Goose
Creek, Parish Church.

GOVERMMENT AND POLITICAL JURISDICTION

The traditional name for the area north of Charleston Neck is "North Area,”
a very loosely-defined term that includes much of the City of North
Charleston. Hanahan {(in today's Berkeley County) is also freguently consi-
dered part of the North Area. The student of North Charleston's history
finds that property records as well as general historical works refer not to
"the North Area"™ but to parishes, counties, townships, boards of
commissioners, public service districts, and municipalities. The City of
North Charleston includes sections that have been parts of four parishes and
three modern counties; several crossroads communities; and large tracts that
have been owned and managed by the City of Charleston, Charleston County, or
the United States government. This discussion of the framework of govern-
ment is intended as a tool for researchers of North Charleston's history
more than as an outline of South Carolina politics.

South Carolina was first settled (1670) as a province of English Lords
Proprietors. The province was to be divided into counties as basic terri-
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torial units for local government, judicial administration, land grants,
militia units and election districts. The Lords Proprietors would appoint
the provincial governor and control the court system: equity, civil,
criminal and admiralty law. One of the most important functions of colonial
government was the construction, maintenance and management of roads,
bridges and ferries.

In 1682 three counties were laid out along South Carolina's coast: Craven
County north from Awendaw Creek into today's North Carolina; Berkeley County
south from Awendaw Creek to the Stono River; and Colleton County south from
the Stono River to the Combahee River. North Charleston, and most of today's
Charleston County, were in "Berkeley County.” The position of Charleston as
the leading provincial city was recognized and reinforced when a general
court was established there, with jurisdiction over all three counties.

These early counties do not correspond to modern counties, and have mostly
been forgotten. More relevant to geographers and social historians are the
parishes that were laid out as administrative units for the Church of
England. 1In 1706, a Church Act divided the province of South Carolina into
ten parishes: St. Philips; St. James, Goose Creek; St. Andrews; St. James,
Santee; Christ Church; St. Thomas; St. Denis; St. Johns, Berkeley; St.
Bartholomews; and St. Pauls. As the population grew, the church subdivided
its parishes. St. George, Dorchester, was formed in 1717 from the upper
portion of St. Andrews; St. Michaels was formed in 1751 from St. Philips.
Today's North Charleston encompasses parts of St. Philips and St. Michaels;
St. James, Goose Creek; St. George, Dorchester; and St. Andrews parishes.
The parishes gradually became political divisions, taking on some of the
characteristics of local government. By 1721 they were effectively election
districts, with elections held and results posted at the parish church.
Until 1868, under South Carolina‘'s constitutions of 1790 and 1865, parish
divisions in the Lowcountry remained the divisions for census and state
representation, including election to the S.C. House of Representatives.

South Carolina's settlers revolted against proprietary rule in 1719. The
transfer to royal government was complete in 1731. As non-Anglican denomin-
ations (Dissenters) grew more powerful, government administration shifted
away from the church, but parishes remained significant geographic units.

The early parishes split Charleston Neck from north to south, with east-west
division lines further north. Parish names were more important than any
others in describing locations of land. Recorded deeds, even for lots in
subdivieions, still make reference to parishes. Because parishes were used
as census reporting units (including agricultural and employment statistics)
into the twentieth century, they can be very useful in developing compar-
isons among various Lowcountry areas. Unfortunately, they are problesatic in
North Charleston because many plantations spread across two parishes.
Parish boundary lines are reflected in some of today's county lines (St.
George, Dorchester, Parish and Dorchester County, for example), but other
parishes (St. James, Goose Creek) fall within two or more counties.

The seven judicial court districts laid out in South Carolina in 1769 had
little impact on patterns of land use or population. Charleston District
lay between the Santee and Combahee rivers, extending inward about fifty
miles. In 1785, new counties, each with a court, were drawn for the State
of South Carolina. Because the parish system was so well established in the
Lowcountry, counties drawn within Charleston District were soon abandoned.
A1l tbhe counties were discarded in 1800, and new judicial districts created.
These remained substantially in place until after the Civil War. Like
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earlier districts, they had to do with the administration of justice.
Parishes were generally not divided by district lines, and remained the
important unit for land-use records. Districts remain interesting to a
researcher because they were the reporting units used by South Carolinian

Robert Mills in his 1820-1825 surveys of the state. Bis Atlas of South
Carolina (maps) and Statisticg of South Carolina (reports), both based on

districts, provide a detailed picture of the state just before the coming of
the railroad.

Under South Carolina's 1868 Constitution, the boundaries of Judicial
Districts were retained, but they were reorganized as counties. With some
additions and boundary changes, these represent South Carolina‘'s modern
counties. Berkeley County was carved ont of Charleston County in 1882, and
claimed mach of its land area. In North Charleston, all the area above Ten
Mile was included in Berkeley County until 1920 when it was re-annexed to
Charleston. Dorchester County, which includes the northwestern section of
the City of North Charleston, was created in 1897 from areas of Berkeley and
Colleton counties. Since 1920, the boundaries between Charleston, Colleton,
Dorchester and Berkeley counties have been essentially unchanged with
respect to the area of North Charleston.

Along with counties, in 1868 the South Carolina legislature set up a system
of townships within counties, modeled on the New England pattern. Townships
would be permitted to tax for and manage road and other public services.
This system was quickly abolished (1870), but the concept of townships was
introduced again when South Carolina's modern Constitution (1895) was
adopted. Under this framework, each county was established as a body poli-
tic. Within counties were municipalities and townships, each a corporate
body authorized to assess and collect taxes. County officials included only
sheriff, coroner and judge of probate. There were no established county
boards for roads or other public services. These functions were handled on
a municipal bagis in the City of Charleston, and by Boards of Commissioners
outside the city. Education was handled by local school districts. On the
whole, services in rural areas were confined to roads, law enforcement and
care of the indigent.

Because municipalities were the primary unit of local government, cities had
much broader powers than did counties. 1Into the twentieth century, most
county government was controlled by the state legislature through the
legislative delegation (the group of state senators and representatives rep-
resenting the county), which governed appropriations for county purposes by
passing a supply bill through the state legislature. At the recommendation
of the delegation, the governor appointed Township Boards of Assessors to
manage tax assessments for their respective areas. Each county had a Board
of Commissioners (in Charleston County, they were the chairmen of the eight
Township Boards) headed by a county supervisor whose jurisdiction ranged
from welfare to roads and bridges, including management of the chain gang.
The delegation had to approve all appropriations (funded by local taxation)
for ongoing work of the Board of Commissioners. The legislature could also
establish and fund special commissions. In Charleston County, one very
influential role of the County Supervisor, that of highway authority, was
eventually lost to the special-purpose Sanitary and Drainage Commission.

When local areas became populous enough to demand urban services, an alter-
native to incorporating as a city was the Special Service District. These
included Public Service Districts (PSDs) and Single-Purpose Districts.
Charleston County's first Public Service bistricts (1935) were St. Andrews
and North Charleston. They were established to provide services such as

12



garbage collection, fire protection, water and sewage. The Cooper River
Park and Playground Commission, its area including the North Charleston PSD
and much of the St. Philips and St. Michaels PSD, was a Single-Purpose
District created in 1942 to succeed the North Charleston Park and Playground
Commission. Its first office was established in 1945, on the part of the
Chicora Graded School property now occupied by Live Oak Community Center.

In 1948 the present form of Charleston County government was organized by an
act of the General Assembly, which established a seven-member elected County
Council. Council was empowered to tax, select its own chairman, and
adminigster through a county manager. This was one of the earliest examples
of the "council-manager" form of goverument in South Carolina.

By the 19408, although separate North Area neighborhoods (including one
named “North Charleston”) retained their names, the larger area was
generally known as North Charleston. There were periodic efforts to
establish North Charleston as an independent municipality. The City of
North Charleston was finally incorporated in 1972.2

POPULATION

It is impossible to estimate historic population statistics for North
Charleston precisely. Eighteenth, nineteenth and twentieth century census
records are arranged by parish, county or city. North Charleston does not
conform to parish or county boundaries, and was unincorporated until 1972.
Its early population must be estimated through reference to records for
Charleston.

In 1670 about 150 English colonists arrived at today's Charles Towne Landing
~and began to burild a fortified settlement. By 1672 their population was
,estimated at 200. The town was moved to the tip of the Charleston peninsula
Ain 1680, and developed rapidly. By 1690 there were at least 1000 people
“living in Charleston; fifty years later there were 6,800. During the first
year of the colony, black slaves were brought with white immigramts from the
Caribbean. Soon, hundreds of West Africans were brought into Charleston
each year. By 1695 about one-guarter of the South Carolina‘'s population was
enslaved. Becomir | the majority, by 1719 slaves accounted for almost two-
thirds of South Carolina's population.3

The first Census of the United States, taken in 1790, listed 249,073
residents in South Carolina. Charleston District (twelve parishes) had a
total population of 66,985, most of them living outside the City of
Charleston. 77% of the district's population was black, almost all of them
slaves. Slaves were overwhelmingly agricultural workers, and their numbers
and proportions were high where staple-crop agriculture was profitable.
During the pre-Revolutionary period, planters in today's North Charleston
were succegsful with indigo and swamp field rice, so at least until the
17908 the ratio of slave to free was probably similar to that of Charleston
District in generxral. Through the 1830s the percentage of Charleston
County's population that was black remained fairly stable, around 78%; the
proportions may have been different in today's North Charleston.?

In 1850 the everage population of Charleston District was 33.8% white, 60.5%
slave, and 5.3% free “colored".> In North Charleston, residence patterns
had shifted during the early nineteenth century, as properties along Goose
Creek and the Cooper River were converted for large-scale tidal field rice
planting and the interior plantations were neglected. Whites who were
occupied with small farms, livestock keeping, forest preducts, taverns, or
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stores tended to hold fewer slaves than did "planters.” Therefore the ratio
of slave to white could have been lower in North Charleston than in the rest
of the district; the economic opportunities in North Charleston may have
made it more attractive for free African-Americans or people of mixed race.

In 1900, the population of Charleston County outside the City of Charleston
was about 32,000. Included in this number were not only residents of North
Charleston below Ten Mile Hill (the upper section was still in Berkeley
County) but also the Sea Islands, McClellanville, Mount Pleasant, Sullivans
Island, and Charleston Neck. The ratio of population outside the City of
Charleston grew slowly from 1910 to 1930, from 34 percent to 38 per cent.
(some of the increase was due to the return of the land from Berkeley County
in 1920.)

The balance of Charleston County's population changed significantly between
1940, when 41% lived outside the City of Charleston, and 1950, when 57% were
outside the city. While much of the increase was in small towns such as
Mount Pleasant or Hollywood, the expansion of North Charleston was an
important factor. 1Imn 1942 the Charleston County auditor recorded 19,745
buildings in the entire county. In Dorchester Terrace and Waylyn alome, the
2,000+ new houses built from 1941-1943 added 10% to the number of buildings
in the county, and doubled the number in St. Philips and Michaels Parish.®

NATIVE AMERICANS

Although there are no above-ground sites in North Charleston associated with
Native Americans, several historic place names originated with the Indians:
Accabee, Tipseeboo, Woosah (an early name for Filbin Creek), and Etiwan (an
early name for Cooper River). Native American settlement in South Carolina
is thought to have been continuous for more than twelve thousand years. By
the time explorers and settlers from Europe, Africa, and the Caribbean
encountered these first South Carolinians, they generally lived in settle-
ments, with a few isolated farmsteads. Their trading paths extended
throughout the southeast and beyond.

Many Native Americans tried to cooperate with the European settlers. The
Wando, Rtiwan, Kiawah and Sewee were helpful to the English, and supported
them against Spanish raids. Other tribes were less friendly to white
colonists; as early as 1674 the Stono and Russoe rebelled unsuccessfully.
In 1715 the Yamassee Indians mounted a war against the province of Carolina.
From their base near today's Yemassee, they crossed the Edisto River and
raided through southern Charleston County. Their final defeat in 1717 ended
any effective Indian power in the Lowcountry, although there was still some
danger to Furopean colonists in rural areas. In general, the threat of
attack receded with the frontier; as white settlement expanded north and
west, Native Americans were less and less a force in the Lowcountry.’

EARLY SETTLEMENT PATTERNS

Many early plantations and settlements were researched by Henry A. M. Smith
during the early twentieth century. Those who are interested in the early
history of North Charleston should begin with his articles, including maps,
in South Carolina BHistorical and Geneclogical Magazine: *"Charleston and
Charleston Neck...,"” "The Ashley River: Its Seats and Settlements,"™ and
"Goose Creek." <Charleston Neck and both sides of the Cooper River are
treated in Dr. John B. Irving's A Day on Cooper River, which focuses on the

mid-nineteenth century.8
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South Carolina was established largely as a business enterprise. 1In 1670 a
fleet of immigrants organized by Anthony Ashley Cooper (Lord Ashley, later
the Earl of Shaftesbury) settled at Albemarle Point (Charles Towne Landing).
In 1680 the settlement was moved to the more defensible Oyster Point,
between the Ashley and Cooper rivers, and named Charles Towne. As settlers
established their residences and planted food crops, they began to trade
with Native Americans for soft white deerskings and other goods. From 1674
through the 16808, Shaftesbury's plantation on the upper Ashley River
(northwest of NWorth Charleston) was headquarters for Indian trade west of

Charleston.?

Forest products were among South Carolina's earliest successful exports.
From turpentine to lumber, they have been more or less important in Rorth
Charleston’'s economy since the seventeenth century. As Charleston's popula-
tion expanded, even firewood was a marketable good. The early naval stores
industry (tar, pitch, resin, and turpentine) profited from Parliamentary
incentives established in 1704. In 1712 South Carolina was the major
producer in the colonies, with exports increasing through the 1720s8. After
British subsidies were cut during the 17408, South Carolina lumber
production declined as settlers began to plant more profitable crops.

Board lumber products were important to the home market and for export.
Cypress and long leaf pine were prized for wooden planks, shingles and
barrel staves. Mills shipped lumber to the West Indies, South America, and
Burope. By the late 1670s South Carolina began building ships for local and
English investors at shipyards near Mount Pleasant and on James Island.
Nearer North Charleston, Shipyard Creek was named for a late-sighteenth
century shipyard located at its mouth. The 32-gun frigate John Adams was
launched from here in June 1779.

Although the YLords Proprietors encouraged agriculture, they preferred their
colonists to establish towns. They considered townspeople to be easier than
isolated farmers to defend, tax, and call to arms. Willtown (ca. 1682), on
a high bluff over the South Rdisto River, was the first settlement after
Charleston that can be considered a town. Willtown suffered heavily in the
Yamassee War (1715), and declined completely after about 1750. Closer to
North Charleston, Dorchester, on the Ashley River (in today's Dorchester
County), was established in 1695 by a group of Congregationalists (Baptists)
who moved south from Maine. Dorchester Village became an important trading
point, with a parish church (St. George's) and a fort. The town declined
after 1750, and was deserted after the American Revolution. As Charleston
established its position as a commercial center, opportunities had been
reduced in competing small towns. When indigo and rice began to show
economic promise, and the threat of Indian attack declined, more and more
settlers moved onto farmsteads or plantations instead of building towns.

Rural colonists developed scattered farms along navigable rivers, building
their houses on high ground when possible. They produced food for them-
selves and for townspeople, growing Indian corn, rice, wheat, barley, kidney
beans, American potatoes, garden vegetables and fruit trees. Farmers
especially valued "0ld Indian Fields,” land already cleared for crops; fresh
water springs may also have been a factor in choosing settlement sites.
Typically, livestock animals were allowed free range, pigs in swamps and
forests, cattle or sheep in drier pine forests and savannahs. As they tried
to establish a cash crop for export, early South Carolinians experimented
with many crops, focussing on those that were favored by British mercantile
laws. Most agriculture proved to be unsuitable for the climate. Oranges,
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olives, grapes and silkworms all failed. By 1700 Virginia and Maryland had
driven South Carolina tobacco from the market.1C

Indigo and rice were the first successful export crops in South Carolina.
In North Charleston and also along the opposite side of the Ashley River,
these crops were profitable in areas that were considered swampy wastes a
century later. Some of South Carolina‘s earliest settlers brought indigo
seed. By 1740 its potential was clear. A Parliamentary bounty, instituted
to aid the Bnglish textile industry, increased planters' profits after 1749.
South Carolina became the British Empire's major producer of dye as indigo
planting spread through its inland swamps. Howaever, compared to rice or
cotton, the number of planters who grew and processed indigo was always very
low. Surviving vats such as those at Otranto Plantation (now at Hobay
Corporation in Berkeley County) are rare. There were probably indigo vats
near the Ashley River. Street names in the Indigo Fields subdivision
commemorate the industry.

British mercantile laws also favored rice. As planters experimented with
various rice cultivation methods, they were aided by West African slaves
experienced in subtropical agriculture. In areas of fresh water swamps,
they irrigated rice through dams, dikes, trunks and ponds. Rice and indigo
went well together, one growing in wetland, one in dry; they were cultivated
and harvested most intensively in different seasons. By about the middle of
the eighteenth century, planters began learning how to manipulate fresh
water affected by tidal rivers, but generally continued to plant their
established inland fields.ll

Lands in today's North Charleston were among the earliest in South Carolina
tc be granted to colonists. For example, the first part of Marshlands
Plantation to be recorded was a 1677 grant of 270 acres. Marshlands was
probably used for early rice and indigo culture, and was adapted to the
tidal field cultivation that became important during the 1790s. By 1842 its
large ricefields had "been in a state of high and successful culture for
many years.”

At the north side of Noisette Creek, a 960-acre tract was granted in 1680 to
Robert Drye, who established Oak Grove Plantation. After several enlarge-
ments and divieions, the plantation comprised 864 acres in 1750. There was
a "good" dwelling, an apple and pear orchard; a large dam across the creek
and through the marsh, with 80 to 100 acres good for rice; and also "high
land fit for indigo, cornm and potatoes, and good pasture land."12

An interesting sale advertisement of 1758 gives an idea of an Ashley River
plantation in North Charleston: Ashley Wood-Jericho was described as 970
acres including a large indigo field with substantial new fencing; five sets
of indigo vats and a lime vat; 200 acres of rice land cleared, part of it
already planted; and a good dam. The tract contained at least 12,000 cords
of wood, much of it within 1/4 mile from a boat landing; several hundred
cords of bark; and was T"convenient to supply the markets of Charleston and
the Ferry with provisions of many kinds, by water or by cart.” The resi-
dence was described as "a large two-story Mansion house, with a barn and
other outbuildings, all of brick; the whole a 1little out of repair
occasioned by the late Hurricane." About one and one-half mile from the
house was the brick overseer's house and barn, as well as slave houses,
kitchens, and other buildings "of wood but newly built.” In 1760 the tract
was purchased by John Drayton (of Drayton Hall, at the opposite side of the
river), and held by him until 1777. (In late 1994, the National Trust for
Historic Preservation purchased part of this tract, and has announced hopes
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of acquiring more of this riverfront land in North Charleston. Although
there are no above-ground historic resources on the property, its acguisi-
tion will preserve the views from Drayton Hall across the river.)

Childs Plantation on the upper Ashley River was a relatively small
plantation. It was advertised for sale in 1750 as a plantation of some two
handred acres of good corn and indigo land, and "some marsh.® Along with a
small dwelling house and other buildings, Childs was notable for its
pleasant situation opposite Mr. William Cattell's: "one of the best places
on the Ashley River for a store.”

Thas a significant aspect of the history of North Charleston and Charleston
Neck becomes apparent: its importance as a transportation corridor. The
Broad Path and Dorchester Road may have been first used by Native American
travelers. They were improved and connected to newer roads between white
settlements, churches and ferry landings. Lumber producers, farmers and
traders would have preferred to deliver their goods by river to Charleston
Harbor, but even though they cut canals and cleared waterways, neither the
Ashley nor the Cooper ran deep into the central or west parts of South Caro-
lina. BAs the "back country" became more thickly populated during the 1750s
and 17608, settlers had to move their export trade by land as well as water
to Charleston. The opportunities for trading posts, ferry landings, and
taverns began to encourage a mercantile population in North Charleston.l4

On Stock Prior Plantation the Broad Path intersected Dorchester Road. Here
the Quarter House tavern was in operation by 1720. Other well-known taverns
include Clement's Ferry on the Cooper River. Established well before 1800,
Clement's was rebuilt with new wharves and boats in 1829. An inn or tavern
was established very early at Ten Mile Hill; by 1740 Alexander Wood kept a
"shop,* where at least one trader delivered deer hides, pear the Ten Mile
House. One of the earliest regular ferries ran across the Ashley River from
Stony Point in North Charleston to Ashley Perry town. The Bellinger family
established this ferry in 1737; its route eventually became known as Bees
Ferry. This short river crossing was also used for a railroad bridge across
the Ashley River in 1878 (today’'s CSX trestle bridge).!®

THE AMERICAN FK_.VOLUTION

Degpite the Lowcountry's affluence during the colonial period, Parliamentary
acts affecting trade gradually changed the political affections of most Low-
country planters. Protest demonstrations took place in Charleston against
such measures as the 1765 Stamp Act and the reduction of the indigo bounty
in 1770. Strained relations eventually led to war.

In June 1776 British troops attacked the Isle of Palms and Sullivans Isliand,
but were held off. For nearly four years afterward, South Carolina escaped
direct attack as most of the war was fought in the north. 1In May 1779 a
British army under General Prevost marched from Savannah toward Charleston.
They built earthworks at Stono Ferry (near Rantowles), withstood an American
attack in late June 1779, then retired to Beaufort.

In February 1780 the British came to Charleston County in force. General
Sir Henry Clinton landed troops at Seabrook Island, secured the upper Stono
River, moved across to Johns Island, then ordered his army across the Stono
River to James Island. They took Fort Johnson, and built a bridge to move
troops and guns to the mainland. German Hessian soldiers were sent across
the Ashley River to march down Charleston Neck. Their goal was to secure
the Ashley River and seal off the Neck. An account of that crossing, and of
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the Hessians' experlences in North Charleston, 13 contained in The Siege of

3 L€ 3 3518 f g Captain John Ewald's
group ferrled across the Ashley Rlver from a spot “near Drayton's house”
[Magnolia Plantation?] to "Benjamin Fuller's house” [Lambs?] about a mile to
the north, a spot some fourteen miles from Charleston. They set out to
march "along the highway," and after eight miles went imto camp along the
river about a mile from the Quarter-BHouse, 8ix miles from the city. The
next day arms and baggage were brought over at Ashley Perry and taken to
camp; the whole army then set out toward Charleston. During the next few
days they built a siege line of banks, ditches, redoubts and fortificationms
across Charleston Neck. Captain Johann Binrichs spent nearly along the west
side of the Ashley River between Bacons Bridge and Ashley Perry, crossed
with the vanguard on March 29, and with his battalion went into temporary
camp, with "the Quarter-House being used as headquarters.=16

The siege of Charleston began on April 1, 1780, and on April 8 a British
fleet entered Charleston Harbor. Charleston surrendered on May 12. After
the Continental Army was driven out of South Carolina, the only effective
American force was that of General Prancis Marion, the "Swamp Fox."
Skirmishes such as the Battle of Parkers Ferry sent his troops and their
British opponents from Rantowles to Fort Dorchester (garrisoned by the
British) to Charleston, but there are no known battle sites or fortifi-
cations inside North Charleston. The British Army surrendered in October
1781, and a year later the British evacuated Charleston.l1?

THE ANTEBELLUM PERIOD IN NORTH CHARLESTON

Before the American Revolution, residential patterns in North Charleston
were evolving in response to increased land and water traffic. The Revolu-
tionary War interrupted this trend only temporarily. More important was the
change in agricultural patterns that resulted from the long war and
subsequent political changes. Because independence from Great Britain
terminated subsidies for South Carolina indigo, planters had no incentive to
re-establish the crop.

During the war and British occupation, landowners neglected essential
repairs to drainage systems. When rice planters put their slaves back to
work in the mid-1780s, they found it was not much more difficult to create
new tidal fields than it would be to repair ruined inland systems in swampy
areas. Tidal fields were more productive than inland fields (1200-1500 vs.
600-1100 pounds pounds per acre), so the swamps of North Charleston were
abandoned in favor of the edges of Goose Creek and Cooper River (mostly in
today's Berkeley County). Statistics for North Charleston are unavailable,
but a comparison is found in St. Panls Parish where there were 128 settled
inland swamp plantations before the American Revolution. Sixty years later,
there were only eight. Planters abandoned their inland fields along both
banks of the Ashley River, where tides did not provide suitable force of
fresh water while rice production dramatically increased along the upper
Cooper, South Edisto and South Sapntee rivers where tidal action was strong
above the salt water line. In most of North Charleston, former indigo and
rice plantations began to revert to pine forest.l8

North Charleston was well-known as an area of "bad airs,” where white
residents were at grave risk of malaria (spread by the mosquitoes that
flourished in the natural swamps). Along with the danger of fever, wetlands
and swamps created "waste land"™ by preventing productive agriculture and
making roads impassible in wet seasons. Although Charleston was a strong
market for produce, livestock, lumber and firewood, the best farmland lay in
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the naturally well-drained central area south from Ladson, too far from the
city for producers to reliably transport fresh food crops. Like those in
similar areas between the Ashley and Stono rivers, they concentrated on
livestock or timber products.

A8 North Charleston's plantations reforested from the end of the eighteenth
cantury, production of turpentine, tar and pitch became important, and the
steam sawmilling business flourished. Otherwise, very few manufacturing
industries were established in Charleston County. Manufacturing was of
little interest to planters, except for the steam engines used for milling
rice and ginning cotton. Unlike plantation ownership, general farming or
manufacturing were not socially desirable. Wealthy Charlestonians saw faw
reasons to speculate in North Area real estate.l®

Compared to the rich lands of Edisto Island or the upper Cooper River, few
plantations located within North Charleston are remembered as "home places”
of the wealthy during the antebellum period. A few tidal field rice
plantations did achieve prominence. Marshlands, Retreat and Oak Grove were
productive rice plantations on the Cooper River. Further north, the road
from the Ashley River to St. James, Goose Creek, Church (Berkeley County)
passed in front of Windsor BHill Plantation. 1In 1805, the "elevation on
which Windsor Hill stood was in full view of a much-used highway, with
country around thickly settled by the best pecple of the state.” These best
people included the well-to-do rice planters of St. James, Goose (reek,
Parish and upper St. Philips and St. Michaels Parish.

Like Windsor EBill, The Elms had rich ricefields fed by Goose Creek. In 1784
Ralph Izard, owner of large properties throughout the region, described his
Elms as "an agreeable spot... a plantation long neglected but capable of
great improvement.®” At the time, Izard had only three hundred acres of The
Elms under cultivation, one hundred acres of it in rice. By 1801 Izard had
enlarged his property greatly, acgquiring sections of Otranto and other
plantations to create a 2,353-acre tract. In 1825 The Elms was an impres-
sive property, where Izard hosted one of the splendid receptions given for
the Marquis de Lafayette during his tour of South Carolina. On the other
hand, Izard's son George had left South Carolina years earlier for opportun-
ities in western ~tates. In 1816 he visited Westover, a part of The Elms
which he had inherited as a separate plantation. Pences were down and
fields grown up in pine. Westover was effectively abandoned until 1858 when
Lewis Cannon obtained title.29

Just as in natural swamps, mosquitoes flourished in the stagnant lagoons on
rice plantations. For most of the year, white planters would not stay on
the plantation after dark, and their families left entirely. They moved to
the seashore or developed summer villages on higher ground in villages such
as Pinopolis, Summerville, or Adams Run. This residential pattern has not
been part of North Charleston's history, where a planter's life was very
different from that of his wealthy contemporaries in isolated areas. From
Charleston, it was an easy trip to plantations on the Neck, in RNorth
Charleston, along the west side of the Ashley River, or on the close islands
of James and Johns. Plantation owners could come and go as they pleased,
and used their properties as country retreats as well as seats of agricul-
ture. Their homes have been referred to as "suburban villas" for urban
families.?!

For generations it has been said that Revolutionary War hero General William

Moultrie was buried at Windsor Hill. Searchers for General Moultrie's grave
in 1909 left a description of the property. Only the brick foundations of
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the house remained; it was recalled as having been a plain, single, two-
story house, facing south, with a front piazza and shed rooms at the back,
all of cypress on a low basement of brick, and with "huge Dutch chimneys at
the ends.~ Windsor Hill and other notable houses are almost forgotten.
Some time after the American Revolution, the eighteenth-century brick resi-
dence at Retreat was lost (replaced in the 18508, see “"Chicora Park").
Archdale Hall (1740) was substantially demolished by the earthquake of 1886;
Ingleside House (formerly Hayes) burned sometime between 1921 and 1928.
Marshlands House (1810) remained inside the Navy Yard for decades, but
finally had to be moved to James Island (Fort Johnson) in 1961.%2

The establishment of Columbia as the state capital increased the use of the
roads through the Neck and North Area. There were continuing opportunities
for stagecoach and ferry taverns. These were known by their distance from
Charleston: Four Mile Bouse, Five Mile House, Six Mile House. At times the
isolation made the road unsafe. The series of robberies and murders in the
area of the Quarter House Tavern is a well-known Charleston tale. 1In 1819,
the inn was burned and innkeepers John and Lavinia Fisher taken to Charles-
ton and hanged. Bowever, overland travel had to continue, and by 1829
bridges and causeways had been completed along the entire 110-mile route of
the "State Highway" from Charleston to Columbia. For decades the road was

poorly maintained and often boggy .23

An interesting plat of 1805 shows a property called the Quarter House Tract
at Six Mile (St. Philips Parish). This is separate from the Quarter House,
at Four Mile south of Dorchester Road, and could explain the discrepancies
among various writers as to the location of the Fishers' notorious tavern.
A later plat of this 96.8 acre tract set into the cormer of Marshlands shows
it bounded to west by the "Plank" State Road (Meeting Street Road); south-
east by Wragg Street (Chicora Avenue), and with three buildings on a two-
acre parcel nearest Plank Road. Running east across the tract, intersecting
Wragg Street, was "Reynolds Avenue," in place by 1860.24 A marker erected
in 1935 (Site #1841) commemorates the earlier history of this centrally
located tract which eventually became Charleston Heights, Buckfield, and the
Mappus Tract.

RAILROADS

Railroad tracks crisscrossing North Charleston represent several separate
rail companies. The earliest track, laid in 1830, was the first railway in
South Carolina. Its purpose was to make Charleston Harbor more accessible
than Savannah.

From the 17803, cotton was the premier crop in much of South Carolina’'s
interior. Heavy bales of cotton had to be hauled to a harbor city for sale
and export, but Charleston was difficult to reach by road. Even when roads
were good, planters preferred river transport as less expensive for heavy
freight. Again, Charleston Barbor was difficult to reach, because shippers
could not connect with either the Santee-Cooper or Ashley River system.
Western South Carolina cotton planters began to ship their goods down the
Savannah River for export from Georgia. With the loss of cotton trade,
Charleston entered a commercial depression.

To combat the decline, the South Carolina Rail Road and Canal Company, led
by planter/cotton merchant William Aiken, was established in 1830. The
company began to lay track up Charleston Neck, on the ridge of land that was
already the route of Meeting Street Road. This first railroad hauled pas-
sengers and goods as track was laid, with service beginning quickly over the
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first six-mile route north from the City of Charleston. When completed, the
track ran northwest from Seven Mile, with s8tops at Midland Park, Ashley
Phosphate, Ingleside, Woodstock, Ladson, and Lincolnville to Summerville and
beyond. 1In 1833 the line was completed to Bamburg, a point on the Savannah
River that is now in the city of North Augusta.® This track eventually
became part of Southern Railway.

In 1855, the Northeastern Railroad Company opened from Charleston to
Florence. The line ran parallel to the South Carolina Railroad until Seven
Mile, when it diverged to run almost due north, with stops at Otranto, Mount
Holly, and Moncks Corner. Above Remount Road, its right-of-way forms
Charleston County's boundary with Berkeley County .26 In 1898 this track
became part of Atlantic Coast Line Railway.

Train service throughout the South was disrupted during the Civil War, but
both lines in and out of Charleston continued to operate, at least spora-
dically. During the 1865 evacuation of Charleston, Confederate troops and
civilians departed by rail. As soon as the war was over, rail companies
began to repair damage to tracks, rails and cars, extending service to its
pre-war level. The last decades of the nineteenth century saw new
expansions, as rail companies nationwide entered a period of mergers and
growth. 1In 1878 a trestle bridge was built across the Ashley River, to
connect the 1860 Charleston-to-Savannah line with the lines up the
peninsula. The track crossed the South Carolina Railroad and formed a
junction with the Northeastern line. The four miles of track laid in North
Charleston was owned by a separate company, Ashley River Railroad.??

buring the late nineteenth centuory, a few large railway companies emerged
from the many small lines that had grown up after the Civil War. Southern
sRailway Company was organized in 1894, and soon established its headquarters
-at Norfolk, virginia. In 1898 Southern Railway acquired the South Carolina
~and Georgia Railroad (the original 1830 route from Charleston to Aagusta).
"In 1982 Southern merged with Norfolk and Western to become Norfolk Southern
Railway.

The Atlantic Coast Line Railroad and Seaboard Air Line Company were both
organized in 1889. 1In 1902 the Charleston and Savannah Railway, with the
Ashley River Railroad, merged into the Atlantic Coast Line. In a mid-
twentieth century merger, Atlantic Coast Line and Seaboard Air lLine became
Family Lines, and today are part of the CSX system.Z28

Southern Railway and Atlantic Coast Line Railroad established main yards at
Seven Mile/Ashley Junction, encouraging the development of small commercial
enterprises along Meeting Street Road. With the success of fertilizer and
lumber industries in the years before World War One, freight traffic in
North Charleston was dramatically increased. The joint Southern-ACL yards
proved too small. In 1909 Atlantic Coast Line built a large lumber and
freight yard complex at Bennett's, and within the next two years Southern
built a yard (Goodrich) just north of Ashley Junction, one and one-half
miles beyond the earlier joint yard. These complexes provided consistent
employment for residents of small communities along Dorchester Road and
Meeting Street Road.??

Seaboard Air Line Railway came into Charleston County from the southeast,
along the coast and marshlands of Beaufort and Colleton counties. A bridge
over the Ashley River brought the Seaboard into the city across the north
side of Hampton Park. Soon, an extension was planned up Charleston Neck and
beyond. Without laying track through the Navy Yard, the most direct route
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to the wharves and industrial area of North Charleston ran across Chicora
Place. In 1915 Seaboard laid the rail that passes across the east side of
Chicora. Additional right-of-way acquired at the same time served as a
roadbed for Spruill Avenne in 1939.3

THE CIVIL WAR

The Civil War began in April 1861 in Charleston Harbor. Throughout the war,
the peninsular city was more vulnerable to Federal ships and armies from the
south and west than from the north. It was for the protection of the vital
Charleston and Savannah Railroad, rather than the ferry route across the
Ashley River, that Port Bull was constructed at the west side of the river.

The railroads through Rorth Charleston led inland through areas where there
were no rivers to provide access for Union gunboats or troops. Unlikely to
be attacked, these railroads were not heavily defended. Above the Confeder-
ate fortifications across the Neck near Magnolia Cemetery, the North Area
was outside the fighting. ©Land battles in Charleston County mostly took
place on Johns Island and James Island.

The war came closest to North Charleston in 1865 when Federal troops raided
and pillaged plantations along the west bank of the Ashley River; there is
no evidence that they crossed into North Charleston. In February 1865,
Charleston was evacuated by its Confederate defenders and occupied by the
Unionr Army. Thousands fled the city by rail, crossing North Charleston on
their route northwest.3!

LATE NINETEENTH CENTURY, 1865-1900

After the physical losses to houses, farms, roads, and railways, the end of
the Civil War brought a complete disruption of the economy. The slave-based
agricultural system was dead. Those who had invested in Confederate bonds
and monay found it worthless. Recovery came to Charleston County with the
development of the phosphate industry, the revitalization of railroads, and,
to some extent, agriculture. Alongside the success of the new vegetable
truck farmers, some rice and cotton planters managed to reorganize and
replant their fields. North Charleston recovered through the phosphate
industry, the re-establishment of the timber industry, and a revitalized
commercial spirit.

Settlements in North Charleston were small, usually positioned along the
Meeting Street Road corridor or at a crossroads or railroad stop. In 1890
there were several businesses at Ten Mile Hill, a stop on the South Carolina
Railway: Cuthbert and Rivers, F. S. Detreville, Mrs. D. M. Green, C. Lee,
E. M. Meyer, and W. P. Rosier were all "general merchants." M. S. Gantt and
T. D. Green (general store and magistrate) were the only merchants of note

at Ten Mile in 1910.3?

Most of the early twentieth century villages in North Charleston, like Ten
Mile Hill, were located near trair depots. Ashley Phosphate was "a small
town in Berkeley County," thirteen miles from Charleston. General stores
there were operated by Henry L. Koester, W. L. Hyer (also furniture), and
J.P. Clark (also magistrate). Ladson's was also a seall town, five miles
from Summerville, with two general stores, J. E. Edwards and Theodore A.
Salvo. Nearby Lincolnville had a population of four hundred, and two

stores.33
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The statewide business directory for the period 1905-1910 referred to three
farmers at Ashley Junction, just west of Meeting Street Road: Adeline Brown,
A. T. Gantt, and Ishmael Grant. They, along with T. W. Mappus, owner of a
general store, were the prominent citizens at Ashley Junction/Seven Mile
(the area known generally as Pettigru, see below). Christopher F. Hottinger
{see "Whipper Barony~) had formerly kept a grocery "on the Seven Mile Road,”
but in about 1898 he moved his business into Charleston.34

Other communities grew up around depots at Ten Mile Hill (Oak Grove, Liberty
Park, Highland Terrace), Ashley Phosphate, and Midland Park (see Sites
#1854-1863; 1932). These early neighborhoods have been substantially rede-
veloped in the twentieth century, in part because of growth associated with
the Air Porce Base and the United Piece Dye Works.® All the survey sites
in Highland Terrace (Bee Site #1662), and a number of those in Liberty Park
(see also #1933-1941), were moved to their present sites in recent years,
mostly from Garco (see "Garco").

EMANCIPATION AND PFREEDMNEN

During the Civil War, Abraham Lincoln's Emancipation Proclamation (January
1, 1863) freed about 400,000 slaves in South Carolina. Some remained on
their home plantations; some went to cities and towns; and some joined the
Union Army. After the war ended came years of change. Black South
Carolinians defined new patterns of employment, farming, and land ownership.
In much of the Lowcountry, particularly where cotton was the chief crop or
where large-scale truck farming was successful, former slaves became wage
laborers in the fields of their former masters. As the few rice plantations
of North Charleston fell out of production, North Charleston freedmen found
less employment in agriculture than those in other sections. At the same
time, they found greater opportunities in phosphate mining and manufact-
uring, with railroads, and at lumber mills. Some farmed successfully on
their own land, and many organized small businesses. They established
homesteads and churches, especially along the main roads, and several
independent black villages.36

LIBERTY HILL

Liberty Hill was an independent community of pre-Emancipation freedmen as
well as former slaves. The history of the land has been traced to 1856,
when William Simons of Charleston had a survey made of an unnamed ll2-acre
property near the Northeastern Railroad line in St. James, Goose Creek,
parish. 1In 1864, Simons conveyed an 82-acre tract of this land to Paul
Trescot, also of Charleston, a “free person of color,” for a price of
$2,100. Harriett Trescot, Paul Trescot's wife, had already acquired thirty
acres, the balance of the property.

The Trescots acquired the land before the end of the Civil War, but it is
not certain when the name “Liberty Hill" was first applied to it. Before
1871, a two-acre lot was purchased for the "African Church"” (St. Peters
BAME). In 1871, for $900, Paul and Harriett Trescot conveyed the remaining
110 acres to Ishmael E. Grant, Aaron Middleton, William Lecque (spelled
Lecue 1in some transactions), and Plenty Lecque; Grant gave Trescot a
mortgage on the property. Only a few years later, in 1875, Middleton and
the Lecques conveyed their interest in the entire tract to Grant. He
quickly sold most of the land in smaller individual lots, to these partners
and a few others: in 1877 the final sale, two acres to Daniel Moultrie {for
$20) was completed.
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Real estate deeds refer to the Lecques, Middleton, and Grant as "farmers,”
but Rev. I. E. Grant was also the founding minister of St. Peters BAME
Church, organized in 1867 (Site #1966). He, or another Ishmael Grant,
remained an important figure in the area into the twentieth century.3’

As Liberty Hill developed, other churches were organized and a public school
was established in the neighborhood (see "Religion* and “Rducation”). Aalso,
despite the presence of the churchyard cemetery at St. Peters, a private
cemetery was dedicated at the north side of Montague Avenue, today known as
Grant Cemetery (Site #1965).

Most of the pre-1i945 houses in Liberty Hill are simply-detailed bungalows
(Site #1959.00). There are also several cottages that reflect building
traditions of the rural Lowcountry (Sites #1960 to #1963). The neighborhood
has baeen settled for over one hundred years, and its earliest residents
could not afford large or grand houses. Therefore, most of the homes in
Liberty Hill have been replaced over time. Except St. Peter's Church, the
oldest buildings date to about 1915 or 1920. Builders or property owners
were conservative in their taste: only a very few houses in Liberty Hill
waere constructed in the modern minimal-traditional style (Site #1959.01).
Saveral houses from the Garco Village (See Site #1662.03 and #1662.10) were
moved here in the 1970s; surplus World War Two demountable buildings (Site
#1949) can also be seen in Liberty Hill.

PETIGRU

Petigru (often spelled Pettigrew) was a 1l10-acre subdivision near Six Mile,
at the southwest side of Meeting Street Road between Clements Road and
bDorchester Avenue. It was subdivided and platted in 1873 by David Riker, a
white man, who planned to sell the one hundred lots to African-Aserican
freedmen. Moast of the lots had been sold by the eariy twentieth centuty.39

The Village of Petigru may have been forgotten, but there are several
historic properties there, including at least two churches established by
African~Americans. Israel Brown, Gabriel Small and George Howard, trustees
of Jerusalem Baptist Church, acquired a lot for their church in 1884. 1In
1904, trustees of Noahs Ark Baptist Church acquired from Thomas Barber "Lots
504 and 505, opposite the (Quarter or Six Mile House" and soon built a
church. South of Noahs Ark Baptist Chuorch, the substantial Mappus House
(Site #1843) on Meeting Street Road is on a lot carved out of Petigru.
Other survey sites are along Meeting Street Road and Accabee Road (Sites
#1895-1891).

CHICORA PARK

Most of North Charleston's former plantations lost their economic justifi-
cation during the late nineteenth century, but not all were sold for
phosphates or timber. Retreat Plantation and parts of Oak Grove became
Chicora Park. (Most of Chicora Park, and much of Marshlands Plantation,
became the Charleston Navy Base and Naval Shipyard just a few years later.)

The story of Chicora Park 18 told in the Yearbooks of the City of
Charleston. From 1895 to 1902, reports by the Mayor, the City Surveyor and
the Board of Park Commissioners detail plans and activities for the
municipal park of nearly six hundred acres in the unincorporated North Area.

In 1895 the City of Charleston appropriated $11,209 for a Public Park, "a
beautiful spot on Cooper River about three miles north of the city

24



yhand

mas){'«/a:/;‘“
R 6 i
!, ‘ L35 L 4,,‘,”“” ‘J

I{

oot Grand = 7K "“T iﬂ%m% :
S "%ﬂﬂ:&é%‘”

}~/~"'5-111',5 )= L ool
K [ 28707 171> gl PNt e } fimd
~~~~~~ . . . . 7 (—é—‘ﬂ;‘f f%"yﬁf%‘/ 1‘) 6 Q .
\’ k& T T : { g7t r" :‘"' . L ’
’ "7‘ - ';‘4“”‘-1-1—. ;"_. oo
nesdiinas-t =ik
il P .
(X4 vﬁmc, . - .
: s . ) o
g :_,.u:“‘

.
’ . M N a1
' 4 _:“‘f FEY
‘ e - - B
3 -

éal $ t/(lé/ /7/:/|, nmmu/ a[{tuéz» %

' u’da/aé,, ¢ fn&u—(e A/,u A w/mf‘/ é
i"v’.”‘/é‘é'é {2‘-7,‘,,{;&/‘,“(, /;(d,é, 7 Ftd 5/9 7204, 5 o pl i Gayr

oW /%-f wwz’ﬁw 1t lw% Srrr /W>¢ Lo, 14 e ,'

) e by Tl 7

/-/‘Zé\} /"/&M &*-' {A-c.x,d.J 6:/&“’ ){gﬂow -

1877 Plat of Liberty Hill



boundary." This was Retreat Plantation, which had been acquired in 1851 by
Andrew Turnbull, who built the house later known as Turnbull Mansion. One
of the first actions of the new Board of Park Commissioners was to name its
Cooper River park: “Chicora Park". Next, the Board retained the Olmsted
firm of Massachusetts, “the foremost park architects of our country,” to
plan the new park. The firm agreed to visit early in 1896.

In his annual report for 1895, Mayor John F. Ficken described his plan to
construct roads from Charleston all the way to the park. In the meantime,
Chicora Park was accessible: the Enterprise City Railway, a line of horse
cars, ran to a point within one mile of Chicora Park. Although development
would require several years, and little money was available, the mayor
declared that in the long run the park would be worth more than it cost. 1In
1896, Charleston's new Mayor J. Adger Smyth supported Chicora Park, bunt did
not promise quick development: "it will involve large expenditures and the
yearly appropriations must... be small.”

In 1896, City Council appropriated $7,000 for Parks; by comparison, $74,000
was appropriated for Police and $7,750 for the Alms House. Even with a
small budget, the Olmsted firm began general plans. 1In 1896 clearing and
road development were underway, and a “substantial® wharf ($687) was
completed. The park became a popular place in the summer of 1897 when the
Charleston Street Railway Company extended its electric trolley line to the

park and built a dance pavilion.3?

In 1898 City Council increased the parks appropriation significantly, to
$10,000. With chain gang labor, the commissioners made progress at Chicora
rark. They laid paths, and piped the pond to fill with salt rather than
fresh water. A nursery was established, and hundreds of trees and shrubs
planted. A mile-long road was laid in 1898 as a boulevard from Clements
Perry Road toward Chicora Park. This became Carner Avenue, much of which
was later overlain by Rivers Avenue. (Carner Avenue is referred to in
several deeds as "Chicora Parkway".) In 1899, Chicora pPark was extended
north to Roisette Creek with the acguisition of a S0-acre tract, where the
commissioners hoped to establish a golf course.%0

At about this tim , it became clear that the United States Navy would soon
close its Port Royal (Beaufort) base. Charleston businessmen and poli-
ticians put all their resources, including Chicora Park, into the successful
effort to have the base relocated to Charleston. In August 1901 the U.S.
government purchased three tracts for the Navy base: most of Chicora Park
{all the waterfront and much of the inland area), much of Marshlands
Plantation, and state-owned marsh to the south.

In 1902 the Navy acquired about 90 more acres of Chicora Park. The city
planned no further work there, except maintenance of the nursery. Instead,
the Board of Parks Commissioners recommended a new park. After land at the
Exposition Site on Rutledge Avenue was acquired, the Chicora nursery, with
trees, plants, and several service buildings, was relocated to the new
Bampton Park. The two-story "cottage" built in 1899 for Chicora Park's
resident manager eventually became (Quarters F, the home of the Naval Supply
Center's commander. Park land remaining in the ownership of the City of
Charleston wae "covered with pine timber, with few natural advantages for an
attractive public park." Over the next several decades, the City used
parcels of this land for Pinehaven Sanitorium, Municipal Prison Farm (sSee
"Local Government Properties"), Rivers Avenue, and several war-worker
housing complexes.4l
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THE NAVY YARD

Several factors besides the availability of Chicora Park influenced the
location of the Navy Yard at Rorth Charleston. Pirst, the Port Royal base
had to be closed. The wood dry dock that had been built in 1894-95 already
needed expensive repairs, and Port Royal channel was not deep enough for new
steel-hulled vessels. The Navy required a deeper channel and a modern
concrete dry dock. Adding to the aggravation, there was no main line rail
service to Port Royal.

As the Navy's dissatisfaction with Port Royal grew, Charleston’'s
businessmen, politicians, and newspapers sSeized their opportunity.
Charleston Harbor's jetties, built by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers from
1879-95, had been determined successful in keeping the channel clear for
deep-draft steam vessels. The Army had strengthened Fort Moultrie
{Sullivans Island) before the Spanish-American War of 1898, and was planning
to enlarge the artillery post again. All these successes had impressed
military leaders favorably with Charleston. Finally, there was railrocad
access to the Cooper River. 1In only one respect did Charleston fall short:
there was not an adequate labor supply, and one was not expected to develop
during the near future. The Lowcountry did not have a tradition of indus-~
trial labor. The News and Courjer hoped this would change: for the first
time "hundreds of white boys"™ had the opportunity to become skilled
mechanics and learn a trade at the Navy Yard.

In 1900 Mayor Smyth formally requested the U.S. Ravy to tramnsfer the Port
Royal Naval Station to Charleston. With Senator Ben Tillman, he began to
lobby Admiral Mordecai J. Endicott, Chief of the Bureau of Yards and Docks.
Burton Lumber Company's superintendent provided an affidavit refuting the
dangers of malaria along the Cooper River. Eventually the U.S. government
purchased three tracts: 171 acres ($34,206) from the City of Charleston;
258 acres of Marshlands Plantation ($50,000) from Cecilia (Mrs. W. W.)
Lawton; and 760 acres south of Marshlands ($1) from the State of South
Carolina. Marshlands Plantation House became offices for the base, and
remained in use until 1961, when its site became Dry Dock #5.

In March 1901 preliminary construction began on the stone-and-concrete Dry
Dock Number One (completed 1909). By October, a bhoard of officers had
provided a general plan of development with locations for dry docks,
officers' quarters, and barracks, and the Bureau of Yards and Docks began to
prepare working plans. Building continued over the next several years.
Marines were posted to protect the growing yard, and contractors hired extra
men, expecting the workforce to triple in size between 1903 and 1904. By
1909 civilian employment reached 872. Besides Dry Dock One, other major
early buildings, notable for their handsome red-brick construction, were the
Foundry Shop (1906); Forge Shop; and Central Power Plant (1909).42

As soon as Dry Dock One was completed, the yard began using it to repair
navy vessels. Substantial projects were undertaken, such as the 1914 con-
version of the cruiser Baltimore into a mine layer. The first ships
launched from the yard were the dredges Pee Dee and Wateree, built in 1913
for the Army Corps of Engineers/War Department. (The Wateree was still in
service in South Carolina as late as 1938.)

It would be several years before more ships were launched, but when the
Panama Canal opened (1913), there was tremendous optimism about the
potential for increased activity at the Navy Yard and port. Charleston was
the closest navy base to Panama. It was also the most convenient harbor for
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military and commercial ships to take on coal and supplies before or after
transiting the canal. From cotton to lumber, every export industry was
expected to profit, and suburban developers anticipated a housing boom.43
puring thie period the first definite plans were made for the subdivisions
at Cherokee Place and North Charleston.

With the mobilization for World War One, civilian employment at the Navy
Yard increased to 1700. Twelve ships were launched between 1916 and 1917,
including four submarine chasers. Five German freighters seized in 1917
were converted as transports and a sub tender for the U. S. Navy. Once the
United States entered the war (April 1917) every kind of activity increased.
There were over 5,500 civilians working at the Navy Yard, including 1,000
(mostly women) at the Naval Clothing Factory. Many of the thousands of
employees commuted from Charleston, overwhelming the trolley line. Seaboard
Air Line, normally a freight train, added passenger cars to its line between
Charleston and the Navy Yard.

New buildings went up, including a large hospital and Buildings 10 and 11,
the first structures on the base to be built of reinforced concrete. Four
sub chasers and the gunboat Asheville (sSunk near Java in 1942) were
completed in 1918. Six ships were launched in 1919, five of them tugs or
barges. The Tillman (turned over to Britain and renamed during World War
Two) was the last World War One-era destroyer built at North Charleston.

Camp Begley, the navy's recruit training camp, operated from 1917-1918 on
the Navy Base property, often with as many as 5,000 recruits, sailors and
officers. In 1919, shortly before the end of the war, the camp was moved to
the west side of today's St. John's Avenune. Most recruits were housed in
tents, but barracks buildings were erected with space for 1,000. The land
reverted to the City of Charleston shortly after the war (see "Ben Tillman
Bomes"*). It is not certain what became of the buildings.

Employment at the Charleston Navy Yard declined rapidly after World War One.
The Naval Clothing Factory and Camp Begley closed almost immediately. The
hospital closed as demobilization continued. Ship repair stagnated; no new
ships left the yard in 1920 or 1921. 1In 1922 the 1000-bed hospital was torn
down: 68 beds in the dispensary were sufficient. After the launching of the
gunboat Tulsa later that year, there was a serious effort to close the yard
entirely. The civilian work force dwindled to 479 in 1924.

The work force was small from 1925 to 1932. Only a few vessels were
launched: two garbage lighters, an oil barge, and two tugs. Supporters of
the yard fought continuously for congressional appropriations, even for such
basic requirements as dredging to keep channels open to the docks. Some
improvements and enlargements were made to dry docks, while some demobiliz-
ation went on. During January 1927, salvage contractor W. D. Wagner
advertised one million board feet of dismanteled lumber and lavatories,
radiators, toilets, window sash, doors, etc., for sale.#

By 1933 there were only 250 workers employed at the Navy Yard. From that
year forward, even before the World war Two buildup, civilian employment at
the Navy Yard increased. With the encouragement of President Franklin D.
Roosevelt, and supported by the National Industrial Recovery Act and various
"New Deal" programs, the U. S. Navy began a new period of growth. At North
Charleston, significant Navy Yard work was done under the Federal Emergency
Administration of Public Works, popularly known as the Public Works Adminis-
tration (PWA), and by its successor, the Works Progress Administration (WPA)
{see "New Deal"). PWA projects between 1934-1936 included the gunboat
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Charlegton and three Coast Guard harbor cutters. The Navy Base and
shipyard's physical plant was expanded as new buildings were erected by the
navy, New Deal agencies, and others. 1In 1936 the Coast Guard established an
air base at the yard, and built a landing field, hangar and barracks for its
six planes and 50 men.

The rate of expansion quickened in the late 1930s. 1In 1938 there were 1,600
civilian workers at the shipyard; 6,000 by 1940. One coast cutter left the
yard in 1937; in 1938 three tugs were launched, and also the Sterett, the
first destroyer built at North Charleston in almost twenty years. This
began a series of nine destroyers launched between 1939 and 1941, including
Roe, Hobson, Beatty and a second Tillman. During the same period, five
seaplane wrecking derricks, four tugs, and a car float were completed. By
late 1941 there were about 10,000 civilians employed at the shipyard.

Activity reached a crescendo after the declaration of war in December 1941.
The 2,500-acre Navy Yard was expanded to the north, taking over the site of
Burton Lumber Company's mill and village. The navy occupied the barracks
and buildings formerly used by the Coast Guard, which sent its personnel to
the downtown Charleston facility. Between 1942 and 1943 the South Yard was
constructed on the site of the coast guard airfield.

In 1942 six destroyers and six tank landing ships were launched; in 1943
four destroyers, 17 destroyer escorts, one fast troop transpert ship, and 17
control landing craft, seaplane wrecking derricks and tank landing ships.
By 1944 the demand for destroyers had largely been met, and the shipyard
concentrated on fast troop transports (8), medium landing ships (84) and
control landing craft (12). As the war wound down, in 1945 the yard built
25 medium landing ships and one destroyer tender, the 7Tidewater. The Bryce
Canyon (destroyer tender) was the only ship begun in 1946.4

Most of the new Navy Yard employees (85%) were white, and only about half of
them were from South Carolina. Large numbers of them settled in the City of
Charleston, where houses and apartments were divided and subdivided, but
demand was intense for homes closer to the shipyard. The available housing
in the North Area could barely accommodate the workers at the shipyard,
Garco, West Virginia Pulp and Paper, and other large employers. As produc-
tion increased, the lack of housing became a barrier to recruiting workers,
many of whom were married with families. In late 1939, with 3400 workers at
the yard, it was estimated that 200 families arrived each month - and twenty
of them left, for lack of housing. “Whole new villages sprang up in the
suburbs® as private developers, and local and federal government programs
began to construct housing complexes and single-family residential neighbor-
hoods. Employment peaked in 1943, with 26,500 employees.46

Part of the desirability of defense work was the relatively high wage scale.
Despite the Great Depression, many of the people coming to North Charleston
arrived in private automobiles. Several war housing complexes were planned
with parking spaces (for 350 cars at Ben Tillman Homes); garages (Palmetto
Gardens and Nafair); and carports {(Dorchester Terrace).

The direction of industrial output into the war effort was an important part
of mobilizing America for World War Two, a war of "resources as well as
strategy.” The War Production Board wielded great power, whether to approve
or deny construction materials. Metal lockers could not be obtained for
Chicora High School (Site #1521); 765 wooden lockers were installed as
substitutes. To conserve metal, shop buildings at the South Yard, and most
buildings at Stark Hospital (Site #1945), were built of wood; to conserve

28



wood, asbestos siding was used on houses and apartment buildings. Concrete
waz also limited to military use, so houses of the World War Two era have
brick foundations. After the war, concrete became a popular building
material, particularly for multi-family and commercial buildings. (Several
post-war concrete stores remain in Olde North Charleston: Enterprise
Building, 1020 ERast Montague Avenue (Site #1796), and 1044 East Montague
Avenue (Site #1800) are good examples.)

After the war, the Charleston Naval Shipyard once more reduoced its
workforce, to about 13,000 in 1946. There was no ship construction between
1945 and 1950, when the Bryce Canyon was finally completed. Instead,
between 1946 and 1947, the shipyard prepared hundreds of ships for decommis-
sioning and mothballing. Even with the shipyard reductions, Charleston
County lost only about one-quarter of the World War Two population. Post-
war growth in other military installations and general economic development
absorbed the rest of the newcomers as permanent residents.

since 1945 the U. S. Naval Base, Charleston, has integrated the Navy's
various functions: Naval Shipyard, Naval Regional Medical Center, Naval
Weapons Station, and other components. Employment stood at 7,766 in 1948
when Charleston was designated a submarine yard, and was further reduced to
an estimated 4,660 in 1950. There have been periodic expansions (over 9,000
were employed during the Korean War) and reductions. The Naval Base was
annexed into the City of North Charlestonrn in the 1970s, one of the new
city's first major annexations. Finally, in 1994, the Base Realignment and
Closure process began the shutdown of Naval Base Charleston.4’

NAVAL AMMUNITION DEPOT (NAVAL WEAPONS STATION)

The Charleston Naval Weapons Station is on the west branch of the Cooper
River. Although it is in Berkeley County, the buildup of this facility had
as much impact on North Charleston as it did on Hanahan. In 1940, the
Department of the Navy bought 6,368 acres, parts of nine former plantations,
and began construction on the Naval Ammunition Depot (Charleston Naval
Weapong Station). In 1954 the 5,000 acre U.S. Army storage depot (see "Army
Installations”) was annexed to it as the Polaris Missile Facility Atlantic.
In 1991 the Naval ¥Yeapons Station comprised a total of 17,480 acres.48

There have also been several Army bases and installations in North
Charleston. They are discussed separately (see "Army Installations™).

AGRICULTURE AND DRAINAGE

During the late nineteenth century, in large areas of Charleston County
truck farming became an important agricultural industry while cotton and
rice plantations came to an end. From McClellanville to Edisto Island
farmers grew cabbages, Irish potatoes, peas and beans, shipping fresh
produce by water and rail to northern markets. However, along Charleston
Neck and the North Charleston, large-scale vegetable farming did not catch
on, even though soils were good and there was an extensive rail network.
Phosphate mining and lumbering reduced the available labor pool, but the
primary reason that North Charleston was unproductive while other Lowcountry
farmers achieved great wealth was the area's poor drainage. Except for
Chicora Park and similar high grounds, North Charleston was at the heart of
the "malaria district.”

BRlthough it was not clearly understood, there was a recognized connection
between malarial fever and mosquitoes. Draining their breeding grounds was
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a recognized means of controlling malaria; without drainage, it was
dangerous to live in swampy or boggy areas during warm months. Because of
malaria, and also poor roads, most of North Charleston remained lightly
settled. A series of market centers dotted highways and rail lines along
the higher ridges, and there were a few freedmen's villages laid out on
inexpensive parcels of land.

In 1899 Charleston legislator James Cosgrove proposed that the General
Assembly establish a commission to provide a system of drainage in the
"malaria~infected districts™ of St. Andrews Parish and Charleston Neck. 1In
1902 a special act of the state legislature created the Charleston County
Sanitary and Prainage Commission, funding it with $8,000. The commission
was given the right to condemn land for drainage and to use the "chain gang"®
(prison lahorers, both white and black).

The commission's first project was to drain 3,036 acres, the entire area
from the City of Charleston line at Mount Pleasant Street to Chicora Park.
The 18-man chain gang began digging ditches and drain lines, and by the end
of 1902 the area was deemed "perfectly healthy.” Under Chairman Cosgrove,
the commission planned to continue to the Berkeley County line at Ten Mile
Hill, to "reclaim" another 15,000 acres of fertile wetland for agriculture
and habitation.

Reliable roads were vital if farmers were to grow vegetables or fresh truck
crops. However, Cosgrove's mission was to drain land for health, not to
improve it for farmers. So that the commissioner could create drainage
systems more permanent than ditches, he offered private land owners the
opportunity to have terra cotta pipe laid through their fields. The prac-
tice of piping agricultural fields was well established, but labor costs
were prohibitive. The Sanitary and Drainage Commission arranged for its
chain gang to dig, lay and cover pipe for any land owner who provided 10"
terra cotta pipe at the site. This mutually-benefical work resulted in over
8,000' of pipe being laid on Charleston Neck in 1902.

The significance of the drainage program was clear to contemporaries. In
1909 James Cosgrove noted that land values on the Neck had risen from $3 to
$5 to $200 or more per acre. Drainage was touted as having encouraged the
establishment of manufacturing plants, improved the suitability of Buckfield
and Chicora Place as healthy residential suburbs, and opened hundreds of
acres of land for cultivation and dairy farming.

In the new agricultural industries that had been established in Charleston
County, especially around Meggett and Yonges Isiand, vegetable growers used
local and migrant laborers to cultivate thousands of acres. Their prosper-
ity may have inspired Charleston Farms and other subdivisions planned as a
way to reuse hundreds of acres of cut-over timber land. TLumber company
executives hoped that working people would buy plots of ten to forty acres,
and grow crops for home or market during their free time. Advertising
efforts stressed the convenience of Charleston Farms to the industrial jobs
being created in North Charleston (see “Charleston Farms”). These farm-lot
subdivisions were not successful, because the idea of combining a full-time
job with management of a small farm did not attract purchasers.

Several successful agricultural operators did establish themselves in North
Charleston. Charleston businessman W. H. Mixson organized W. H. Mixson Seed
Company in 1908, and used Ferndale Farm (See "Ferndale") as a testing ground
for seeds and plans. In 1917 Frederick J. BAichele opened a green-
house/nursery establishment on land "at 11 miles between the state road and
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the railroad." The nursery's land was not subdivided until 1956 (Aichele
Terrace). On Rivers Avenue was T. L. Riggs' Adanac Farm, a progressive hog
farm specializing in Duroc-Jersey purebred hogs. Riggs' house, a large
Mediterranean-Revival dwelling built in 1916, was a North Charleston
landmark until its loss to fire in 1979. Another pre-~-World War Two
agricultural industry was Doscher's Chicken Farm near Oak Grove. The silo
from Solomon‘s Dairy Farm is said still to be standing, but was not located

during the survey.4

The Sanitary and Drainage Commission chain gang maintained ditches along
roadsides. Doing so, they moved dirt to road beds, building up the
roadways. The Sanitary and Drainage Commission soon took over the influen-
tial role of scheduling and performing rcad work from the county
commissioners. Despite their improvements, roads in North Charleston
remained poor and badly maintained into the twentieth century.50

STREETCARS

Until after World War One, most South Carolinians who commuted to large
employers relied on street cars (trolleys). During the 1890= several com-
panies operated electric street cars in Charleston. In 1899 they were
combined into Charleston Consolidated Railway, Gas and Electric Company,
which also took over all gas and electric utilities. This company extended
the Meeting Street line up the Neck, across Clements Ferry Road, and north
to Chicora Park. In 1901, when the park was taken over for the Navy Yard,
the trolley line was crucial to shipyard workers, who mostly lived in
Charleston. At the same time, streetcars improved access to Chicora Place
and Buckfield.

In 1915 trolley service was extended from today's McMillan Gate, the end of
the Navy Yard line, to the Garco Plant at Olde North Charleston. Track ran
along today's Spruill Avenue, then up O'Hear Avenue across Noisette Creek to
East Montague Avenue. Besides opening up the pew development for commuters,
the expansion made Cherokee Place convenient for the first time. Equally
important, electricity came into North Charleston and Cherokee subdivisions
along with the streetcars, but was not yet extended into the area of
Charleston Farms.

With more passengers came the need for double-tracking, which was done on
the Navy Yard lines from 1916-1917. To power the additional cars, an
electric substation was built on Clements Avenue (Site #1641). The trolley
could not expand fast enough, and in 1916 freight and long-distance
passenger trains were pressed into use as commuter trains.

The importance of trolley lines and station stops is shown by the large
proportion of Meeting Street Road businesses that were located below the
electric railway's bend at Clements Ferry Road. 1In 1923, the white-owned
businesses along this corridor included Aschenbeck Grocery (Five Mile House,
near Clements Ferry Road), F. L. Hackerman Grocery (Station 10), Thompson
Grocery Store (Station 9), Parker's Grocery (Station 8), Felton Mercantile
Company (Station 7), and Theo Mappus' Four Mile House grocery. Just north
of Rosemont (Station 1) were grocery stores owned by J. P. Poozer and Louis
Redinger. In the same neighborhoods were also many black-owned businesses.
At Five Mile were the grocery stores of John E. Mungin and J. B. Patterson;
Pascuzze Grocery was at Station 9; at Station 8 were stores kept by grocers
Preston Brown, Edward Dunford, Douglas Glover, and George Murray; Gantt's
Grocery was at Station 7; and Mack Taylor's Grocery was at Station 3.
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For over twenty years, beginning as early as 1894, there were attempts to
organize an electric railway line from Charleston to Summervilie. The
natural route for such a line was along or parallel to Dorchester Road.
Various companies assembled right-of-way strips for the trolley line, and
reported that they were laying roadbeds. The last serious effort, the
Charleston and Summerville Interurban Railway, was effectively defunct by
1917. Parts of that company's right-of-way became today's Azalea Avenue.

After World War One, suburban streetcar use declined along with decreased
employment at the Navy Yard. During the 1920s, automcbiles became more
comson, and roads were becoming reliable. In 1934 the South Carolina Power
Company, which had taken over Charleston Consolidated Railway and Lighting
Company, substituted a bus system for the Suburban Trolley Line. In the
City of Charleston, the last trolley car lines were discontinued in 1938.
puring the expansion of the Navy Yard daring the late 1930s and early 1940s,
busses proved flexible in handling large numbers of commuters: there were 28
busses on the Navy Yard route in 1940, and 109 in 1942.51

ROADS

King Street Extension, Meeting Street Road, and Rivers Avenue represent the
early land route to the north ("0ld State Road") and several eras of highway
improvement. During the early twentieth century, the 0ld State Road and its
extension to Summerville (Highway 78), were often almost impassable. In
1906 the South Carolina General Assembly created the Highway Commission of
Dorchester, Berkeley and Charleston to build a road from Charleston to
Summerville. With half the cost ($5482) raised through public subscription,
work began in summer 1907.

The first project, Cosgrove Avenue, was not directly on the rounte to
Summerville. It was an important link from Meeting Street Road to the Navy
Yard. For this entirely new road, a path was cleared through pine forest.
Cosgrove Avenue and two miles of the State Road were then "metaled” with
cement gravel. Beginning in May 1908, the Sanitary and Drainage Commission
aided the work of the highway commission by working on "bad places" in the
highway between Ten Mile and Ladson. The first work done was to raise,
grade and drain Eleven Mile Bottom (Blue House Swamp), "known for years as
perhaps the worst piece of roadway in the state.” For the first time, truck
farmers' goods could be hauled through Eleven Mile Bottom. By January 1909,
eighteen months after inception, the Charleston to Summerville Highway was a
"fair country road" for its entire length.

Following the establishment of the South Carclina Highway Department in
1917, road work increased throughout Charleston County. In 1918 some of the
first concrete paving in the county was laid on a mile-long stretch of
Cosgrove Avenue leading to the Navy Yard. Within a few months Meeting
Street Road was paved with concrete as far as Ten Mile. The improvements
stimulated commercial enterprises along Meeting Street Road and Cosgrove
Avenue. In 1923 there was a cluster of businesses at Six Mile/Pettigru on
Meeting Street Road near Reynolds and Cosgrove avenues, including Vivian
Clark's grocery and barber shop, Haley's General Store, and Mon Maes
Grocery.

The decade of the 19208 was the peak of highway construction activity. 1In
1926 the Five Mile Viaduct (Site #1842) was opened, completing the King
Street Extension to its junction with Meeting Street Road. By that time,
the highway had been paved with concrete for seventeen miles, all the way to
the Dorchester County line.
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During the late 1930s Rivers Avenue (North Charleston Boulevard) was
developed by connecting and improving earlier routes through Charleston
Heights, Cherokee Place, and City of Charleston lands. Rivers Avenue begins
at Five Mile Viaduct, and rejoins Meeting Street Road at Durant Avenue,
where today's Seven Mile Viaduct (1978) carries the highway over Durant
Avenue. Above Seven Mile, Rivers Avenue lies along the old U. S. Highway
running northwesgt across Filbin Creek and Ten Mile Hill. This section was
improved by the WPA (see "New Deal”) as a straight boulevard with grass
median known as the "Dual Lane." It was eventually widened to a four-lane
highway.

Spruill Avenue, at the east side of North Charleston, was also a WPA project
built in 1939. Engineered as a new road south of Chicora Place, it lies
along the route of the trolley line as far as North Carolina Avenue (which
continues on the trolley route), then extends north along the right-of-way
strip alongside the Seaboard Airline railroad tracks from Chicora Place as
far as East Montague Avenue in Olde North Charleston.3?

Street names were changed throughout Charleston County in early 1964 in
order to eliminate duplication. Some 125 names were changed in the North
area.5? Sseveral old subdivisions in North Charleston, including Chicora,
Ferndale, and the 0l1d Village section of Olde North Charleston, had been
laid out with First, Second, Third streets and so on. All these were
replaced: Dayton, Grayson, Leland; Alton, Bolton, Clifton; Alamo, Bethany,
Crawford.

ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Only a few houses in North Charleston continue the traditional vernacular
styles of Charleston and the South Carolina Lowcountry. Much more typical
are stylistic connections to popular national trends in architecture and
landscape architecture. Neighborhood plans and buildings throughout North
Charleston offer a rare glimpse into a forward-looking aspect of the
Lowcountry character, an aspect that is often denied.

Following field survey, buildings included in the North Charlieston
Historical and Architectural Survey were evaluated according to archi-
tectural style, building materials, date of construction and historical
influences. Evaluation of groups of buildings (typologies) in different
neighborhoods revealed effects of the various ways in which the city’s
sections developed. Subdivisions that were built out over several decades
present a variety of styles, unlike those that were developed in a few
years. Groups of buildings that were constructed by a single contractor, or
designed by a single architect, can be distinguished from each other.

Several architectural terms are used in this report and other survey
products. The "typologies" that organize survey sites into groups of
related buildings are Bungalow, Craftsman-Influenced Bungalow, Minimal-
Traditional Cottage, and Charleston Cottage. Other architectural influences
are described as Colonial Revival, Prairie and Tudor Revival.

All the buildings surveyed for this project date to the late nineteenth
century and afterward. During the late nineteenth century, the architec-
tural styles known today as "Victorian" were at the forefront of American
taste. Victorian design provided houses with a formally-structured arrange-
ment of living space along with an appearance of individuality. Even small
cottages referred to Victorian taste, with a layout of front hall, front and
back parlors, and butler's pantry; ornamental wood work added important
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decorative touches. A vestige of Victorian influence can be seen in some of
the architect-designed houses at Chicora Place. In 1909, while Henry Walker
planned several grandly-scaled residences in simple Colonial Revival styles,
he also designed a few (Site #1634.01) that are unique in North Charleston
for their towers and balconies.

Beginning in about 1900, most American builders and architects reacted
against Victoriamn taste, constructing houses with balanced proportions,
structural simplicity, and minimal decoration. The goal of design was to
create a smaller, more manageable dwelling ipn a distinctly American style.
The separate spaces of earlier buildings were replaced by “"multi-purpose”
rooms compatible with modern housekeeping: indoor cooking and laundry, and a
less formal lifestyle with few household servants.

Much more pervasive than Victorian style in North Charleston are the simpler
early twentieth century architectural influences. Prairie and American Four-
Square are terms that describe the substantial appearance and regular design
of two-story residences with one-story porches, such as the Brooks House
(Site #1718), Morse House (Site #1745), or Mappus House (Site #1843).
Symmetrical plans and simple detail are important even on buildings whose
structure and use of ornament classify them as Tudor Revival (Rowston House,
Site #1695; Eure House, #1696) or Colonial Revival (Taylor House, #1688;
4730 01d Park Road, #1522; or 3811 St. Johns Avenue, #1899).

Revival styles were most often used on fairly large houses, while North
Charleston's historical development is exemplified by the large number of
smaller dwellings. By far the biggest impact of twentieth century archi-
tectural theory has been the bungalow. During the early twentieth century,
this was a popular style for new suburbs all over America. With private
yards permitting large front and back porches to be used as outdoor rooms,
and indoor spaces emphasizing efficiency and sanitation, developers promoted
their country subdivisions as healthy alternatives to city apartments.
Bungalows in North Charleston reflect this national trend, and also a
turning away from the traditional "single-house" architecture of the City of
Charleston. Only a very few houses (Site #1879) in the subdivisions near
the Navy Yard were built in the Charleston Cottage vernacular.

Bungalows are small houses whose regqular appearance reflects an uncompli-
cated interior plan. The front door directly accesses the living room,
which is open to the dining room. Short halls lead to bath and bedrooms.
Bungalows usually face forward on the building lot, with a large porch
across the facade. The low-pitched roof is wide, its appearance broadened
by unenclosed eaves that provide ventilation for the low attic. Bungalows
are ideally one-story; when there is an upper floor it is a half-story, with
dormers and end windows. The size of bungalows was important to affordab-
ility. Plumbing, wiring and heat increased the costs of twentieth century
houses over those of earlier times; smaller size kept the buildings in the
range of the middle class. Their conveniences made them more popular than
larger, less efficient buildings.

Craftsman is a term based on the "Craftsman” house plans promoted by Gustav
Stickley beginning in 1904. Essentially bungalows, these houses are charac-
terized by emphatic use of structural detail as decorative elements (heavy
porch supports, exposed beams and rafters). They present a variety of wood
and masonry building materials, often with stuccoed exterior siding. (In
parts of the United States where stone was easily available, it was a
favored element of Craftsman design.) Some of the best examples of the
style in North Charleston are those designed by Fred J. Oxr in about 1913
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(Sites #1518, #1662) for the North Charleston Corporation and the General
Asbestog and Rubber Company. Other notable Craftsman-influenced bungalows
can be gseen in Cherokee Place (Site #1830.00).

The other national trend that had the most influence on pre-1945 building
style has been called "neo-colonial” and "minimal-traditional,” the term
used in this project. In North Charleston and nationwide, the minimal-
traditional house continued the small-house tradition that had been accepted
for a generation. These properties represent the last big wave of resident-
ial construction before the advent of the modern subdivision with its ranch-
style houses (Cameron Terrace, in Olde North Charleston, is a good example);
nearby houses on Wando Road (Sites #1649 and 1650) demonstrate the
transition from minimal-traditional to ranch.

The minimal-traditional house differs most from the bungalow in the
roofline, built flush to the building without overhanging eaves, and in the
abandonment of roomy porches for outdoor living. Otherwise, their exterior
and general plan respected the bungalow sensibility, strengthened by the
wartime mandate to built small, material-conserving houses. Most often
laterally-oriented, with a low to medium-pitched roof, they may expand
usable space through the use of projecting wings. Rather than into the
plane of the facade, the entry is often set to one side, into a wing. Like
bungalows, floor plans are open, with little space dedicated to halls,
foyers and workrooms.

The least comfortable aspects of minimal-traditional design reveal the
primacy of national taste over the realities of southern climate.
Throughout North Charleston, houses from the 19308 and 1940s can be seen
with shallow eaves, low roofs and no porches. After fifty years, the most
apparent change to the minimal-traditional residences of North Charleston
has been the installation of metal awnings at doors and windows. 1In one
respect, North Charleston's builders did defy national taste. In many areas
of the country, the minimal-traditional style incorporates the influence of
the Tudor Revival in its emphasis on large chimneys and wide fireplaces.
The idea of placirng multiple fireplaces in modern homes did not catch on in
North Charleston during the 19303 and 1940s. Only in Whipper Barony (Site
#1828) were group< of houses built with two prominent chimneys. Elsewhere,
the best examples of the minimal-traditional style have small chimneys
located over living-room fireplaces, whether in developer-built subdivisions
(Palmetto Gardens, #1633; Nafair, #1816; Nafair Addition, #1820;
Morningside, #1951; Dorchester Terrace, Site #1967) or privately (examples
are 1146 North Boulevard, Site #1565; 4960 Pinetree Lane, #1567; 1215 South
Boulevard, #1602; 3304 Goldenrod Street, #1833; 2001 Fuller Street, #1957).

The relationship of the minima’-traditional style to the modern ranch is
expressed through the evolution of an attached carport into a garage wing.
Not connected by an entry to the house, carports bear no relation to the
classic "porte-cochere,” or covered entry. A carport is a sensible building
wing that has been forgotten with the advent of the built-in garage; in
location and function, they are identical to the modern carports added to
many oldexr houses. Very few houses surveyed had a full garage wing, but
good examples were found in Olde North Charleston (see 4840 Park Place East,
Site #1541, and 1190 Park Place North, Site #1545). The garage wing is an
essential part of modern suburban construction.>%
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HORTH CHARLESTON NEIGHBORHOODS

North Charleston's planned subdivisions of the twentieth century are
different from earlier tracts platted for individual lot sales, such as
Liberty Hill and Pettigru. Several neighborhoods were real estate ventures
planned toward a common goal, to sell individual lots. The construction of
each new home would encourage other purchasers. Then as now, developers
found it helpful to enact restrictions as to usage, setbacks and building
size, and often to build a few houses themselves.

As much as possible, neighborhoods are discussed in this report in chrono-
logical order. Those built during the boom years of the early 1940s are
further categorized according to the entities that developed them.

CHICORA PLACE

Chicora Place was laid out on Marshlands Plantation. The area south of
Chicora has become part of the neighborhood, but was originally part of
Stromboli Plantation. West of Chicora Avenue is Charleston Heights, on the
Quarter House tract of the Wragg lands. All three plantations are in the
Parish of St. Philips and St. Michaels.

Stromboli was part of the Elliott family holdings before 1800. In 1807 it
was conveyed (186 acres high land, 72 acres marsh) to Wade Hampton, and
stayed in the Hampton family until after 1860. The northernmost part of
Stromboli, just south of Chicora, has been the site of several fertilizer
manufacturing concerns. The Chiquola Realty Corporation purchased a 6-acre
tract in 1913, which it conveyed to Merchants Fertilizer and Phosphate
Company; the tract was conveyed to Rocono Pertilizer Company in 1927. In
1930 Molony and Carter Fertilizer acquired the parcel, which finally
developed as a residential neighborhood in the 1930s and 1940s. Most of the
houses surveyed in Stromboli (Sites #1909-1914) are bungalows; only one,
2703 Junction Road (Site #1908) shows the influence of the minimal-
traditional style.

Marshlands Plantation was sold to Wallace W. and Celia Lawton in 1880. 1In
1897, Mrs. Lawton conveyed a right-of-way strip (Carner Avenue) to the City
of Charleston; in 1901 she sold 258 acres for the Navy Yard. In 1903 she
sold the remaining 109.9-acre southwest portion of Marshlands to L. E.
Gaskins of Philadelphia. He leased part of the property to the Charleston-
based Marshlands Corporation, which established a hotel and other buildings
on Second (now Dayton) Street near the Navy Yard. When Gaskins sold the
entire 110-acre tract to Chicora Corporation, a Virginia firm, Marshlands
Corporation agreed to let the new buyers open up Second Street, moving most
buildings in its path elsewhere on Marshlands' leasehold. However, the
deeds stipulated that the hotel was to remain on its site. This is the
reason for the bend near the east end of Reynolds Avenue, which is properly
First Street on this eastern block.

Chicora Place comprised 786 lots in a regular grid bounded by the Navy Yard,
Reynolds Avenue/First Street, Clements Avenue (Clements Ferry Road), and
Chicora Avenue (one 19-lot block lay west of Chicora Avenue). The only
internal north-south route was the electric trolley line, an important
amenity for the development. East to west, the blocks were extremely wide,
but it does not appear that there were any plans to cut them by north-south
streets.
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Individual lot sales in Chicora Place began as early as 1904. Into the
19405 most lots were sold to various developers and builders before being
sold to individuals who planned to live at Chicora Place. This real estate
speculation may reflect the fact that many buyers were people moving into
the area to work at the Navy Yard. They would find it difficult to plan and
build a house themselves, but the development companies involved at Chicora
Place could arrange for plans and construction. Several of them were headed
by builders and building material suppliers (see Walker House, Site #1665},

One example is the Navy Yard Building and Investment Company (Charleston
Building and Investment Company), a venture of the Wilbur family and other
Charleston businessmen. This venture acquired a number of lots at Chicora
between 1908-11, and in 1909 began to build thirty houses designed by
Charleston architect Henry F. Walker (Site #1634). In 1914 Charleston
Building and Investment Company conveyed 56 lots to Esther G. Gaillard, many
of them with hougses already built. These lots, and others, provided a
right-of-way for Seaboard Air Line Railway to extend its line north from the
City of Charleston to the North Charleston development (See "0Olde North
Charleston”).

Whether individuals or corporations, builders in Chicora Place adhered to
standard covenants, apparently drafted for the Virginia-based Carolina
Corporation, that were attached to most of the land deeds. The covenants
required that the lots as laid out in the first plat were not to be recon-
figured, and that all buildings would be on line, 10' from the street.
Although the residences of Chicora Place span several decades, their regqular
placement lends cohesiveness to the neighborhood.

One risk that real estate and construction companies encountered at Chicora
Place was the fluctuation in Navy Yard employment levels. During the years
of World War One, activity was high, with a peak work force of 5,500 in
1918. Real estate sales in Chicora Place were correspondingly steady, if
slow, until about 1922, when they began to reflect the post-war decline. It
seems that most of the shipyard workers had commuted rather than building:
the 1923 City Directory indicates only about 115 residences at Chicora Place
(this figure is probably somewhat low). By 1923 Reynolds Avenue was
becoming Chicora'~ principal commercial district. A. J. Barton's grocery
store, the Snug Harbor Inn (Peter Morelli), Theo Sido's Barber Shop, and a
cleaner-presser all had Reynolds Avenue or First Street addresses; clustered
around the nearby South Gate to the Navy Yard (Station 14 on the trolley
line) were several other businesses: Harry's Restaurant [Harry Milton],
Reynolds' Naval Supply Store, and Frank Sullivan's Cold Drink Stand. Other
stores and markets were scattered elsewhere in Chicora Place: Thomas Eaton's
grocery on Sixth (Carlton) Street, Fox's Grocery at Station 13, and P. A.
Hill's Grocery at Station 12. (See "Education" and "Religion" for schools
and churches in Chicora Place.)

Although many lots were sold from 1926-30, the buyers were mostly developers
who had already speculated in Chicora Place. For instance, KRenilworth Real-
ty Corporation, Whitrow Investment Company, and Merrimac Realty Company all
invested in Chicora Place properties. Between 1926-30, Kenilworth conveyed
61 lots s8ingly or in small groups to individuals, and made larger
conveyances to several parties. Charleston builder George T. Trescott,
Kenilworth's president, probably bullt some of the houses on those lots.
The Aschenbeck family was unusual in that they not only invested in property
in Chicora Place, but also moved to a substantial house in the neighborhood
(Site #1775).
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There were between 150-200 houses in Chicora Place in 1933. As the Navy
Yard built up during the 1930s, there was a new era of construction. With
mobilization for World War Two came the phenomenal increases that resulted
in many quickly-built housing developments elsewhere in North Charleston,

and completed the "build-out® of Chicora Place.>®

Small houses in Chicora Place span a range of national styles: simple
bungalows (Sites #1636.01 and #1636.02); more elaborate Craftsman-influenced
bungalows (Site #1636.00); transitional styles (#1635.01); and minimal-
traditional cottages (Site #1635.00). Survey maps show construction trends
in Chicora Place. The first blocks to be developed were in the east and
north sections of the subdivision, nearest the Navy Base, and the far south
section along the Clements Ferry Road trolley line (see #1666). The large
houses built by the Navy Yard Building and Development Company are all in
the northeast section. The last areas to be built out have been along the
interior blocks where the first plat shows ponds: Quitman Street still has a
marsh view, and remains largely undeveloped.

CHARLESTON HEIGHTYS

Charleston Heights was developed on the part of the Quarter House tract that
was south of Reynolds Avenue. During the nineteenth century, the Quarter
House tract came into the ownership of Richard F. Reynolds of Charleston.
Between June 1860 and December 1862 he conveyed to Louis Seel, also of
Charleston, the fifty-one acres south of Reynolds Avenue. Several subse-
quent owners apparently had plans of developing the property: in 1914 it was
referenced as property of East Bay Improvement Company (W. C. Wilbur), and a
1915 advertisement for Wilbur's Cherokee Place shows "Quarter House" just to
its south.

The property was not developed until after 1918. In that year John F. Cox
and J. H. Armstrong, both of Charleston, filed incorporation papers for
Charleston Heights Corporation. Early in 1919 they had 64 lots laid out in
the area between Reynolds Avenue, Chicora Parkway, Sixth Street and Atlantic
Avenue. In May 1921 Charleston Heights was extended south past Seventh
Street and west from Atlantic Avenue to Arctic Street, adding 106 lots to
the suburb. In April 1923 the Charleston Heights Corporation conveyed all
its unsold lots to Charleston Heights Company. This venture made the final
division of Charleston Heights in 1929: forty lots extending west from
Arctic Street to Meeting Street Road. In May 1940 Charleston Heights
Company conveyed to Iris Holding Company its remaining property in
Charleston Heights. Its charter was cancelled in 1941.

Charleston Heights, 1like Chicora, was built out only gradually. The 1923
Charleston City and Suburban Directory indicates 5 residences at Charleston
Heights (there were probably more). 1In 1921 the first Chicora Elementary
School opened in Charleston Heights, and in 1923 Charleston Heights Baptist
Church (Site #1528) was built just south of Reynolds Avenue (see "Education”
and "Religion"). In 1928 Quick's General Store opened at the corner of
Reynolds and Florida Avenues.

In 1938 a 44-acre tract southwest of Charleston Heights, known as the
"Clover® tract of the Wragg lands, was acquired by the (Catholic) Bishop of
Charleston from the estate of George A. Claussen. The diocese conveyed most
of this land (33 acres) to Charleston County School District #4 in 1941,
which was planning for Chicora High School (Site #1521). South of the
school (Norman C. Toole Middle School) is the twenty-four acre “Chicora Tank
Farm, " which was acquired by the navy in 1943 as an off-site fuel storage
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facility consisting of six underground storage structures, and small above-
ground support elements, to supplement the capacity of the naval shipyard.

There is also an interesting group of live cak trees (Site #1840} on the
Tank Farm that appear to be remnants of an avenue. Plats of this tract from
as far back as 1811 are available, but do not answer the question of its
historic use. In the 1940s a farm house on the property was occupied by the
Hill family.56

More Craftsman-influenced bungalows (Site #1637.00) than simple bungalows
(Site #1637.01) were surveyed in Charleston Heights. The area's growth
after about 1940 is reflected in the minimal-traditional cottages (Site
#1638).

CHEROKEE, BUCKFIELD, AND THE MAPPUS TRACT

Cherokee was developed on part of the old Stock Prior Plantation. A 67-acre
section of Stock Prior, called the "Six Mile House Tract" was conveyed to
John F. Ficken (Mayor of Charleston 1891-95) in 1891, and by him to Chicora
Realty Company in 1904. The deed referred to "all that tract known as
Chicora Terrace, between Chicora Park and the Meeting Street Road..."
Although Chicora Place, just to the south, was opened at about this time,
Chicora Terrace proved more difficult to develop, maybe because there were
no roads within the tract. (Reynolds Avenue was the closest connector
between Meeting Street Road and the Navy Yard.) Even after Cosgrove Avenue
was built (1907) across the land, it was not developed. Finally in 1912 the
property was conveyed to Cherokee Place, Inc., a venture of the W. C. Wilbur
Company, renamed as Cherokee Place, and platted for residential development.

The plat shows a 648-1lot subdivision at either side of Cosgrove Avenue, from
the Navy Yard to Meeting Street Road. Developers' covenants required com-
gercial activity to be limited to Meeting Street Road (see Site #1869), and
that lots facing Cosgrove Avenue must be at least 75’ wide; other streets
required a 50' frontage. Streets were laid in a grid centered on Cosgrove
Avenue, and given thematic names: Seminole (today's Cochise), Osceola,
Apache, Navajo, Huron (route of today's Rivers Avenue), Lenape, FEutaw
(today's Remus), Arapahoe and Comanche. Today's Cherokee Street was an
unnamed “common passage"” along the south side of the subdivision. The
street names may have been borrowed from the Clyde Line steamships that
served Charleston; there were Clyde ships named Comanche, Arapahoe, Huron,
Mohawk, Apache, and Lenape.

The Wilbur Company advertised Cherokee Place in May 1913, promoting it as a
model village of roomy lots and houses "of which any man would be proud.”
As they intended, most of the people who moved into the neighborhood were
civilian employees of the Navy Yard, and all were white. The expansion of
the electric trolley system in 1915 brought the streetcar line to the foot
of Cosgrove Avenue. Equally important, electric power was made available to
residents.

There was an active period of lot sales in Cherokee Place, ending only after
World War One. Just as did the developers of Chicora Place and North
Charleston, the Wilburs constructed some houses themselves. In 1917 wWalter
B. Wilbur and J. J. Murray organized the Cherokee Building Company; in 1919,
along with W. C. Wilbur, they organized the Suburban Bungalow Company.
Building lots in Cherokee Place were conveyed tc both these firms, but it is
not certain how many houses they constructed. By 1923, there were only
about 35 families living at Cherokee Place (7 of them on Cosgrove Avenue).



A map of 1933 indicates about 35 or 40 houses in the neighborhood. {(Both
these figures are probably low.)

Responding to the naval buildup of the 1930s, lots sales and development
began again. By 1938 about half the lots in Cherckee Place had been sold,
but only about seventy houses had been completed and occupied. Most of them
were east of Rivers Avenue, the "new double boulevard® that cut through the
heart of Cherokee Place. Only a very few lots at its west side, furthest
from the Navy Yard, were sold before 1940. In that year, the west half of
Cherokee Place, including Cherckee Place Methodist Church, became Nafair

Addition (see "Nafair“).5?

The houses in Cherokee Place reflect several eras and styles of con-
struction. Some of the most interesting examples of Craftsman-influenced
bungalows (Site #1830.00) in North Charleston were built here. These
substantial one or one and one-half story houses (mostly built before 1930)
usually have a front-gable roof, often with dormers at the sides; a promi-
nent front porch with large supports; wood siding, often a mixture of
weatherboard and shingles, decorative braces and eave ends, and other trim
along the porch and eave lines. They are integrated among many simpler bun-
galows (Site #1830.01), and a few minimal-traditional houses (Site #1831).
By about 1940 when the minimal-traditional style became popular, Cherokee
Place had essentially been built out. There are very few post-1950 build-
ings in the neighborhood, although at least six houses (Sites #1662.05 and
#1662.09) were moved here from the Garco factory village, as was Momeier
Blectric Company at 2033 Cosgrove Avenue (the original site of Cosgrove
Avenue Presbyterian Church). Automobile traffic on Cosgrove Avenue was
increased with its connection to the North Bridge across the Ashley River,
and it remains a principal thoroughfare to the Navy Yard. Even with the
change to commercial use of many of the residences facing Cosgrove east of
Rivers Avenue, the buildings have not been extensively altered.

BUCKFIELD

Buckfield and the Mappus Tract are usually considered parts of Cherckee, but
they were developed separately, on the sgsame Quarter House Tract that
Charleston Heights came out of. Buckfield, immediately adjacent to the
Charleston Navy Yard, was one of the first residential subdivisions marketed
to shipyard workers. It was developed on Parcel Seven of the Quarter House/
Six Mile Tract, between Reynolds Avenue and Cherokee Street. Luder Buck,
for whom the subdivision was named, had conveyed this l6-acre property to
Louis Seel in 1867. 1In 1900 W. H. Steinbrecher acquired it. He Jlaid out
Buckfield, 126 residential lots, in October 1902. When a plat was filed a
year later, 45 lots had already been conveyed to individuals, including 11
of the 18 facing Reynolds Avenue.3®

Periods of activity in Buckfield, as in most of North Charleston's historic
industries and subdivisions, reflect trends at the Navy Yard. In most of
the city, houses also reflect national architectural trends more than they
do regional styles. An interesting exception is at Buckfield, where some of
the earliest houses, along Proctor and Ubank streets nearest the Navy Yard,
are in the vernacular style of Charleston Cottages, a one-story variant of
the Charleston Single Bouse (sece Site #1879). More representative of
national taste is the 1915 United Spanish War Veterans Lodge (Site #1847) on
Reynolds Avenue, built at a time when veterans of the 1898 war were
beginning to retire from the Navy and seek commemoration of their past.
Most of the survey sites in Buckfield are classified as bungalows (Site
#1881). As in Cherokee Place, there were few building sites available when
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the minimal-traditional style (Site #1881) was developed toward the end of
1930s.

Buckfield*'s land use is similar to the patterns of development in nearby
areas. During the post-World War One decline, residents were as likely to
be employed outside the Navy Yard as within it. 1In 1923, there were two
groceries (Leary's Grocery and Oscar Maes' grocery) in this small neighbor-
hood, close to the Navy Yard and trolley line, and also to Cherokee Place,
where commercial use was not permitted. Locations of these early stores
have not been identified. The Xraft Avenue Supermarket (Site #1834), was
built with upstairs living space in the 1930s.

MAPPUS TRACT

The Mappus Tract was developed on the Quarter House tract but, like
Buckfield, it is usually considered part of Cherokee. The four-block area
lies between Reynolds Avenue and Cherokee Street, bounded by Navajo/Rexton
Street and Ottawa Avenue. Part of W. H. Steinbrecher's holdings, it was
later the property of Rast Bay Improvement Company (W. C. Wilbur), and
belonged to William Mappus at his death in 1918. Only after the death of
his wife Helena D. Mappus in 1935 was the land was subdivided into streets
and 78 lots.%? The houses that were built, particularly along Goldenrod
Street, are typically in the minimal-traditional style of the late 1930s and
19408 (Site #1833), but the familiar bungalow style was also used (Site
#1832).

Two Reynolds Avenue landmarks are located on the Mappus Tract, Miller's
Drugs (Site #1846), and the North Charleston Public Service District Fire
Station (Site #1948). With their solid mass, red brick veneer, and cast-
stone trim, these buildings are gqood examples of 1930s commercial
architecture.

OLDE NORTH CHARLESTON

North Charleston was a development two miles north of the Navy Yard,
envisioned by its promoters as a self-gsustaining community strategically
located between the Cooper River and railroad lines from Charleston to the
interior. The site of the new city was the first available waterfront land
above the Navy Yard, and the closest high ground to Charleston. It was well
drained, for productive farms and healthy residences, and large enough to be
developed under a unified plan. North Charleston is often called "Olde
North Charleston® to distinguish it from the incorporated City of North
Charleston.

North Charleston's developers were business and political leaders from
Charleston. Among them were two Burton Lumber Company executives, Robert L.
Montague and Edward W. Durant; attorney Henry Buist; former cCharleston
mayor, R. Goodwyn Rhett; future mayor, Tristram T. Hyde; and the city's
chief engineer, James O'Hear. The development's history begins in 1911,
when Burton Lumber Company, having harvested the pine forest on this tract
close to the company's mill, sold the major portion of its land to two
companies, the Filbin Company (Montague and Buist) and the North Charleston
Company (Rhett, Montague, O'Hear). The Filbin Company's land (see "Charleg-
ton Farms") was above Filbin Creek, and included Yeamans Hall.

The 1,516-acre tract north of Noisette Creek and the Navy Yard, extending to

Filbin Creek, was acquired by the North Charleston Company {Rhett, Montague,
O'Hear). For this area they envisioned an entire city called North
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Charleston. They retained a landscape architecture firm, P. J. Berckman's
Company of Augqusta, Georgia, whose associate W. B. Marquis designed a
garden-city plan altogether different from the rectangular grids that
characterize most subdivisions in the North Area. 0Olde North Charleston is
unique in the Lowcountry because of its plan and roadways, its sheer size,
and the distinct zones of use, where large-scale manufacturing stand within
and adjacent to historic neighborhoods.

As they began plans for the development, in 1913 the North Charleston
Company (Rhett, Montague, O'Hear) transferred most of its land to the North
Charleston Development Company and North Charleston Corporation, two
separate partnerships among Rhett, Montague, Buist, Hyde and Durant.

The west side of North Charleston bounded on Liberty Hill. At the north,
@ast and south it was bounded by rail lines that served Burton Lumber
Company and several companies that had bought Cooper River waterfront land
from the partners, Read Fertilizer Company, Coe-Mortimer, Texas 0il Company,
and Oakdene Compress Company. Inside the planned city, General Asbestos and
Rubber Company (Garco) built a factory and wvillage in 1915. These
industrial operations and the jobs they offered were key to the development.
North Charleston would flourish along with Cooper River shipping and
manufacturing. (See "Industry in Olde North Charleston”)

North Charleston's center was the l2-acre Park Circle (Site #1510), accessed
by radiating principal avenues (Rhett, Montagque, Durant and Buist) connected
by straight road segments. Each of the four avenues was interrupted by the
circle, providing eight entry points. East Montague Avenue was the business
and commercial area, leading to the industrial zone along the Cooper River.
At the edge of the new city, Burton Lumber Company's commissary (burned in
1921) was open to the public as well as to residents of the millworkers'
village. A. J. Riley's "neat little shop" (location not determined), open
by mid-1915, was the first retail establishment inside North Charleston
itself. The developers built a graded school on East Montague Avenue in
1915, and conveyed it to Cooper River School District #4. In 1915 Carolina,
Atlantic and Western Railway erected a "handsome passenger station" just
south of East Montague Avenue.

As soon as Marquis’ master plan was drawn up, the NWorth Charleston
Development Company began to engineer streets and roads, linking existing
factories to new neighborhoods and to Park Circle. Sixty-three lots were
conveyed to North Charleston Corporation, which built 12 bungalows in 1914.
When public sales began in spring 1915, the company stimulated interest
through "immediate construction of 17 attractive bungalows,” soon referred
to as "asbestos worker houses." Eight of the buildings constructed by Rorth
Charleston Development Company along Alamc and Bethany streets (Sites #1693,
1709, 1710) could well be some of these bungalows. Other houses built by
the company are much more substantial: Sites #1688, 1694, 1695 and 1696 are
handsome residences along O'Hear Avenue.

In April 1915 an advertising campaign in the News and Courier announced that
420 lots in the eastern sections of North Charleston were ready to be sold.
The first 71 lots were sold to F. Elliott Thomas (Thomas and Thomas) of
Charleston. Before the end of the month, 230 lots had sold, and building
was underway throughout the northeast quadrant. Development soon got a
boost when the trolley line opened an extension of two miles from the Navy
Yard loop. Charleston businessman T. W. Carroll purchased ten lots, and
guickly began to build seven houses (Site #1676-1677, 1700-1701), to be
completed in sixty days. Factory workers were almost guaranteed to provide
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a housing market, and in fact Garco purchased these buildings and the North
Charleston Development Company's bungalows in 1919.

In May 1915, the North Charleston Corporation began to offer lots in “Pine-
wood Park," the area around Park Circle, for the first time. By June, 500
lots had been sold in North Charleston (this number includes lots conveyed
to Garco, and also those transferred to the developers' construction
company). Alongside the developers, some individual builders did erect
houses for themselves. One of the earliest (Wells Bouse, 4703 Chateau
Avenue, Site #1742) is in the "0ld Vvillage," a modern name for East Montagque
Avenue and the blocks to its south, along the route of the trolley line.

Besides groups of lots sold to builders, over 80 separate lots were sold in
1917. Construction of speculative and rental housing notwithstanding, the
developers' announced strategy was to sell only alternate lots (said to be a
way to discourage commercial investors and attract owner-occupants). This
policy may have been a factor in a distinctive characteristic of North
Charleston's residential neighborhoods, the pattern of houses from 1915
existing side-by-side with those from the 19203, 19303 and 1940s (see 1080
Bexley Street, Site #1748, ca. 1920, and 1109 Bexley, Site #1782, ca. 1940;
or 4830 Park Place East, Site #1540, ca. 1925, and 4840 Park Place East,
Site #1541, ca. 1940). However, this quality of having been built out in
separate stages can also be seen at Chicora and Cherokee, where it was
related to the cyclical nature of the Navy Yard work force.

Cash flow from successful lot sales allowed the developers to expand the
city. By June 1915, sixty mules and dozens of men were grading streets and
avenues in North Charleston. In 1925 North Charleston was re-surveyed by
James O'Rear, who rearranged some of the roads and factory sites but
retained Marquis's plan substantially intact. The original plan was
completed gradually. It was more than two decades before all the avenues
were graded and paved. The pond in Quarterman Park (Site #1631) was event-
ually enlarged and filled as a water garden. As late as 1933, South Rhett
and North Durant had not been fully engineered, and North Rhett and West
Montague were unpaved.

In 1932 the North Charleston Company went into foreclosure, and its assets
were acquired by the North Charleston Holding Company, a Maryland corpor-
ation. In 1947 that company's assets were transferred to the North
Charleston Lands Company, also a Maryland firm.

Despite its contrasts with other neighborhoods of North Charleston, the rate
of construction in Olde North Charleston has always fluctuated according to
Navy Yard activity. Several areas within the original development, Palmetto
Gardens, John C. Calhoun Homes, and Liberty Homes, were World War Two
housing complexes, complete with road plans and parks, inserted wholesale
into the western quadrants (see "Government-Built War Housing."”) Industrial
cycles unrelated to the Ravy Yard {(post-World War One decline in the
fertilizer industry; cessation of the lumber industry) have also affected
development here. The area-wide stimulus of New Deal spending that began in
1933 was accelerated in Olde North Charleston by the 1937 establishment of
West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company, and its positive impact on Garco. 1In
1938, the population of North Charleston was estimated at 2,000. By 19490
there were probably about 4,000 residents. In late 1941 North Charleston
was the largest community in the Carolinas without a formal city government,
and the population was expected to reach 15,000 in a few months.
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Commercial life in Olde North Charleston has traditionally centered on East
Montague Avenue. The 1923 Charleston City and Suburban Directory lists a
number of businesses there: Attaway Barber Shop, Bazzakas Brothers General
Store, Melrose Inn Cafe and Ice Cream Parlor ("special attention to auto
parties”), North Charleston Market, North Charleston Mercantile Company,
Stevenson and Califf Drug Store, Ward's General Merchandise Store, and one
black-owned business, Esther Roach's restaurant. There were also stores and
shops along adjacent blocks north and south of East Montague Avenue. Felton
Mercantile Company, McKenzie Grocery Store, Palmetto Grocery Store, Port
City Mercantile Company, and the U. S. Post Office were all on O'Hear
Avenue; M. B. Morse Barber Shop and Cold Drink Stand was on Cherry (Chateau)

Avenue. 60

East Montague Avenue is the commercial core of the modern neighborhood. It
was here, at 1079 East Montague (Site #1814) that the new City of North
Charleston established its first City Hall in 15872. oOther interesting
buildings include 1082 East Montague (Site #1808), ca. 1920, said to have
been a support building for the trolley line; the 1920 Port City Bank
building (Site #1807); W. C. Wilbur and Company Real Bstate, built in 1938
{Site #1806); Attaway's Recreation Hall and Billiard Parlor (Site #1799);
and the Port Theatre (Site #1815), opened in 1942.

CHARLESTON FARMS

In 1913 Robert L. Montague and Henry Buist, doing business as the Filbin
Company, devised an ambitious plan for the 3,500 acres north of Filbin Creek
{much of it in today's Berkeley County) that they had acquired from Burton
Lumber Company. Once the North Charleston development was well established,
they would drain this adjacent land, build roads, and subdivide small farm
homesteads. Yeamans Hall, part of the acreage, would be "one day a great
hotel and magnificent golf links." While marketing North Charleston, the
partners began promoting the concept of The Farms.

At about the same time, Robert Montague and Edward Durant also began the
Mount Holly Development Company. They laid out farm lots of twenty to forty
acres on an 8,000 acre tract near the Mt. Holly railroad depot in Berkeley
County. By 1915 they had completed an extensive system of drainage and
roads on the property, but the Mt. Holly development did not become a
reality.

In 1916, with North Charleston making better progress than Mt. Bolly or The
Farms, the entire Filbin tract was transferred to a new entity, Charleston
Farms Corporation, made up of Henry Buist and R. G. Rhett. They eventually
realized that Charleston Farms could not be developed as numerous small
truck farms, and that there was not yet a market for subdivided residential
lots north of Filbin Creek. The electric line extensions that brought power
throughout North Charleston, Chicora, and Cherockee did not even reach
Charleston Farms.

Besides lot size and location, war and depression worked against Charleston
Farms for years. During World War One, 1,500 acres at Charleston Farms was
taken for the Army Port Terminals, and after the war emergency, the
government conveyed the facilitv to the City of Charleston. The port
terminal split the east side of Charleston Farms, s8¢ in 1925 Charleston
Farms Corporation sold its northern 900 acres to James O°'Hear and others,
who developed it as Yeamans Hall Club.
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Charleston Farms began rapid development as a residential subdivision in
1937, when West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company opened on the port terminal
tract. The World War Two buildup, particularly as it affected the port ter-
minals tract (Army Ordnance Depot) and Charleston ARir Force Base, increased
demand for housing in Charleston Farms, which lies in both North Charleston
and Hanahan (Berkeley County). The neighborhood became home to full-time
employees of military and civilian concerns.

It is not clear exactly when the plan for farm lots was abandoned. Only the
earliest houses in Charleston Farms were placed on spacious lots with room
for market gardens or poultry. Most of them are bungalows (Site #1902); a
few retain a sense of rural Lowcountry farmsteads (see Sites #1917 and 1918,
on Sumner Avenue; #1919, 5603 Dobson Street; and #1920, 1922 and 1923, on
Remount Road). There are also several transitional residences that combine
bungalow and minimal-traditional styles (Site #1901). Most survey sites are
minimal-traditional cottages (Site #1900) evenly placed on neat lots.
Charleston Farms extends seamlessly into Hanahan.

In 1941 West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company laid out a small subdivision on
land it had acquired at the east edge of Charleston Farms (along Lorraine
and Ruth Streets), and offered lots to sale to its employees. Several of
the lots were sold and houses built by the purchasers, but most of the
subdivision remains in the ownership of Westvaco. The late 1940s-1950s
houses are gradually being removed from the property.61

FERNDALE, MORNINGSIDE AND RUSSELLDALE

In 1913, Seaboard Development Company (R. Goodwyn Rhett, president) owned a
large tract of land at the far side of Liberty Hill from the area being
planned by Rhett and others as North Charleston. This property was well-
flocated on the State Road and ACL railroad, but was not convenient to Olde
“North Charleston or to the Cooper River. The southern part of the tract was
acquired by W. H. Mixson for his Ferndale Farm. By 1919, a 510-lot subdiv-
ision called Ferndale was laid out, designed as a grid of 17 blocks. One
block of 24 lots was drawn at the south side of Montague Avenue, above the
thirty-acre Ferndale Farm. East of the railroad, 204 lots lay along Grant
{(Gaynor) and Nesb__. Avenues. There were no cross streets. At the west side
(306 lots), Railroad and Piedmont (Piedmount} Avenunes were parallel to the
railroad, crossed by First, Second, Third Streets, etc. (today's ARlton,
Bolton, Clifton). Above Sixth (Fuller) Street was a tract retained by Sea-
board Development, which hoped there would be a demand for individual lots.

Probably because it was not particularly close to industries along the
Cooper River or to the Navy Yard, Ferndale did not develop for almost two
decades. The 1933 map of the southern section of North Charleston is not
perfectly precise with respect to buildings, but it shows that none of
Ferndale's roads, except short stretches of Gaynor and Nesbit Avenues north
and south of East Montague Avenue, had been laid by that time. There were
at least a few houses scattered along these unpaved roads.

Rlong with North Charleston's World War Two population increases, the new
"dual lane" (Rivers Avenue) encouraged Ferndale's development. A new section
of Ferndale was surveyed in 1939, incorporating the Seaboard Development
Company tract into the subdivision. Lot sales and building in Fermdale
began in earnest in the early 1940s. Ferndale Baptist Church was organized
in the garage of the Finkley home. Among those who have been identified as
moving into the neighborhood were employees at the Navy Yard and Charleston
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company (peninsular Charleston), as well as
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workers at such companies as Southern Ice and West Virginia Pulp and Paper.
Most of the properties that were surveyed in Ferndale were built between

1940 and 1945 on the original lots of the 1919 subdivision.62

Ferndale developed at about the same time as Nafair and other war housing
neighborhoods, but the houses were not constructed by a single company. In
contrast to architect-designed houses in developer-bmilt neighborhoods, the
residences in Perndale are typically bungalows (Site #1956). This style of
architecture was an established taste for builders in small towns and rural
areas of the Lowcountry, where its use continued into the 1950s. Some
builders in Ferndale were influenced by the innovation of the minimal-
traditional style (Site #1958). The few minimal-traditional cottages (Site
#1957) appear entirely modern by contrast with the conservative buildings
that surround them.

Morningside, just south of Ferndale, was essentially built out during the
period of greatest construction activity in Perndale, but in plan (the
layout of streets and lots) and architectural  appearance, the neighborhoods
are entirely different. Morningside was subdivided from the thirty-acre
Ferndale Farm; in early 1941 it was advertised as “choice lots in a
restricted suburb® two blocks from the North Charleston station (today's
Amtrak Station). Developers touted the wide streets, availability of city
water and electricity, and FHA approval. Before the end of the year
Morningside Development Company had begun building houses (two bedrooms,
living room, dining room and detached garage) for sale.®’ All the buildings
surveyed in Morningside (Site #1951) are minimal-traditional style cottages.
Several of them have recognizably similar elements, such as porch and window
details.

Russelldale was also developed after Rivers Avenue opeped. A group of four
houses on Delta Street (Site #1864), built in two styles, resemble those of
Morningside. There are other minimal-traditional cottages and a few World
War Two-era bungalows in Russelldale (Sites #1865-1868), but the neighbor-
hcod was not completely built out until the early 1950s.

GOVERNKENT-BUILT WAR HOUSING

‘Rarts of Chicora Park were retained by the City of Charleston when the Navy
‘Base was established in 1901. Over time, this land has served various pub-
lic purposes. A rail spur (1910) from the main ACL track to Dry Dock One ran
through land of the City of Charleston. In the railroad right-of-way was
also laid Carolina Avenue (today's McMillan Avenue), which was later inter-
sected by Rivers Avenue, built on land conveyed by the city. The four
corners of this intersection have been the site of Pinehaven Sanitorium
(Shipwatch Square), Tom McMillan Homes (Navy Hospital), Ben Tillman Bomes
(River Place), and Boulevard Homes (abandoned K-Mart).

By early 1940, military personnel and civilian war workers flooding into
Charleston and surrounding areas completely exceeded the area' housing
capacity. Between 1940 and 1943, Charleston County's population grew from
121,000 to about 220,000. The role of the Housing Authority of the City of
Charleston was extended far beyond low-income housing, and into
unincorporated areas. The authority had first been established to provide
local interface with federal housing programs (see "New Deal"). Its
expansion into North Charleston was a solution to the war housing crisis.
By the end of 1942, the authority owned, or operated on behalf of federal
agencies, 2,803 housing units. By late 1943 a total of 7,214 units were
owned or operated by the authority.®4
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Nationwide, whether single or multi-family residences, wartime housing fell
into several categories: structures built with an eye toward post-war reuse;
prefabricated construction that was demountable to allow removal and
reassembly elsewhere; and buildings explicitly planned for demolition after
the war.

BEN TILLMAN HOMRS AND GEORGE LEGARE HOMES

Two of North Charleston's first housing projects, Ben Tillman Homes (Site
#1527) and George S. Legare Homes (Site #1519), were planned for conversion
to low-income civilian use after World War Two. Adjacent to each other, the
two projects were developed by the Housing Authority of the City of
Charleston on city-owned land between the Navy Yard and Rivers Avenue.
{George Legare Homes was built on the former Municipal Prison Farm, see "New
Deal” and "County Prison Farm™). Both complexes feature handsomely designed
multi-family buildings of brick, originally with clay tile roofs, comfort-
ably spaced in campus settings. Buildings were laid out in groups around
parking areas, connected to short alleys and curvimng or circular perimeter
roads. All are duplexes or multi-apartment structures. The design of the
buildings resembles Robert Mills Manor (1939) in the City of Charleston, but
the landscape design is entirely different from the dense grid at that
project, and from almost all the historic neighborhoods of North Charleston.
{Only Olde North Charleston and Section 3 of Dorchester Terrace have curving
streets and grassy parks like Ben Tillman Homes and George Legare Homes.)
In plan and buildings both projects resemble the new town at Greenbelt,
Maryland, a 3,300-acre complex developed in 1935 by the federal Resettlement
Administration.

Skilled Navy Yard workers began to move into Ben Tillman Bomes (400 units)
during May 1941, long before construction was complete. By July the project
.was 65% occupied. At about the same time, George S. Legare Eomes (600
;anitg) began to be ready for occupancy. In late 1942, Ben Tillman was home
to about 5,000 war workers and their families, and 2,300 people were living
at George Legare Homes.

As originally planned, both of these housing complexes were deeded by the
federal government to the Housing Authority of the City of Charleston in
1953. That agency conveyed them to the City of North Charleston in 1984.
George Legare (North Park Village) is now operated by the Housing Authority
of the City of North Charleston; Ben Tillman (River Place) was sold by the
city to a private firm in 1987, and is managed as an apartment community.65

PALMETTO GARDENS

Palmetto Gardens (Site #1633) was built between April and October 1941 by
Dawson Engineering Company of Charleston for the federal Defense Homes
Corporation. This neighborhood was the only federal housing project in
North Charleston to consist entirely of single-family dwellings intended as
permanent construction. Built for civilian war workers and army and navy
officers, the development was fit between the principal avenues of the
western guadrant of Olde North Charleston, where very few lots (see Sites
#1643, 1651, 1652, 1653) had been sold. Although the original city plan was
not altered, the subdivision pattern of curving streets created twelve new
blocks with small building lots and two small parks. Streets and sewers
were laid by WPR workers. At the rear corner of each lot was a small one-
car garage with wood siding. Both the architecture and the landscape plan
are very similar to the Defense Housing Corporation's Pannaway Manor, built
at about the same time in Portsmouth, New Hampshire.
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The houses in Palmetto Gardens were quickly-built, but not prefabricated.
In a fashion similar to privately-built war housing complexes in North
Charleston, the architect used eleven fundamental floor plans. To avoid the
repetitive look of such developments as George Legare, John C. Calhoun or
Liberty Homes, a mix-and-match of standard elements was employed, reversing
orientation, varying paint colors (white, gray or cream) and the colors of
the asphalt shingle roofs. O0Of 250 houses built, there were 68 sgix-room (3
bedrooms) houses, at most corners and some interior lots, and 182 five-room
houses. Only 99 had porches. The frame buildings were clad in asbestos
shingle. Iron handrails were placed at the stoops of those without porches.
In 1945 the houses in Palmetto Gardens were sold to private owners, and the
park lots deeded to the Cooper River Park and Playground Commission. 66

PREFABRICATED CONSTRUCYION OF THE WORLD WAR TWO ERA

Before World War Two, only about 1% of new houses in the United States were
prefabricated (Sears houses, etc.). In 1942 prefabricated construction made
up 16% of the single-family housing market. During World War Two, about
196,000 pretabricated housing units were constructed by various federal,
state, municipal and private endeavors. The most common types were
prefabricated of wood, in components ranging from pre-cut trusses and
weatherboard to entire wall panels; exterior siding was either asbestos
shingle or wood. Hundreds of prefabricated buildings went up in North

Charleston between 1940 and 1943.%7

Demountable construction refers to buildings that were prefabricated for
construction, with future relocation in mind. Panels of walls and roofing
were put together on site with removable -“double-headed” nails and other
techniques. Other war housing in Charleston and North Charleston, including
the wood frame barracks at Stark Army Hospital and its annex; the clay-tile
Liberty Homes Extension and Boulevard Homes were all temporary buildings
planned for demolition five to ten years after construction.

One of the first of the federal government's prefabricated demountable
projects, built under the supervision of the Housing Authority of the City
of Charleston, was Tom McMillan Homes (named for Sixth District Congressman
Thomas S. McMillan, who died in 1939). Brilt of wood and painted white, 50
homes were ready for occupancy by February 1941, and eventually 200 units
were built. They were fully occupied before July 1941, with residents
evenly divided between naval personnel and civilian shipyard workers. 1In
1942 a 100-unit extension at Tom McMillan was constructed. In 1974 when the
Naval Regional Medical Center was built on the site of McMillan Homas, many
of the buildings were relocated to other areas of North Charleston.
Although photographs show at least some two-story buildings, none were
identified during the survey. A group of thirty one-story buildings and
portions of buildings moved to 7400 Dorchester Road is now known as Dor-
Towne Apartments (Site #1944) .68

Construction by federal agencies stepped up during 1941. Like Palmetto Gar-
dens, John C. Calhoun Homes (Site #1511) was a fully planned residential
area placed between principal streets of Olde North Charleston, and occupied
in October 1941. The 200 demoun*table buildings of Calhoun Homes, built of
wood painted white (50 single residences, 150 duplexes) were assembled on-
site for the Defense Homes Corporation, with construction funded by the
Federal Works Agency. Construction supervision and actual management of the
complex were the responsibility of the Housing Authority of the City of
Charleston. Further from the Navy Yard than Tom McMillan Homes, Calhoun
Homes was designated for residence by workers at such Army facilities as the
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Ordnance Depot, Port of Embarkation, and Stark General Hospital, and also
the Navy Yard dry dock. John C. Calhoun Homes is now privately managed as a
housing complex. The site plan, an arcing triangle with two cross-streets,
has not been altered. Most of the buildings retain their exterior integri-

ty, althongh interiors have been modernized.®®

Alsc in Charleston County was St. Andrew's Bomes, a prefabricated project
undertaken for the Federal Housing Administration by the Housing Authority
of the City of Charleston, and completed in March 1943. The 229-building
complex (410 units) was located on Maryville Road west of the Ashley, and
set aside for workers of the Charleston Shipbuilding and Drydock Company's
Cooper River plant in peninsular Charleston. The buildings have been relo-
cated; several duplex buildings (Site #1949) in North Charleston appear very
similar to St. Andrew's Homes, but may have been built ags the Tom McMillan

extension. 70

Aamong the last of the large-scale war housing projects was the 2,400-unit
Liberty Homes (Site #1512), built between 1942-43 by several private
contractors. These builders had experience with prefabricated construction
by the time Liberty Homes came on line, and built the complex at a rapid
pace. The wood-panel buildings, mostly duplexes but with some single
dwellings, were prefabricated in Mississippi and assembled on site by teams
of ten workers - in less than eight hours each. Liberty Bomes was set at
the northwest side of 0lde North Charleston, an area where few home sites
had been sold. Like Calhoun Homes, the complex was designated for occupancy
by the Army Ordnance Depot, Port of Embarkation, Stark Hospital, and also
the Navy Yard. Its distinctive oval plan, with a school at the center, is
largely intact. Many of the buildings have been removed or relocated within
the complex, but a number of single and two-family houses remain. They have
all been altered with synthetic siding and replacement windows. Liberty
Homes (Century Oak Village) is privately owned, and managed as an apartment

complex.

By early 1943, when materials were requisitioned for Liberty Homes Extension
{1286 apartments in multi-unit buildings), the War Production Board had
disallowed the use of lumber for housing. Therefore the extension's con-
struction was of ..ollow clay tile blocks, intended for short term use and
then demolition. Some of the land was then deeded to public agencies,
providing sites for the Rational Guard Armory and Danny Jones Pool (1958).
Most of the complex was redeveloped as Cameron Terrace subdivision.
Neighborhood residents still find fragments of tile from the Liberty Homes
Extension buildings. Another temporary facility was Boulevard Dormitories,
quarters for female civilian war workers, built in 1943 on part of the
“"Fabian tract" opposite George Legare Homes. The project, in two buildings
of brick and hollow tile, contained quarters for 128 women. Demolished soon
after the war, its location is the site of K-Mart on Rivers Avenue.’l

Comparatively few war workers were black, and racial segregation was still
government policy during the 1940s. In 1943 the Housing Authority of the
City of cCharleston let contracts for two projects for black occupancy.
Daniel Jenkins Homes (named for the minister who founded Jenkins Orphanage)
was a 550-unit complex at Accabee/Rosemont. The 200-unit Read Hill Homes
was built north of Olde North Charleston, near the site of the Read Phos-
phate Company's mill and village. These projects have also been
demolished. 72

By 1943 there was an adequate supply of war housing in the Charleston area.
The immediate need having been met, the Housing Authority would now serve
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the war effort by conserving men and material, also hoping to avoid the
overbuilding that might complicate the post-war situation. The authority
believed that there would be enough demand for low-cost housing that the
units built so far would be occupied fully in the coming years. Fifty years
later, the continuing use of Ben Tillman, George Legare, John C. Calhoun and

Liberty Homes bears out that expectation.’3
PRIVATE WAR HOUSING NEIGHBORHOODS

Between 1940 and 1942, the rapid pace of construction in North Charleston
increased as government-built housing was supplemented by private-sector
development of single-family residential neighborhoods. At the forefront of
the construction boom, the Long family and their partners specialized in
large-scale development. In 1940 they built Nafair, the first private war
housing complex in North Charleston. Other private developers built war
housing as well, from a few residences at Russelldale to several blocks at
Morningside. Like Palmetto Gardens, houses in private developments are
characterized by varying use of stock elements. Referring to Dorchester
Terrace, the News and Courier remarked that "no two houses look alike,
though as a matter of fact there are only about 12 different architectural
patterns in the entire area. The dwellings vary in size from four to six
rooms."” Design elements - dormers, portico hoods, porch and roof details -
were used in various combinpations, in a manner similar to the way in which
“builder's subdivisions® are undertaken today.

The federal government often used private architects, usually hired private
engineering firms, and almost always contracted with private builders to
plan and construct housing complexes on and off military bases. The engineer
and contractor, in turn, were to hire laborers and craftsmen, but there was
a scarcity of experienced laborers available for such short term work. Even
the WPR offered a skilled carpenter a more permanent job. Therefore govern-
ment contractors developed an "assembly-line" system, with specialized teams
handling foundation, framing, plumbing and other stages separately. Such
simplified and repetitive construction made it easier for large or untrained
work crews to build gquickly even without prefabrication. Private builders
soon adopted the tactics of standardized plans, unit prefabrication, and
specialized crews. Lessons learned during the war shaped the technigues
that subdivision builders still use.’4

Although many large tracts were available in the North Area, there was
almost an air of competition for suitable sites for war housing. 1In early
1943, when the V-Housing Corporation acquired three tracts near Five Mile
Viaduct, it was understood that the Housing Authority had also wanted one of
the sites. V-Housing Corporation was a venture of the Long family and
several partners. Through their general contracting firm (the Long Corpor-
ation), Leonard D. Long, an architect, and his brother J. C. Long, an
attorney, managed war housing complexes from land acquisition through
building design and construction. Operating as the Nafair Corporation, V-
Housing Corporation, Dorchester Terrace, and the Worth Agency, the Longs
were responsible for Nafair, Windsor Place, Dorchester Terrace, and Waylyn.
They built some of the Liberty Homes, and also built in other areas of
Charleston County: Garden Hill (Charleston) and Byrnes Downs (West Ashley).
Some neighborhoods they developed, such as Windsor Place and Nafair
Addition, had been laid out years earlier but were not developed until the
World War Two buildup created a market.’”

Between 1942 and 1943, Dorchester Terrace and Waylyn (totalling 2,000
houses) would double the number of houses in St. Philips and Michaels
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Parish. As Leonard D. Long proudly pointed out, V-Housing Corporation had
the best War Production Board (WPD) record in the nation in terms of
completion for occupancy. V-Housing's developments were important to the
general mobilization effort, so the WPD allowed them to purchase lumber,
concrete and other building materials. Electric, gas and water utilities
gave priority to their infrastructure requirements.’®

WAFAIR

In Janunary 1939 members of the Mappus family conveyed to the newly-formed
Nafair Corporation (Leonard D. Long) a parcel known as the "0Old Scanlon
Tract." To facilitate subdivision and development, this first deed incor-
porated covenants restricting commercial use and establishing minimum lot
sizes. Nafair's surveyor laid out a 94-lot subdivision in a triangle
(Admiral Drive and both sides of Dorchester Road) around a small park. By
May 1940, 70 houses were occupied. Like Palmetto Gardens, each lot included
a small one-car garage. At Nafair, these were built of corrugated metal, a
material soon to be stringently rationed. “Palmetto Gardemns, built a few
months later, had wood-frame garages, but later neighborhoods (see Whipper
Barony or Dorchester Terrace) did not include detached garages at all.

With the emphasis on irregular wings and extensions to rectangular cores,
gside entries, rooflines without eaves, and absence of decorative elements,
the architectural style seen in Nafair (Site #1816) is considered minimal-
traditional. The houses do retain some bungalow elements, including sub-
stantial facade porches on many, some with supports on pedestals. Windows
have standard 3/1 sash, unlike the oversized 8/8 windows of the federally
sponsored complexes (see Palmetto Gardens and Ben Tillman Homes), and also
unlike the mix of sash used at Dorchester Terrace. There are algso a few
picture windows, which became more popular in succeeding decades. Colonial
Revival influence is represented by a simple gable portico hood seen over
many front doors. Remaining garages, along rear lot lines, are visible from
Meeting Street Road.

Shortly after construction of Nafair began, the V-Housing Corporation
acquired "Nafair Addition." This had originally been laid out as part of
Cherokee Place, .ut was at the far side of the subdivision from the Navy
Yard, and only a few lots had been sold (Site #1821; see also Cherokee Place
Methodist Church at Rivers and Cosgrove). Nafair was nearly complete when
construction began in Nafair Addition. By July 1945 there were 200 houses
covering 57 acres in both sections of Nafair. The houses (Site #1820) in
the later section are fairly similar to those in Nafair, but with fewer
variations and ornamental details; they are very much like those in
Dorchester Terrace.’’

DORCHESTER TERRACE AND WAYLYN

Doxchester Terrace began as a "guinea pig" for the Federal Housing
Adminigtration (FHA) Title Six Program, and was built out in five stages as
1,250 houses. Residents included working families necessary to the success
of the Charleston Navy Yard, but not directly employed in the defense
industries: bakery, service station, and ice plant workers were all part of
the expanding North Charleston community, and needed housing.

With the encouragement of the Charleston Chamber of Commerce and the
Charleston County Legislative Delegation (who would expedite paving and
sewerage), members of the Long family and others (J. C. Long, L. D. Long,
Alberta S. Long; Seth J. Ferrara, Edward B. Harvey and J. T. Wilson)
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chartered borchester Terrace corporation in May 1940. They acquired a 67-
acre section of Accabee Farm from Wentworth Realty (Albert Sotille,
president). Known as the Conner Tract, the land (part of the estate of Wade
Hampton) had been conveyed by several Conner heirs to Wentworth Realty in
March 1940. Lying between Riverview Cemetery and Dorchester Road, the tract
was accessible to the Navy Yard via Accabee Road or Dorchester Road.

By April 1940 porxchester Terrace had been platted. There were 245 lots
along Harvey Avenue, Allen Drive, and Sorentrue Avenue, playground zones at
porchester Road and Azalea Drive (“Public Road"), and commercial areas along
porchester Road. The houses were quickly occupied, and the Longs planned an
expansion of the venture. 1In January 1942 V-Housing acquired most of Dor-
chester Terrace's remaining lots in Section One, and began Sections Two and
Three.

Section Two (22 acres, 83 lots) and Section Three (58 acres, 237 lots) were
laid out on two tracts adjacent to Riverview Cemetery. The cemetery and
high land, along with East Marsh (Accabee) Island, had been conveyed by the
receiver of the South Carolina Land and Trust Company to the Mortgage Loan
Company in 1929. Alberta S. Long acquired Section Three from Mortgage Loan
Company in 1940, and in early 1942 she conveyed it to V-Housing Corporation.

All three sections of Dorchester Terrace were successful, and V-Housing
began developing "Waylyn® (653 lots) which had previously been planned by
the Longs' Nafair Corporation. At the north side of Dorchester Road, Waylyn
was a l42-acre tract formerly owned by Pineland Park, Inc. Nafair conveyed
the land to V-Housing Corporation in August 1942. By September, V-Housing
Corporation had 122 houses underway; they were being completed at the rate
of ten to fifteen a day. In February 1943, Nafair Corporation conveyed an
additional nineteen acres, platted for subdivision as 107 lots, to V-
Housing. The company was already planning Section Four of Dorchester
Terrace, and began construction there while the last of Waylyn's 750 houses
were being completed.

The 142 lots of Dorchester Terrace Section Four were laid out around Surrey
Drive, on a parcel of land formerly known as Dorchester Farms. Accabee Road
was improved and extended as far as West Surrey Drive; its historic
continuation was then sealed off.

Section Five is at the east side of Dorchester Terrace, just west of
Cosgrove Avenue, and includes Cambridge, Aintree and Kent avenues, Bailey
Drive and Suffolk Street. It was laid out on the 97-acre Preston Tract of
Accabee Farm. The land had been conveyed in 1868 by John and Caroline
Preston to their children; in 1940 by Celestine B. FProst and Annie W. Simons
to Accabee Inc. (K. L. Simons, J. P. Frost, I. M. Read, Julian Mitchell Jr.,
and others) and by Accabee Inc. (Brantly W. Seymour and Frank J. Sotille)
to V-Housing Corporation.

The FHA's Title 6 Program to provide housing for war workers initially
disallowed sale of the houses. By mid-1943, the rules were changed so that
buildings could be sold, freeing up capital for continued new construction.
Community shopping centers and other commercial needs were anticipated in
the first plans for Dorchester Terrace, but could not be built until the
material shortages of the war years were over. They were begun in 1945 and
soon the commercial district along Dorchester Reoad included stores, a fire
station, Dorchester-Waylyn Baptist Church, and a medical office. The two
triangular parks of Section Three were maintained as open play fields, and
eventually deeded to the Cooper River Park and Playground Commission.
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Dorchester Terrace was established with restrictive covenants typical of
other war housing neighborhocds developed at the time (white resgidents only;
minimum amounts to be spent per house; no temporary occupancy; no
subdivision of lots). The requirement for houses to be set back at least
25' from the street resulted in front lawns much larger than those in
earlier North Charleston subdivisions. 1Its deep grassy lawns give Doxches-
ter Terrace the feel of a post-war development, but only Section Three
(Ferrara Drive, Madden Drive, Wye Lane and Stark Lane) was laid out with the
curving streets, irregular blocks and interior play areas that typify modern
suburbs. The other four sections are characterized by straight streets with
right-of-way strips wide enough for sidewalks (not built), and building lots
laid out as regular grids.

The houses in Dorchester Terrace were surveyed as eleven fundamental types,
some with carports, as Sites #1967.00 through #1967.19. Houses in Section
One were built with decorative wood trim at gable ends and porches, and many
of them featured carports. Those in Section Two are very similar to Section
One; Section Three has much less decorative ornamentation and fewer attached
carports. Sections Four and Five, built between 1943 and 1944, reflect war-
time restrictions on building materials and also rationing of gasoline and
rubber: they have very little orpamentation, and no carports. The gabled
vent louvers set into the rooflines of the houses in these later sections
are not decorative, but a functional way of cooling hipped-roofed houses.’8

WHIPPER BAROKY

Between Meeting Street Road and Rivers Avenue, Whipper Barony was laid out
in 1940 on a 79-acre tract that had been acquired by Christopher F.
Hottinger in 1880. Hottinger's own house on Meeting Street Road had a large
iron dog in its front garden, which became a mid-twentieth century icon to
-the generation then growing up in North Charleston. The area known today as
Iron Dog includes Whipper Barony and areas to the north and south.

Whipper Barony was surveyed and subdivided for Mrs. Adela Hottinger and her
son C. F. ("Fritz") Hottinger, Jr., proprietor of Hottinger's Hardware in
Charleston. Restrictive covenants attached to the master deed reflect the
housing shortage of 1940: no trailer, tent, shack, or garage was to be used
as a temporary residence. There could be no occupancy until a permanent
house was built.

The formal opening of “Charleston's Most Ideal Suburb" was announced in May
1940. Advertisements stressed Whipper Barony's excellent drainage, play-
ground, fire hydrants and sidewalks, and convenience to the Navy Yard,
churches, schools and bus service. Buyers were invited to choose a lot and
select from the company's stock of plans. Whipper Barony Development
Company would build the house for its new owner. 1In August the first lot
was sold. By the end of the year five more had been conveyed. During 1941
there was a steady sale of one or two lots a month. By June 1941 thirty
houses had been built and the neighborhood had become an "attractive village
on the NWorth Charleston Boulevard." Several houses (Site #1826) were built
by Hottinger between mid-1941 and April 1942. As with all subdivisions in
North Charleston, the pace picked up in 1942.

Whipper Barony was not an FHA project, and there may have been difficulties
obtaining mortgages, building materials, or even skilled labor. The success
of Nafair, with its essentially similar houses, shows that there was no lack
of demand for suburban residences, and that unbuilt homes could be success-
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fully marketed. However, Whipper Barony Development Company did not build
at the rate of its larger competitors.

In March 1943 Bottinger took a different tack, and sold 25 lots to General
HBousing Corporation. This company began building two- and three-bedroom
houses in Whipper Barony, with the houses to be sold as completed (Site
#1828). General Housing purchased 25 more lots and continued to build. By
March 1945 all fifty of its houses had been sold. They are recognizable
today by their similar plans, many with two chimneys, and several stock
elements at portico and door surrounds.

Even after World War Two, the Hottingers continued gradually selling out the
property in Whipper Barony. Many lots in the blocks between Hedgewood, Hot-
tinger, and Banyan were sold from late 1946 through 1948. The houses on
most of these parcels are in the spirit of the post-war "ranch," but several
(for example 3833 Chestnut Street and 2133 Bedgewood Avenue) are built in
the bungalow and minimal-traditional styles popular in the 1930s and 1940s.
The inteqgrity of the subdivision plan was protected when the original park
lots were conveyed to Cooper River Park and Playground Commission.

Whipper Barony Extension, at the east side of Rivers Avenue, was subdivided
in 1941. A few houses (Site #1828) along Helm Avenue and Christopher Street
were built by General Housing. Others (Site #1954) are compatible construc-
tion of minimal-traditional design. 1In the blocks along South Rhett Avenue
leading from Olde North Charleston are several vernacular-form bungalows
(Site #1955) that are almost certainly the work of independent contractors

and private builders.”?
INDUSTRY IN NORTH CHARLESTONM

The Charleston Navy Base has had a profound effect on the history of North
Charleston, but it has never been the only employer. Since the nineteenth
century, other manufacturing and transportation industries, including
several railroad lines, have provided employment and affected residential
patterns throughout the North Area.

In 1910 National Sand, Lime and Brick Company, a brick manufacturer, was
located at Ten Mile Hill. Little is known about this operation. Brick
making had been an important industry along the Cooper and Wando rivers
during the antebellum period. During a later era, sand mining affected
large areas in lower Dorchester County near the Ashley and Bdisto Rivers.80

During the early twentieth century, oil company tankers began to use wharves
on the Cooper River and Shipyard Creek. In March 1925 ten o0il tankers
reached Charleston Harbor. A year later, 18 tankers arrived, for Esso Stan-
dard 0il of New Jersey (Cooper River), Gulf 0il Company (Shipyard Creek),
Texas Company and Sinclair Refining (both at Olde North Charleston).8!

Pittsburgh Metallurgical Company of New York State company acguired the
sixty-acre Tuxbury Lumber Company (see "Timber") tract in 1939. Charleston
Neck had several desirable qualities for this chromium manufacturer.
Enormous gquantities of imported ore could arrive at the plant by water, and
the much less bulky finished product shipped by rail to steel manufacturers
in Pittsburgh. Electricity was promised at good rates by the new Santee-
Cooper project. Finally, there was an available labor source. BAlthough the
shipyard and nearby industries were employing thousands of local residents,
their operations were still segregated racially. Pittsburgh Metallurgical

54



their employees, and later (from 1904 to 1920) operated as a general post
office. In about 1890 the company abandoned its works at Lambs and built a
new processing plant at Fetteressa Plantation (today's Evanston Estates),
which it was still operating in 1897.85 Another large tract of land mined
by Charleston Mining and Manufacturing eventually became the Charleston Air
Force Base (see "Municipal Airport and Air Force Base"). In inland sections
nearer the Cooper River, large areas of forested land were unaffected by
phosphate mining.

The phosphate industry began to decline with the loss of state subsidies in
1892 and hurricane damage in 1893. Yet even as the phosphate industry
declined, there was still substantial activity. Some new land mines opened.
Francis S. Holmes' Ingleside Mining and Manufacturing Company was chartered
in 1896, and built a plant adjacent to the South Carolina Railway (Southern)
track on Ingleside, the former rice plantation Holmes had acquired in 1871.
As late as 1903 when the factory was destroyed by fire, the company pledged

to rebuild.’

In 1904 the Charleston News and Courijer reported ten companies engaged in
land mining, including Virginia-Carolina's several operations. The princi-
pal firm besides Virginia-Carolina was the Charleston Mining and
Manufacturing Company. By 1910 the phosphate industry was clearly waning,
suffering serious competition from FPlorida. Only four land mining companies
were still in operation in South Carolina: Charleston Mining and Manufact-
uring Company, C. C. Pinckney, Bolton Mines, and Bulow Mines. These
companies employed less than 1,200 men. The loss of European markets during
World War One, and improved chemical manufacturing afterward, ended the
phosphate industry forever. It had been supplanted by the new fertilizer
industry, which employed many former phosphate workers.

Fertilizer companies imported such material as potash, soda, fish scrap and
ammonium sulphate into Charleston, and exported fertilizer. Like phosphate
mills, they were hot and dusty workplaces filled with terrible odor. The
six companies in 1910 included Etiwan (established in 1868, chartered in
1900, operated into 1930s), Read Phosphate (see "Industry in 0Olde North
Charleston®), the MacMurphy Co. (1906), Planters' Fertilizer and Phosphate
Co. (1906) and the Virginia-Carolina Chemical Co. There were also five
importers. 1In 1910, with their plants scattered along Charleston Neck, the
North Area, and areas west of the Ashley River, altogether these fertilizer
manufacturers and importing firms employed almost 1,400 men, about 1,100 of
them African-Americans.

South Carolina's cotton farmers used fertilizer heavily: 248,000 tons in
1899, and over one million tons in 1919. However, as the boll weevil killed
the cotton industry, it reduced demand for fertilizer after 1920. Wwhile
various fertilizer companies operated on the Neck and in North Charleston
into the 19408, a high turnover in management and real estate indicates an
economically precarious industry.®’

FOREST AND TIMBER INDUSTRIES

Turpentine, tar pitch and resin, wood staves and shingles were produced by
raral entrepreneurs in parts of the Lowcountry throughout the antebellum
period. By about 1850, six sash and blind factories in the City of Charles-
ton were supplied by woodsmen working on both sides of the Ashley River.
North Charleston was probably home to some of the "shingle-getters" and
*mechanics” enumerated in the 1850 census.
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hired employees from among the local African-American community to construct
its plant; many of these workers were then trained in operational skills.

Beginning in late 1939, Pittsburgh Metallurgical remodeled the farmhouse
that had been Tuxbury's office (Site #1838) and poured foundations for the
furnace building. This was a completely-built factory purchased in New
York, dismanteled and shipped to North Charleston in sections. The plant
came on line in October 1941, and was the first commercial user of Santee-
Cooper's electricity. This three-furnace Building Number One is used today
as a plastics recycling plant and maintenance shop. Number Two Foundry,
placed inside a concrete building formerly used by Tuxbury, has been removed
from the property. The operational, two-~furpace "New Building” was erected
in 1970. The plant and 125-acre tract is owned today by Macalloy Corpor-
ation, and still produces chromium.8

PHOSPHATES AND PFERTILIZER

A forty-year phenomenon, phosphate mining-manufacturing was a major factor
in the Lowcountry's recovery from the Civil War, and in the establishment of
a wage-labor class of freedmen. Phosphate is found in vast beds under land
and water in a thirty-mile wide area centering on the Edisto, Port Royal and
Ashley rivers. It is mined from marl, deposits of calcified bones, whose
potential as a crop fertilizer additive had been known since at least the
early nineteenth century. As noted above, the Lowcountry's antebellum elite
were uninterested in manufacturing, and did not mine or process phosphates
until after the Civil War.

In 1867 Francis S. Holmes and N. A. Pratt, with capital invested by
Philadelphia backers, established the South Carolina Mining and Manufact-
uring Company. At about the same time, using local money, St. Julien
Ravenel organized the Wando Phosphate Company. Other partnerships and
corporations soon joined in. Their companies used trams and narrow-gauge
railways extensively, and also built standard-gauge railways and bridges to
haul rock. By 1888 there were 21 phosphate plants in the North Area, 12 of
them affiliated with the virginia-Carolina Chemical Company. This company
eventually absorbed most of the other firms.

Phosphate plants employed the old elite in management and operations, while
former slaves found mining an alternative to farming. Eighty percent (3,000
in 1880) of phosphate workers were black. Wage labor allowed them to move
into independent villages or segregated towns, such as those established by
Virginia-Carclina and other companies. Some of this housing was probably
like the stockade barracks of the Edisto Phosphate Mill, where chain gangs
working on county roads stayed during the early twentieth century.8?

Large tracts of land in North Charleston were affected by phosphate mining,
most noticeably at the central-west section. Chatsworth Plantation (St.
George, Dorchester, Parish) was acquired about 1889 by a phosphate fertil-
izer company. The manufacturing plant was placed at the site of the
residence, destroying the house and its oak grove.®8

In 1868 the Charleston Mining and Manufacturing Company acquired the 922-
acre Maryville~Soldier's Retreat Plantation, on the Ashley River, which was
thereafter known as "Lambs" for its former owner David W. Lamb. The company
mined the land, and established a wharf and processing mill. Adjacent to
both river and railroad, this mill was the most convenient for the Drayton
Hall mines across the Ashley River. Lambs Mill became a railroad stop, with
a post office established for the convenience of phosphate companies and
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puring the 1860s, naval stores and lumber production re-emerged as leading
industries in South Carolina, and during the 1870s the lumber industry
expanded rapidly. Timber was the post-Civil War industry that most affected
North Charleston's growth and development. Forest industries prospered in
areas of fertile but undrained soil that could not be planted in field
crops. In 1870, there were 54 tar and turpentine operations in South
Carolina; ten years later there were 192 (over one-third of the national
total). Many of the small operations were in the forested wetlands between
the Ashley and Cooper rivers.

Although board lumber companies felled the pine trees that turpentine makers
neaded to tap for resin, turpentine stills and small sawmills operated along
rail lines and waterways into the years of the Great Depression. Besides
board lumber and firewood, there were also small manufacturing companies
along the railroads. For example, in 1900 J. Freeman Williams of Charleston
organized a box and crate manufacturing plant at Woodstock Plantation. This
operated for several years until a fire in 1906 caused the Woodstock
Manufacturing Company to move to the upper Charleston peninsula.

With deep water channeling close to shore, Shipyard Creek and the west bank
of the Cooper River were as attractive to lumber companies as to other
industries. Timber from North Charleston or tracts across the Ashley or
Cooper River could be floated or hauled by rail to mills on the Cooper
River, and finished lumber loaded onto schooners. Timber companies built
mills and mill villages, brought in management, and hired local labor, black
and white. Like phosphate companies, they laid rail lines to connect their
stands of pine with main line railways, sometimes building temporary
sawmills and laborers' camps deep in the woods.

Around the turn of the twentieth century, three large mills were established
on the Cooper River: North State Lumber Company and A. C. Tuxbury Lumber
Company (both at Shipyard Creek near Four Mile), and Burton Lumber Company
(near Noisette Creek in Olde North Charleston). Hundreds were employed at
these mills, and hundreds more in the forests they harvested. In 1913 there
were seven lumber mills in anrd near Charleston. In terms of production, the
biggest was Tuxbury (35 million board feet annually), followed by Burton (30
million), and North State (12 millionr). In the City of Charleston were Hal-
sey (10 million feet) and Anderson (7 million).

North State Lumber Company (often known as Cherry Lumber) was organized in
North Carolina in 1890 under the management of Gisbourne J. Cherry. Cherry
moved to Charleston, and his company began timbering at the east side of the
Cooper River. In 1900 North State Lumber Company built a sawmill on
Charleston Neck to produce board lumber from logs rafted across the Cooper
River. Most of North State’'s cut-over land became part of the Francis
Marion National Forest during the 1930s. The company finally shut down its
lagt operation in 1956.

A. C. Tuxbury Lumber Company was formed by lumbermen from Tonawanda, New
York. They first logged at Magnolia Plantation, west of the Ashley River,
gradually expanded their area, and in 1905 built a sawmill on Shipyard Creek
adjacent to North State’'s mill. The largest lumber plant in the area, at
its peak Tuxbury employed four to five hundred workers in its sawmill,
planing mill and box factory. The mill burned in 1935. Like many forest
companies, during the early years of the Great Depression Tuxbury found it
impossible to retain ownership of tracts it had timbered. The company sold
much of its land for the Santee-Cooper project by the mid-1930s and closed
its Cooper River operation in 1939. Its office building (Site #1838),
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originally a farm house on the property, was later used by Pittsburgh
Metallurgical Company, and is now the office of the Macalloy Corporation
(see "Industry in North Charleston™).

E. P. Burton Lumber Company operated the only mill north of the Navy Yard.
Its production was slightly less than Tuxbury's, but Burton had a more
significant impact on the development of today's North Charleston. The E.
P. Burton Lumber Company (of Philadelphia) was chartered in the State of
South Carolina in 1504, with Elliott H. Burton, Maurice C. Burton, and
Edward W. Durant, Jr. as directors. The company had been operating in the
Lowcountry well before 1904, having acquired Limerick Plantation (in
Berkeley County) in 1899. E. P. Burton eventually bought 48,000 acres of
timber land on the Cooper River, including about 5,000 acres in the North
Area purchased in the 1890s, and Yeamans Hall Plantation, acquired in 1906.

Burton Lumber Company's mill was established before 1900 on part of the old
Oak Grove Plantation, on the Cooper River north of Noisette Creek and the
Navy Yard. Burton gave right-of-way strips to Atlantic Coast Line Railroad
and Southern Railway, to encourage them to build spur lines to its mill and
other strategic riverfront tracts. In late 1903 a fire at its planing mill
spread to several Southern Railway cars. Marines stationed at the Navy Yard
spotted the fire and helped fight it. The rebuilt mill was described in
1906 as a 60' by 185' building, with ten boilers providing steam to two
large saw engines. Between 1910 and 1913, Burton sold most of its water-
front and inland property in North Charleston. The purchasers, a partner-
ship of timber executives and Charleston businessmen, established Olde North
Charleston on the land. Adjacent to the new city, the mill and its commis-
sary operated until another severe fire in 1921 substantially destroyed it.
The site became part of the Navy Yard in 1941-42.88

WBEST VIRGINIA PULP AND PAPER COMPANY

Paper manufacturers use enormous quantities of wood, and in 1923 West
Virginia Pulp and Paper Company began buying forest land in South Carolina.
By 1936 the company owned 300,000 acres statewide. The company's direct
impact on North Charleston began with a plant to manufacture kraft (brown)
paper, paperboard, turpentine and derivatives.

The combination of nearby timberland, an abundant fresh water supply,
convenient railroads, river access, and a deep channel made the Cooper River
waterfront an attractive location for a paper plant. As an incentive, the
City of Charleston offered a lease of 300 acres of land at the old port
terminals (see "Army Installations™) to the West Virginia Pulp and Paper
Company. Work on the new plant began in July 1936. While construction was
underway, the company began delivering timber to the site. More than one
million trees were ready when the plant came on line. As many as 1,700 men
were employed by the companies constructing the factory; the estimate was
for 400 to be permanently employed there, and 700 more in the forests
providing wood.

In 1941, the federal government reclaimed the port terminal site for the
Army Ordnance Depot. West Virgiria Pulp and Paper constructed new office
and storage buildings to replace the lost space, and also relocated its
research labs from New York to North Charleston.

The original plant had been built so that another mill could be installed

without enlarging the buildings. A second paper machine became operational
in 1947, and a third in 1957. West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company employed
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1,200 in 1948 and 2,200 in 1987. Buildings at Westvaco have been signifi-
cantly altered and modified over time. However, the impact of West Virginia
Pulp and Paper Company can be seen in the development of Charleston Farms
and nearby areas, including Hanahan (Berkeley County) and Olde North
Charleston.

West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company's job opportunities and housing demands
came during the time that New Deal agencies were employing hundreds at the
Ravy Yard. As shortages intensified, the W. C. Wilbur Company ran adver-
tisements in the News and Courjer (September 1937} concerning the need for
new rental houses: "We have from five to ten calls each week from perma-
nently employed persons who want to rent houses in North Charleston.” An
interesting effect of so many new workers coming into North Charleston soon
after the trolley line closed (1934) was the construction of garage apart-
ments behind existing residences. Several properties in the 01d village
section of Olde North Charleston are said to have been planned for rental to
the newcomers who were building West Virginia Pulp and Paper's plant (see
Sites #1698.01 and 1718.01, both two-sStory garage/apartments built behind
earlier houses, and also Site #1721, a boarding house).8

GARCO

The General Asbestos and Rubber Company (today RM Engineered Products but
referred to most often as "Garco") was founded in Charleston in 1895 as
Charleston Metallic Packing Company, a manufacturer of “steam, hydraulic and
other packings used in the mechanical arts.” As the business grew, it
established manufacturing facilities at four additional locations on the
peninsula, including a building leased in 1909 for production of asbestos
varn and cloth. In 1910 the company's name was changed to General Asbestos
and Rubbexr Company. It continued to expand. In January 1915 Garco began
construction of a new plant at OClde North Charleston, designed to employ at
least 200 workers. This was the only factory to purchase a site within the
planned city.

Garco became an important national supplier of asbestos yarns for the
growing automobile brake lining industry. The Raybestos Company of Connect-
icut was a major customer, and between 1921 and 1924 acquired ownership of
Garco. Finally, headquarters was moved from downtown Charleston to North
Charleston. A 1929 merger led to the creation of Raybestos-Manhattan, Inc.,
with Garco one of its divisions. Raybestos-Manhattan expanded Garco between
1937-38, building and enlarging facilities for producing materials used by
the papermaking and chemical industries. West Virginia Pulp and Paper
Company and International Paper Company (of Georgetown), both opened in
1937, were principal customers.

In 1941, Garco's 500 employees produced asbestos yarn for brake 1lining and
clutch facing, asbestos fiber for a variety of fireproofing purposes,
asbestos cement for furnaces, and asbestos yarn for paper mill felts.
Production of asbestos cloth and cable for the Navy's shipbuilding program
increased during World wWar Two. The factory operated extended shifts, with
many employees working 55 hours a week.

Garco's first main building, now called Building Number One (Site #1660.00),
was designed in 1913 by Lockwood, Greene and Company, architects of many
South Carolina mills. A second building (Site #1660.01) was added in 1916.
The company bought several houses from the North Charleston Development
Company, then in 1915 began building its own housing. This was developed in
two segments: the main village for white employees, with hospital (Site
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#1661), boarding house, 75 residences, and athletic field; and the north
village at Deweys Hill (north of Durant Avenue), where mostly black
employees lived. The company built residences in the villages as needed. 1In
1941 there were a total of 245.%

During the 1970s and 1980s Garco sold many of the houses for removal from
Garco Village. Several of them retain their historic appearance, in new
locations from Cherokee Place to Highland Terrace to Liberty Hill (see Site
#1662 for Garco Village houses). No historic buildings were identified at
Deweys Hill. The area has been impacted by the construction of Highway I-
526 (Mark Clark Expressway) and buildings relocated or demolished.

OTHER INDUSTRIES IN OLDE NORTH CHARLESTON

In 1893 the Read Fertilizer Company (organized in 1B74 in Virginia) acgquired
a 70-acre site on the Cooper River, just south of Filbin Creek. The company
congtructed a mill, acid chamber, sheds and wharves, and arranged for a spur
of the South Carolina and Georgia Railroad to extend from Ten Mile to the
plant. In 1898 Read Fertilizer was reorganized as Read Phosphate Company.
In about 1936 the company was absorbed by Davison Chemical Corporation of
Maryland, and its 50-acre tract conveyed to Davison; Read continued to
operate as a division of Davison. A 1940 plat shows the old mill building,
a newer mill to its south, office, warehouses and wharves, and a laborers
village at the west gide of Virginia (Cosgrove) Avenue near Deweys Hill.
The Read tract was eventually acquired by the Hewitt 0il Terminal Company,
and in 1969 by Amerada Hess Corporation. None of the fertilizer company
buildings remain on the site.?

In 1911 Read Phosphate sold the southern 21 acres of its land to the Coe-
Mortimer Company of New York, a manufacturer of fertilizers with a local
office in Charleston. In 1913 Coe-Mortimer conveyed the property to the
American Agricultural Chemical Company of Connecticut, which operated the
Ashepoo Fertilizer Works on the Ashley River side of Charleston Neck (south
of North Charleston). It is not clear how the Cooper River property land
was used after Coe-Mortimer's sale. The Sanborn Company insurance map for
1921 indicates Dixie House Company's sawmill and planing mill here. The
tract was acquired by lumberman John F. Prettyman in 1926, and the 1941
Sanborn map shows this as Specialty Wood Products Inc., with two lumber
sheds, a sawmill and a planing mill (none remain today).92

In 1910, the Texas Company, "largest competitor of Standard 0il Company, "
had purchased a 38-acre tract south of the Coe-Mortimer tract, bounded south
and west by lands of the Burton Lumber Company, and fronting on the Cooper
River. There was also a right-of-way to build a spur line across Burton's
land to the the Atlantic Coast Line Railrocad tracks. Texas 0il Company
established a distribution center with wharves and a large plant. Title to
the land was conveyed to Texaco Refining and Marketing in 1985. Nomne of the
historic buildings remain.33

The Oakdene Compress Company was established by John F. Maybank of
Charleston in 1911. Under its president R. Goodwyn Rhett (former mayor of
Charleston, and a principal developer of North Charleston), in 1913 Oakdene
built a large complex of wharves, warehcuses and compresses at the edge of
the planned new town. Oakdene received cotton by a spur line connected to
the principal railroad tracks, compressed it into enormous bales, and
shipped it overseas. 1In 1930 this was one of the largest compresses in the
cotton states, with the capacity of handling 250,000 bales each season.

60



P

With the recovery of European cotton prices after World War Two, Oakdene
Compress briefly became a major business again. Fertilizer manufacturing
was a compatible indastry to cotton warehousing. 1In 1941, to take advantage
of increased cotton planting statewide, the Maybank Company ({begun in 1916)
built a new factory, with a capacity of 35,000 toms of fertilizer annually,
at the rear of the Oakdene site. The heirs of the Maybank Company and
Oakdene Compress and Warehouse Company still own 25 acres on the Cooper
River at East Montague, but none of the historic buildings remain. 94

Sinclair Refining Company came into North Charleston in late 1925. The
company acquired a 2l-acre site south of Oakdene Compress, established
wharves, and built a refinery/distribution center. Sinclair 0il merged with
Atlantic Richfield Company in 1969, and the North Charleston property was
eventually (1988) conveyed to the Koch Refining Company of Kansas. None of
the historic buildings remain.?

NEW DEAL PROGRAMS

After the post-World War One military cutbacks, Charleston County was
affected severely by the Great Depression of the late 1920s-1930s. The
local unemployment rate rose from 4% in 1930 to over 20% by January 1932.
Some relief began in 1933 when the Federal Emergency Relief Administration
{FERA) dispensed $500 million for relief. Direct relief was soon over-
shadowed by the public works and employment programs of Franklin Roosevelt's
New Deal and its “"alphabet soup” agencies. Between 1933 and 1936,
continuously prodded by Senator James F. Byrnes and Charleston mayor (1931-
1938) Burnet Maybank, New Deal programs funneled almost $35 million into the
City and County of Charleston.?®

The Federal Emergency Administration of Public Works, popularly known as the
Public Works Administration (PWA), and the Works Progress Administration
{WPA) are the New Deal agencies that had the most visible impact on North
Charleston. The Civil Works Administration (CWA) had a much briefer term,
and built fewer large facilities.

The PWA was responsible for school improvements, a build-up of the Navy
Yard, and the creation of the Bousing Authority of the City of Charleston.
In 1933 the Charleston Housing Commission was established as Charleston's
local agency to coordinate PWA projects. They built one successful project,
Cooper River Court and Meeting Street Manor, thenrn both agencies were
reformulated about 1937. The Housing Authority of the City of Charleston
took over the local role, and the PWA transferred its housing programs to
the new United States Housing Authority (USHBA). Between 1935 and 1941, the
USHA approved five projects in the City of Charleston. These laid the
groundwork for government involvement in housing for war workers during the
early 1940s. The USHA and the Housing Authority of the City of Charleston
were principal agencies in the development of NWorth Charleston's wartime
housing projects.®?

The Civil Works Administration (CWA), begun in November 1933, employed
workers for projects of "social and economic value" on public property:
schools, sewers, and the like. The CWA was a short-lived program, but
during its four month tenure, its workers built or improved 40,000 schools,
3,500 parks or playgrounds, 1,000 airports, and 500,000 miles of road
nationwide. One CWA project in Charleston County was the Municipal Prison
Farm, built on part of the Chicora Park land. The federal government used
the mess hall, manager's house, barracks, and other frame and brick
buildings built by the CWa until 1937, first as a camp for unemployed
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veterans and then as a National Youth Administration facility. In 1939 it
was finally prepared for inmates of the County Prison system. Very shortly
thereafter, Charleston County conveyed the 66-acre tract to the federal
government for George Legare Bomes (see "Government-Built War Housing® and
“County Prison Farm"). A few of the 1933 brick buildings were incorporated
into the housing complex (Site #1519).%8

The Works Progress Administration (WPA), bequn in 1935, was a semi-permanent
work relief agency that lasted until 1943. Eighteen hundred WPR workers
began 31 projects in South Carolina in August 1935, and in December they
took over some uncompleted FERA projects. During the eight-year life of the
WPA, workers in South Carolina built or improved 2,179 schools, and built
1,267 non-educational public buildings such as courthouses and jails. In
the nipe-county district that inclwded Charleston, WPA employment exceeded
10,000 at its peak. aAbout half the district's workers were Charleston
County residents. WPA projects in North Charleston included widening
Cosgrove Avenue (1938), engineering Spruill and Rivers Avenues (1939),
improving Pinehaven Sanitorium and Charleston Municipal Airport; laying
streets and sewers at Palmetto Gardens (1941); and improving the North
Charleston athletic field (Attaway Field), home field for the hotly
competitive Garco baseball team. The wooden bleacher stands and even out-
door lights built by the WPA were finally recycled at other playgrounds of
the Cooper River Park and Playground Commission in 1955, when the field was
conveyed to Cooper River School District #4 and rebuilt as Heinsohn-Attaway
Stadium (Site #1651).

The WPA absorbed PWA projects at the Charleston Navy Yard, and initiated
additional work. Some of the projects were done in cooperation with private
contractors. The 1938 machine shop extension was put out to bid for a
construction company to build it with WPA labor. As many as 1,800 Charles-
tonians were employed on PWA/WPAR projects at the Navy Base and shipyard in
the late 1930s. The WPA built piers, shipways, storehouses, a pipe shop,
electric shop, and ten quarters houses "designed in the tropical manner,”
and known today as the “"Panama houses.” The largest public works project at
the Navy Base was the 380-bed hospital (1941). Like all the shop buildings,
the hospital was constructed of reinforced concrete, a material that was
dedicated to the war effort. Concrete, masonry and steel frame construction
was completely curtailed except for defense purposes after 1942.

The final phases of the New Deal overlapped with the early phases of the
buildup for World war Two. At the same time that housing projects were
being converted for war-worker housing, a number of Charleston's public
properties were converted for military purposes. Because local budgets were
strained by population increases, the federal government funded some civic

improvements through defense moneys. To accommodate hundreds of new
families, the Federal Works Agency (FWA) built several schools (see
"EBducation and School Buildings"). The agency was also responsible for the

North Charleston USC Club (Site #1510.01) at Park Circle and a separate USO
Club for black servicemen in front of Liberty Hill School (facing Montague
Avenue). Both club buildings were purchased by the Cooper River Park and
Playground Commission in 1946. The Liberty Hill clubhouse was converted
into Felix Pinckney Community Center, and hasg been rebuilt as a modern
recreational facility. The Park Circle c¢lubhouse became headquarters for
the Park and Playground Commission, and was renamed to honor Felix C. Davis
in the 1970s.99
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ARMY INSTALLATIONS

The North Area has been home to several military installations besides the
Charleston Navy Base and Naval Weapons Station. Harbor access, availability
of large tracts of vacant land, and the naval shipyard itself were factors
in site selection for embarkation ports, depots, hospitals and air bases.
Like that of the navy, army construction reflects experience and philosophy,
time and place. World War Two personnel growth fiqures for the United
States Army parallel the navy, from 210,000 solders nationwide in September
1939 to 300,000 in August 1940. From August 1940 to June 1941 the army
completed housing for almost one million men.

Puring World War One, the United States Army developed a comprehensive set
of building designs, the 600 Series, that were to be used interchangeably in
creating camps. During the 1930s the emphasis shifted away from the 600
Series to prefabricated wooden buildings that could easily be erected by
army troops or Civilian Conservation Corpsmen unskilled in construction.

These one-story buildings fell out of favor with mobilization for World War
Two. The Quartermaster Corps was charged with providing guarters for a huge
army inside the United States. To house thousands of new soldiers, the 700
Series of designs, under development for a decade, was implemented. The
essential design was for two-story buildings of platform construction, on
concrete or masonry footings, with wood siding and rolled bituminous roofing
over wood sheathing. The most distinctive feature of the 700 Series is the
pent roof at all elevations of the building above the first floor level.
The principal roof eaves were fairly shallow (for a contrast, see the deep
eaves on the "Panama houses™ at the Navy Base), and the continuous eave or
"aqua media" was intended to deflect water from the windows and ground level
of the wood building.

'@he most important and widespread type of the 700 Series was the two-story
barracks for enlisted men. Some of the first 700 Series barracks were at
Camp Jackson in Columbia (now Fort Jackson). Nowhere at North Charleston
was a full Training Cantonment constructed, but cantonment barracks were
used at other types of army facilities. Series 700 barracks were built at
Stark General Hospital and the Port of Embarkation.

In June 1540 the army suspended permanent construction at all posts,
mandating that only temporary structures be built. These buildings needed
to last longer than the six months a canvas tent might last, but were not
expected to stand longer than ten or twenty years. Wood would last that
long, and allowed the government to save metal for combat. From 1939 to
1944 the arwy built more than 30,000 temporary wooden buildings throughout
America. The need to provide at least some comfort and convenience to army
recruits had resulted in well-designed buildings that were useful for many
more years than anticipated, and as late as 1985, nearly 24,000 of them were
standing.

Series 800 buildings began during 1941-42 as a modification of 700 Series.
Structurally, two-story buildings of the 800 Series were improved by the use
of balloon construction, but the most visible difference is the abandonment
of the aqua media for one- and two-story buildings. At least some of the
wards at Stark Hospital were from the 800 Series.l100
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PORT TERMINALS/PORT OF EMBARKATION/ORDNAMCE DEPOT

In about 1917, the federal government requisitioned from the North
Charleston Company 1,500 acres north of Filbin Creek, to build
quartermasters docks and port terminals. An animal embarkation facility was
prepared to ship mules and horses ("remounts”) to the army in Europe. The
road to the animal pens and dock became known as Remount Road. Built by a
private contractor using hundreds of laborers from the British West Indies,
the port terminals were used throughout World War One, finally as the 1919
landing point for soldiers returning from Europe. After the war, the
federal government turned over the terminals and docks to the City of
Charleston. In 1937 the city leased 300 acres of waterfront land at the
Port Terminals, with buildings and wharves, to West Virgipia Pulp and Paper
Company. The plant used the site until 1941, when it was again claimed by
the government and became the Army Port of Embarkation and Ordnance Depot.

In 1937 the United States Army selected Fort Moultrie on Sullivans Island as
an east coast port of embarkation, a base for shipping troops overseas. The
facility was relocated to the opposite (east) end of Sullivans Island in
1940, and enlarged. At the same time, an overseas discharge and replacement
depot was built on the grounds of the new Stark Army General Hospital. The
Stark branch soon became headquarters. In mid-1941, the army decided to
ship supplies as well as men from Charleston, and reclaimed the port
terminals from West Virginia Pulp and Paper for a new Port of Embarkation.
Under the Quartermaster Corps, private construction companies started 3,000
men on the job in June 1941, building barracks and a new 2,000-foot dock,
and repairing old warehouses. The work was expected to require 5,000 men
and six months.

The U.S. District Engineer's Office (Army Corps of Engineers) let contracts
to private firms for dock improvements at the Ordpance Depot in June 1941.
By December 1941 the expansion program was estimated at $3 million.
Carloads of shells and ammunition arrived by rail to be reworked and
reloaded in separate, highly-reinforced plants.

During World War Two, thousands of soldiers were shipped through North
Charleston for active duty. Late in the war as overseas manpower require-
ments were reduced, the port and barracks used less and less. By February
1944, stark Hospital had taken over the port of embarkation as a hospital
annex, connecting it to the main hospital by a shuttle bus service. Thirty
of the 700 Series barracks buildings were modified as wards for ambulatory
patients, linked by walkways constructed of hollow clay tile. Stark Annex
was occupied in September 1944, and by February 1945 had handled 11,000
patients.101

STARK GEWERAL HOSPITAL

Accabee Plantation was on the Ashley River east of Brickyard Creek, in St.
Andrews Parish. Part of a 1694 land grant to William Elliott, Accabee was
inherited by his granddaughter Ann Elliott (Mrs. Lewis Morris), and divided
into two tracts in 1855. Stark Army Hospital Reservation was established on
the sonthern tract, where the 1855 plat shows an "old avenue" leading from
Dorchester Road to the dwelling and cemetery. (Dorchester Terrace
subdivigsion was also partly built on Accabee.) In 1919 one brick wall of
the Elliott house remained, and the "Morris"™ burial ground, where there were
eight 19th century grave markers in poor condition. These were to be
retained when the property was used for Stark Army General Hospital, but
were not identified during survey field work fifty years later.
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Built on a 240-acre site, the hospital comprised 81 buildings connected by
walkways, many of them covered. There were thirty-three 150' X 25°' wards;
five quarters buildings, each for 24 nurses; nine 54-man medical detachment
barracks; two administrative buildings, a post exchange, and numerous other
functional buildings. Construction began in early 1940. Over 1,200 men
worked toward a scheduled completion of March 1941, with a budget of
$1,500,000. Although the hospital was temporary wood construction (concrete
was used only for outdoor walkways), the medical equipment was complete and
modern.

Stark BHospital treated seriously ill or wounded soldiers who were expected
to require several months of hospitalization. Veterans from the African and
Italian fronts were shipped to Stark, where they joined soldiers from camps
throughout the South. By summer 1943, Stark Hospital had treated over
10,000 soldiers, and had grown to more than 100 buildings. Many of the
civilian workers at the hospital were assigned to housing at John C. Calhoun
Bomes and other facilities in North Charleston. As the impact of the war
extended to shortages of goods for the home market, the hospital started its
own farm to raise poultry and vegetables on a 29-acre section of the
hospital grounds.

With the end of the war, Stark Army General Hospital was surplus property.
In 1946, the T"Charleston Industrial Association,” a group of sixteen
businessmen, purchased the site. They divided it into small industrial
sites, named streets for local men, and promoted the new Stark Industrial
Park nationwide. By June 1947 ten businesses had moved in. In 1949 there
were 33 small and medium-sized manufacturing and ancillary concerns
operating on the former hospital reservation. Some of the hospital's
temporary buildings and the rail spur built for troop transport were
retained, and are still in use today (Site #1945).102

CHARLESTON MUNICIPAL AIRPORT AND CHARLESTON AIR FORCE BASE

Charleston Municipal Airport was established in 1928 on a former phosphate
mining tract leased from the Charleston Mining and Manufacturing Company.
The City of Charleston needed a "first class, safe and conveniently located
airport,” and the North Area was the logical place for it. 1In 1929 a Board
of Governors of the Airport was established to manage the airport, only a
temporary landing field without buildings, roads, or a fee schedule.

Development of the airport began in 1931, when the city signed a lease with
Dixie Air Transport. The Municipal Airfield was modernized when the WPA
(see "New Deal") paved its three runways in 1935; the administration
building was also "enlarged a little." Charleston Municipal Airport was
served by both Eastern Air Lines and Delta Air Lines.

Private and commercial aviation increased, and larger airplapes came into
passenger service. Runways were built and expanded by the WPA and also by
private contractors. Annually, the board of governors requested a new
administration building, and by 1540 were eager for a new hangar as well.
In December 1941 private traffic was curtailed when the U.S. Army Air Corps
began to use the airport as a military air base. Private leases were ter-
minated when the War Department took 1,011 acres at the airport for the
period of the war and one year thereafter (regularly-scheduled commercial
passenger planes could still operate). In 1942, the United States enlarged
the base by acquisition of 1,000 adjacent acres. The field was used as an
operations base for planes combatting submarines along the Atlantic Coast,
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then as a trairing field for bomber crews. As the war wound down, ferry
pilots were trained at North Charleston to evacuate troops from abroad.

Barly in 1946 all military activity ceased at the Charleston Municipal
Airport. It was gradually released to the city by the Federal Government,
which retained the western section was retained as Charleston Air Force
Base. (The Air Force became a separate pranch of the service after World
War Two.) Although all the buildings and runways at the first airport have
been altered or replaced several times, the airport and Air Force Base, have
had a marked impact on the section of North Charleston west of Ten Mile
Hill. Lambs was subdivided for residential development in 1946. Post-1950
schools, shopping centers and subdivision neighborhoods serve the large
population associated with Charleston Air Force Base.

The army had improved the airport with a control tower, longer runways, a
temporary administration building, several Butler hangars, and other
buildings such as barracks, shops, and mess halls. There was still not a
gatisfactory administration building. Finally, in 1946 the City of Charles-
ton appropriated $150,000 for a new administration building. Designed by
the Charleston architectural firm of Simons and Lapham, the building was
completed in 1948.103

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PROPERTIES

After the conveyance of most of Chicora Park to the federal government, the
City of Charleston retained ownership of a sizable tract of land. This has
been used for a variety of public purposes, including a World War Two-era
land swap that increased govermment land ownership in North Charleston.

PINEHAVEN SANITORIUM

pPinehaven Sanitorium was developed in 1924. During World War One, this part
of the City of Charleston lands had been used by the army, which bumilt
barracks (ca. 1917-1918) for soldiers in training. With the post-war lull,
the 54-acre tract again became vacant. Its elevation and large pine trees
were in keeping with contemporary ideas about the healtkhiest places for
"consumptives" (tuberculosis patients), so the Charleston County Tubercu-
losis Association selected it for Pinehaven Sanitorium. Patients began to
move in before the first building, constructed of material reclaimed from
the Army barracks, was completed. Soon there were "“two long white ward
buildings," segregated for white and black patients, both with nurses' quar-
ters on the second level. There were often more than two hundred patients at
Pinehaven. Additional buildings were gradually erected, as funding was
available through Easter Seals, private donations such as Duke Foundation
grants, and limited state and local funding. In 1948 Pinehaven Sanitorimm
included three wooden buildings and their annexes; the Sanborn Company
insurance map of the complex, updated in 1951, shows only two ward buildings
and a single dwelling house.

During the late 1940s the "worn out" buildings at Pinehaven Sanitorium were
considered firetraps. Although there was sentiment for a modern facility on
the existing tract, the new Pinehaven Hospital (opened in 1949; absorbed by
the county hospital in 1953) was built on Calhoun Street in the City of
Charleston. The Pinehaven site was sold in 1955. After debate among local
civic groups, who favored returning its park function, and planners and
business interests, who promoted the use of this centrally-located site as a
shopping center, it opened as Pinehaven Shopping Center (Shipwatch Square)
in 1959.104
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Parts of the Pinehaven site are used today for Cooper River Memorial Library
and the Charleston County Sheriff's Department Headquarters. None of the
sanitorium buildings remain. Near Shipwatch Square, at 3751 Meeting Street
Road (Site #1871), is a collection of World War One-era buildings that were
moved to their site by 1947, and are said to have been Army barracks. They
may have been moved from the Pinehaven tract.

COUNTY PRISON FARM

Corn Hill Plantation was on the Ashley River west of Brickyard Creek. In
1856, it was conveyed (481 acres) to Arthur and Walter Middleton, and later
became the property of the Mappus family. They may have added to the ori-
ginal Corn Hill; its size may have been refiqured by a later surveyor. In
1942 it was described as a 525-acre tract, formerly owned by the Mappus
Estate, and the new site of the County Prison Farm. This was part of the
complex intragovernmental arrangements through which Charleston's Municipal
Prison Farm was conveyed to the County of Charleston, then to the federal
government, which developed it as George Legare Homes. To build a new
prison farm, the County Board of Commissioners acquired Corrn Hil1.105
Although the County of Charleston Detention Facility and other public
service properties are still located on parts of the Prison Farm tract,
Leeds Avenue east of I-526, the strongest remembrance of its history may be
the County Farm Boat Landing at the foot of Bridge View Drive.

EDUCATION AND SCHOOL BUILDINGS

The Charleston County schools in today's North Charleston are in Cooper
River School District #4 and St. Andrews District #10, two of sixteen school
districts established in 1878. They represent several aspects in North
Charleston's history. Many of the area's first schools are well-remembered;
some have nearly been forgotten. One of the forgotten properties is a
"school house” shown at the west side of Meeting Street Road on a 1910 plat
of a sixteen-acre tract at Seven Mile Junction.106

Further from the suburbs that became today's North Charleston was Ladson, a
significant rural ~rossroads village that was annexed from Berkeley into
Charleston County in 1920. Ladson Consolidated School (Site #1903) opened
in Japwary 1925, with fifty white pupils who had been attending Summerville
schools. The older Ladson School had been vacated several years before. 107

This rural consolidated school was part of a statewide drive in the 1920s
for central schools to replace one- and two-room buildings. From 1916-1929
nineteen schools for whites and twelve for blacks were erected throughout
Charleston County. Central and high schools for whites were organized from
Edisto Island to McClellanville to North Charleston. As at Ladson, schools
for black and white were often sited near each other. In residentially
segregated areas, such as Liberty Hill or Chicora, there was only one.
Black schools were affected by consolidation less than white: in 1927 there
were more than twice as many black schools than white; in 1929 there were 74
black schools and 28 white schools in Charleston County. As late as 1931
over half of South Carolina's black pupils attended school in lodge halls,
churches, and similar buildings.108

Schools were part of the first plans for Olde North Charleston. North
Charleston Graded School, designed by Fred J. Orr, was a frame building on
East Mopntague Avenue. It opened in 1915 with twenty pupils. A larger
graded school was built in 1922 on burant Avenue, in the northeast quadrant
of North Charleston (North Charleston Elementary School, Site #1525). On
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the other hand, the plans for Chicora Place and Cherokee Place did not
include school lots. Children were expected to travel to scattered small
schools until 1921 when the first Chicora Elementary School opened. It was
replaced in 1935 by the present Chicora Graded School (Site #1520) at the
west side of Chicora Avenue.109

North Charleston High School began on Rast Montague Avenue, apparently in
the original North Charleston Elementary building. This four-room wooden
bonilding at the rear of the present high school lot, facing “Third Street”
or Jenkins Avenue, was replaced by a $65,000 two-story school, with audi-
torium, that opened in January 1927. The old school burned to the ground
the pext day. In 1928 there were ten teachers and 129 students at North
Charleston High School. The building was enlarged in 1938, then finally
demolished in 1983.110

In 1928 there were eleven elementary schools, three white and eight black,
in Cooper River School District 4. The elementary schools included Worth
Charleston, Chicora and Ladson for whites; Four Mile and Rosemont (south of
North Charleston), Six Mile, Liberty, Saxon (pear Midland Park), Ashley
Phosphate, Ladson, and Lincolnville for blacks. Two schools that were
included in the 1923 Directory, Three Mile and Deweys Hill, had closed by
1928. (Three Mile and Rosemont may be the same schocl.) White enrollment
ranged from 64 pupils and two teachers at Ladson to 370 pupils and eleven
teachers at North Charleston Graded. Schools for blacks generally had a
higher ratio of students per teacher ranging from Ladson, 41 pupils and one
teacher, to Liberty, 213 pupils and four teachers. Most of St. Andrews Dis-
trict 10 was west of the Ashley River, but there were two schools in North
Charleston, Lambs and Dorchester, both for black pupils.1ll

puring the 19308, public schools in North Charleston and suburban Charleston
County operated at maximum capacity as Navy Yard employment increased, and
as residents of outlying areas and the islands relocated. Public school
enrollment figures illustrate the population shifts. Outside the City of
Charleston, total enrollment increased from 3469 to 3711 (7%) from 1937 to
1938. 57% of the total countywide increase was in four North Charleston
schools: North Charleston High, North Charleston Graded, Chicora, and
Midland Park (built in 1936, Site #1858); another 17% was in three West
Ashley schools (James Island, Riverland Terrace, St. Andrews). Average
increase at these seven schools was 11%, substantially more than the
countywide 7% increase. In 1938, Chicora‘'s enrollment was 516; North
Charleston High, 386; North Charleston Graded, 395; and Midland Park, 120.
Of the area's white schools, only Ladson (96 pupils) was unchanged from
1937.112

Most of the white schools in North Charleston were enlarged and improved
between 1938-39 by the Public Works Administration (PWA). A rear wing
nearly doubled the size of North Charleston Graded School; ten classrooms
and a cafeteria were added to North Charleston High School; eight classrooms
and a cafeteria to Chicora Elementary School; and a classroom, auditorium,
heating plant and a well for running water at Ladson School. PWA programs
allowed local school districts to largely manage the projects. At least in
Charleston County, the result was that architects and contractors were drawn
from the area, providing local employment.113

As the World War Two buildup brought hundreds of young families into North
Charleston, schools experienced overcrowding and double sessions. The
Federal Works Agency (FWA) built several schools, beginning in 1942 with Ben
Tillman Graded School (Ronald P. McNair Elementary, Site #1526), constructed
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Forth Charleston High Schoel Just Before Demolition (1983)
File Photo, Courtesy of Post-Courier Newspais
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Park Circle Community Center, ca. 1950
From the Postcard Collection of the Charleston Museim




on a site donated by the Housing Authority to the Pederal Government.
School officials had already begun to apply to the FWA for assistance in
building a new high school at Chicora to relieve North Charleston High
School. Chicora BHigh School (Norman C. Toole Middle School, Site #1521)
finally opened in January 1944, with 617 students.l1}4

Just as “demountable” units were erected for military and civilian housing,
the FWA undertook construction of temporary school buildings. In early 1943
the Cooper River School District #4 applied for two new schools, to be
“temporary buildings, built to government-supplied plans, under the super-
vision of local architects.” One was constructed at the center of Liberty
Homes, and one on borchester Road adjacent to Dorchester Terrace and Waylyn.
The FWA also built Daniel Jenkins and Read Hill graded schools for children
of African-American war workers. All these temporary graded schools have
been replaced or demolished.l1®

During the 1950s, Rorth Charleston's school-aged population again exceeded
school capacity. Until Malcolm C. Hursey Elementary School was built near
the south end of Durant Avenue, overflow classes from North Charieston
Elementary School met at the Park Circle Community Center.116

RELIGION AND CHURCH BUILDINGS

The first colonists in South Carolina were almost equally divided between
Anglicans and Dissenters (Presbyterians, Baptists, Congregationralists and
Quakers). Religious freedom was promised to settlers, and by about 1680
Dissenters were in the majority. After 1685 significant numbers of French
Huguenots began to arrive. By 1702 Charleston held a thorough mix of
faiths. Most settlers were Anglican or Calvinist (including French Bugue-
nots); there was a strong Baptist minority, a very few Quakers, and an
uncertain number of Jews. The Church of England was weakened by the Ameri-
can Revolution, then South Carolina‘'s 1790 constitution abolished the
established church altogether. The Anglican Church was transformed into the
Protestant Episcopal Church, today's Episcopal Church.1l7

As early as 1701 the Anglican Society for the Propagation of the Gospel had
begun missionary work among slaves and Native Americans. In 1712 an Act
made it lawful for slaves in South Carolina to be baptized as Christians,
but there were continuing disputes among whites as to the nature that slave
worship should take. During the early 1800s, legislation restricting black
religious assgsemblies had the effect of keeping slaves ir the established
white denominations, rather than in independent black churches . 118

There were Baptists in Charles:ton well before 1700. In 1725 Richard and
Sarah Butler gave six acres of their Dorchester Road plantation for a
Baptist meeting house. It stood at the southeast (inland) edge of Tippseeboo
Plantation, near the spot where Dorchester Road is intersected by the road
from Windsor Hill. In 1762 the meeting house was replaced by a "neat brick
building,"” 43' by 28'. However, this early Baptist congregation was dimin-
ishing by the time of the American Revolution, and extinct by 1785. The
Baptist faith began to spread after the revolution, particularly in
upcountry South Carolina. In the Lowcountry, Baptist preacher Richard
Furman, a native of Daniel Islancd, was active between 1787 and 1825.
However, the Baptist Church did not grow as rapidly as in other areas of the
state: in 1790 of forty-four churches in South Carolina, only five, with
total membership of 507, were in the Lowcountry.l1}?
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Because the Methodist Church began as a society within the Anglican Church,
its pmame first evolved as the Methodist Episcopal Church. Not until after
the post-Revolutionary disestablishment did the Methodist Church begin to
flourish in the Lowcountry. Ewvangelist Francis Asbury reached Charleston in
1785; by 1787 there were 2,070 white and 141 black Methodists in South
Carolina and Georgia. By 1796 this had risen to 3,583 (24% of them black)
in South Carolina alene. The distinctive Methodist custom of camp meetings
reached the North Charleston area at least by 1814, when a prominent
campground was bequn at either Ladson or Goose Creek. This camp meeting was
still active in 1847. By the middle of the nineteenth century, the African-
American component of the Methodist Church was strong and growing.120

Although the term Methodist Episcopal has been replaced by United Methodist,
Soutbern Methodist, or other names, the African Methodist Episcopal (BAME)
Church still reflects the o0ld name. Organized in 1787, the AME became a
numerically important denomination in South Carolina between 1866-1899, when
Africapn-Americans began to organize their own churches. In the spring of
1865 large numbers of AME missionaries began to come into South Carolina,
and membership grew rapidly. The northern Methodist Episcopal Church also
continued its missionary work in the South, and in 1868 established separate
black conferences. Most of the black Methodist churches in Charleston
County were affiliated with the Northern Methodist church. An example is
Wesley ME Church, at the north side of Ladson Road (in the area included in
the Charleston County Survey, 1990-52), founded in 1870. Remodeled in 1965
and again in 1973, the church still retains an early spire with pressed-
metal roofimg. It is a substantially larger building than the 1887 Wesley
Methodist Episcopal at nearby Lincolnville.l?l

As black Methodists in South Carolina joined these separate conferences or
other denominations, their membership in the Methodist Episcopal Church,
South (Southern Methodist), fell. In 1871, the church encouraged its last
black members to form the Colored Methodist Episcopal (Christian Methodist
Bpiscopal) Church. By that time, only 660 black South Careclinians remained
in the Southern Methodist Church. The CME has been a small denomination in
the state.l??

Baptists were among the earliest free black congregations, but African-
Americans largely remained in the white churches until after the Civil War.
In 1866 the South Carolina Baptist Convention stated that the duties of
Baptist churches included not only helping freedmen learn to read the Bible,
but also to help them construct their own churches when they wanted to sepa-
rate. After the Civil War, Episcopalians generally continued the pattern of
black members attending separate services in white-managed churches. The
Protestant Episcopal Church did not ordain black clergy, sSo black congre-
gations had to rely on white ministers even when they had their own
buildings. In 1874 the Reformed Episcopal (RE) Church (bequn in 1873 in New
York) agreed to receive black Episcopal congregations and to train blacks
for ordination. Several RE churches in Charleston County date to the mid-
1870s. Other new sects, such as Reformed Methodist Union Episcopal (RMUE),
formed out of antebellum black denominations.123

The traditionally African-American churches in North Charleston are
generally found at residential clusters or along principal roads. Probably
the most prominent of these early churches is St. Peters AME at Liberty
Hill, whose 1877 building still exists. Although altered and encased in
brick, the essential form of the church, its steeple and window openings are
still apparent, as is its historic relationship to the burial ground
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spreading beyond the front of the church. Also at Liberty Hill are Royal
Baptist Church (1916, rebuilt 1955 and 1979) and Charity Baptist Church.

There is a series of historic churches along the Meeting Street Road
corridor. At Strombolil are two historic churches with modern buildings,
Providence AME (2060 Jacksonville Road), first built in 1891, and [Greater]
Bethel Baptist (2678 Meeting Street Road). In the Six Mile/Pettigru section
(see "Pettigru") are Jerusalem Baptist Church, 3317 Meeting Street Road, now
with a modern brick sanctuary, and Noahs Ark Baptist Church. Its present
building dates to 1972.

Shiloh AME Church (3570 Meeting Street Road) is at Ashley Junction, just
north of Dorchester Road and the Nafair subdivision. The first church was
built here in 1870, and the present building in 1954. The deed for Shiloh
gives an insight into the community of that time. 1In 1870, Captain Jobhn S.
Myers conveyed this triangular lot at the northwest corpner of his farm,
along the State Road, to July Carter, Jacob Fisher and July Frazier,
trustees, for $10, and in further consideration that "an edifice has been
erected on the piece of land for the worship of almighty God, to encourage
the advancement of religious faith and education... to be used in trust and
maintained as a house or place of worship of the African Methodist Episcopal
faith."124

Purther north, near the Seven Mile railroad junction just off Meeting Street
Road, is Union Baptist Church (4428 Daley Street, Site #1942). Founded in
1871 under the Rev. A. T. Ford, the church meets in a sanctuary rebuilt in
1965. A short distance away, on Helm Avenue in Whipper Barony Extension, is
New Bethel RMUE Church, also a modern building.125 -

Along Rivers Avenue, the continuation of the 0ld State Road, are several
early churches. They include Oak Grove Baptist Church at Ten Mile, organ-

wized in 1872 (rebuilt in 1962, 2149 West Oak Grove Street); St. Paul AME

Church near Midland Park {(moderm building, 6925 Rivers Avenue); and Mount
Moriah Baptist Church, just below Ashley Phosphate, organized in 1892
(modern building, 7396 Rivers Avenue). When Rivers Avenue was widened from
a "Dual Lane"™ to a four-lame road, most of these churches, and their

cemeteries, were relocated further away from the road . 126

Johnson Chapel AME Church was near Midland Park, on Ashley Phosphate Road.
The church was lost to fire in the 1950s, but its cemetery remains on Stall
Road (Site #1932). The Liberty Park community is west of Rivers Avenne.
Enoch Chapel United Methodist Church (2355 James Bell Drive) was founded
there in 1865 by Enoch and Clara Willjams. Like St. Peters AME, it has been
rebuilt with brick veneer, but retains its ca. 1880 spire.127

Several parcels of Corn Hill Plantation (sSee "County Prison Farm") were
conveyed to freedmen in the late nineteenth century. At least two churches
were established at the south side of Dorchester Road, east of the Mark
Clark Expressway (I-526). 2ion RMUE Church (4607 Dorsey Road) was founded
in 1878 by Rev. P. Ball, J. Canty, and T. Smith. The church was rebuilt in
1947, and recently refurbished. The cemetery behind the building has mostly
modern stones, but there are probably earlier unmarked graves. Joshuna
Baptist Church, on O0ld Faber Road a short distance away, was organized in
1883, rebuilt in 1974 and renovated in 1990.128 <¢he section around these
churches is sometimes known as "Joshua.®” There are several early-to-mid
twentieth century houses in the neighborhood, which have typically been
altered and modernized.
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Most of the historically white churches in the North Area were organized in
the twentieth century. St. Peters-by-the-Sea Episcopal Church was one of
the earliest. It began as a mission of St. Michaels Episcopal Parish to
naval personnel and civilian shipyard workers. In 1914 its first building
was erected, replaced by a larger building in 1945. The building was sold
by its Episcopal congregation in about 1980, and is today Charleston Korean
Methodist Church (1816 Success Street, Site #1640). Anothexr church orga-
nized on the base was St. John's Roman Catholic Church, begun in 1926 by
Navy Chaplain Fr. Michael J. Reddin. The church moved to its present loca-
tion on St. Johns Avenue (Site #1907) in 1930, and in 1949 added a school
and convent.129

North Charleston Baptist Church was organized in 1920, and constructed a
church in the "0ld village™ (the section of Olde North Charleston south of
Bast Montague Avenue). From that congregation came today‘'s First Baptist
Church (a 1955 building at 4217 Rivers Avenue) and Charleston Heights
Baptist Church (first built in 1923, rebuilt in 1945, Site #1528). Rorth
Charleston Methodist Church (ca. 1916, today in a 1949 building at 1125 East
Montagque Avenue) was also begun in the 01d Village. Sometime before 1923,
Presbyterians in Olde KNorth Charleston began meeting in a residence on
O'Hear Avenue (Site #1693). Other historically white congregations in North
Charleston include Midland Park Methodist (1921), Cherokee Place Methodist
(1926), Cosgrove Avenue Presbyterian (1941); Ladson Baptist (1940, Site
#1904), Ferndale Baptist (pre-1941), Midland Park Baptist (1942),
porchester-Waylyn Baptist (1944) and Remount Road Baptist (1949).130 Because
of the city's dynamic growth during the mid-twentieth century, most
congregations have built and rebuilt their sanctuaries, and today are
typically large modern edifices.

Denominational histories, which usually catalogue individual congregations,
remain the best sources for post-colonial churches in South Carolina. A
variety of historical references and maps are useful for situating churches
in time and place. Individual church histories and plagques are valuable
supplements to these general sources.13l

In rural areas of South Carolina, cemeteries are often the most tangible and
informative clues to community 1life. This is not the case in North
Charleston for several reasons. The plantation community cemeteries (white
and black) were largely abandoned a generation before the area's period of
growth; many of the modest burial grounds of nineteenth freedmen‘'s churches
have been relocated out of the path of highways and bridges; and the
twentieth century churches of white congregatioms, in densely populated
areas, usually did not include churchyard cemeteries.

The best examples of historic grave markers in North Charleston are at
Riverview Cemetery (Site #1845), at the south side of Azalea Drive. St.
Peter Claver Catholic Cemetery (2726 Spruill Avenue, Site #1839), also a
large cemetery, was established in 1928.
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Appendix: Architects & Builders Known to Have Worked in
’ Morth Charleston

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS

W. B. Marguis (P. J. Berckman's Co.), of North Augusta
1913 design, North Charleston!

Loutrel Briggs of Charleston
1939, Robert Mills Manor, Charleston
1941, George S. Legare Homes (Site #1519)

Olmsted Brothers:; Olmsted, Olmsted and Elliot of Brookline, Massachusetts
1896, Chicora Park
1924, Yeamans Hall Club (Berkeley County)}?

ARCHITECTS AND ENGINEERS

william Baker
1941, Palmetto Gardens (Site #1633) as supervising architect, Defense Homes
Corporation3

Cletus Berdgen, architect of Savannah
1942, Buildings 74 and 1119, Charleston Navy Yard4

Henyy S. Burden, architect of Charleston

pre-1910, projects at Navy Yaxrd; 1910-1919 affiliated with Henry F. Walker;
then with Charleston Engineering and Contracting Company for several years
1935, Chicora Graded School (Site #1520)

1938, (with Archie B. Myers) addition, Chicora Graded School (Site #1520)
1938, (with Archie B. Myers) additions, Ladson Graded School (Site #1903)>

J. F. Coleman Engineering Co. of New Orleans
1941, renovation design, warehouses and head houses, Port Terminal
1941, dock design, Port of Embarkation®

bouqlas Ellington, architect of Asheville and Charleston

1935, (with Reqginald J. Wadsworth) buildings at Greenbelt, MD, 3,300-acre
planned community for the federal Resettlement Administration

1935, renovations to Dock Street Theatre, Charleston (WPA project)

1939, Robert Mills Manor, Charleston (for Simons and Lapham, dba Housing
Architects Associates)

1940, Ben Tillman Homes (Site #1527), as Chief Architect of Charleston
Rehousing Architects

1940-41, Tom McMillan Homes (Site #1944}

1941, George S. Legare Homes (Site #1519) (with Harold Tatum for Balsey and
Cummings Engineers)

1942, Buildings AA-LL, B, D, BB-CC, DD-EE, FF-GG, HH-II, JJ-KK, M5, M6-M7,
H8-M9, Navy Yard

1943, Buildings W-X, Y-2, Navy Yard

1943, Read Bill Homes (with Harold Tatum and C. T. Cummings for Halsey and
Cummings)

1943, Daniel Jenkins Homes (with Tatum and Cummings)

1943, Boulevard Dormitories

1943, Ashley Homes {Buist Tract), Peachtree and Hester Streets, Charleston

1943, Victory Apartments (Baker Tract), King and Grove Streets, Charleston’
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Evans, Almirall and Compapny, engineers of New York City
1906, Building 6, Navy Yard8

Halsey and Cummings engineers of Charleston (Marion B. Halsey, C. T.
Cummings)

See Douglas Ellington: George Legare, Read Hill, Daniel Jenkins Homes
See Harold Tatum: Liberty BHomes

David B. Byer, civil engineer and architect of Charleston

1896, joined Simons-Mayrant Company; ca. 1908, as Superintendent of
Construction, managed several buildings at the Navy Yarxd.

1918, Mappus House (Site #1843)

1920, Port City Bank (Site #1807)

1922, North Charleston Graded School (Site #1526)

1938, North Charleston Graded School remodeling/addition (Site #1526)

1938, North Charleston High School enlargements and improvements

1942, Ben Tillman Graded School (Site #1526)

1942, Charleston Heights Baptist Church

1942, Chicora High School (Site #1521) {plans underway at his death]?

Arthur Laidler-Jones, architect of Charleston and Spartanburg
1943, 50 houses at Whipper Barony (Site #1828) for General Housing Corp.10

Lockwood, Greene and Company, engineers and architects of Greenville
1914, Garco Building #1 (Site #1660.00)1!

Leonard D. Long, architect and builder of Charleston
1939-40, Nafair (Site #1816)12

Archie B. Meyers, architect of Charleston

See Henry Burden: Chicora Graded School addition; Ladson School Addition
1943, Dorchester Terrace School (temporary building)

1940-43, Dorchester Terrace (Site #1967)13

Fred J. Orr, architect of Athens, Georgia

1914, North Charleston Graded School (East Montague Avenue)
1915, Store Building (unknown), North Charleston

1915, twelve identical residences, Marquis Street (Site #1518)
ca. 1916, Garco Mill Village (Site #1662)14

Louis A. Simon, architect for the Treasury Department Public Works Office
1935, Building 590-A, Navy Yardl®

Simons and lL.apham, architects of Charleston
See Douglas Ellington: Robert Mills Manor
1942, Buildings 63, 1179, Navy Yard

1948, Charleston Municipal Airportl6

J. E. Sirrine & Co., engineers of Greenville
1942, Building 64, Navy Yard
1943, Building 80, Navy Yardl?

Harold Tatum, architect of Charleston

1943, Liberty Homes (Site #1512) (for Halsey and Cummings, Engineers)
1943, Liberty Homes School (temporary building)

1943, St. Andrews Homes site design (for Simons-Mayrant Company )18
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Albert W. Todd, architect of Charleston
1924, Ladson School (Site #1903)19

Henry F. Walker, architect of Charleston
1909, 30 houses (Site #1634) at Chicora Place??

ENGINEERS AND BUILDERS

American Houses, Inc. of Rew York

Organized 1932 by architect Robert W. McLaughlin. By 1943 its factories
nationwide were manufacturing prefabricated and demountable buildings, capa-
city 2,000 houses per month.

1943, prefabricator, St. Andrews Homes, Charleston County (West Ashley)?l

RBarge-Thompson Company of Atlanta
1943, Chicora High School (Site #1521)%

Henry C. Beck Company of Dallas, Texas
1942-43, prefabricate and erect 500 housing units, Liberty Homes (Site
#1512)2

Charleston Constructors, Inc.

1937-38, Garco Building #13 (Site #1660.05)

1940, Stark Army Hospital (Site #1945)

1948, Municipal Airport Administration Building?4

Charleston Engineering and Contracting Company (T. C. Stevenson, formerly
with Simons-Mayrant, and J. A. McCormack)
1912, Oakdene Cotton Compress complex?

Clark Construction Company of Chicago
1903, low bidder on office building at Navy Yard?6

Continental Jewell Filtration Company of New York
1903-1909, Dry Dock #1, Navy Yard??

Daniel Copstruction Co. (Charles E. Daniel) of Anderson S$.C., and Birmingham
Alabama

1941, dock rehabilitation and construction, Port Terminals/Port of
Embarkation

1941, several buildings at Navy Yard

1942-43, dry dock, shop buildings, pier, railroad tracks, Navy Yard (South
Yard)2®

bDawson Engineering Company of Charleston (engineers and builders) founded 1914
1938, addition, Chicora Graded School (Site #1520)
1941, shaw Air Base, Sumter (with Boyle Construction Company of Sumter and
J. C. Heslep and Company of Columbia)
1940-45, 410 demountable houses for the National Housing Administration;
$3.5 million worth of work at the Army Air Base and Port of Embarkation
1941-42, fire station, guardhouse, administration building, Army Ordnance
Depot
1941, Palmetto Gardens (Site #1633)
1943, St. Andrews Homes 23
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Dry Dock Engineers of New York City
1942, Buildings 302 and 302B, Navy Yara3d®

Donald W. Dyke (dba Better Homes) of North Charleston
ca. 1945, 1303 wando Road (Site #1649) and 1305 wWando Road (Site #1650)31

Espy_ Paving and Construction of Savannah
1941, dock renovation; dock and railroad construction, Army Ordnance Depot32

Green Lumber Company of Laurel Mississippi

In 1934, prefabricating buildings for CCC camps and similar uses. By BApril
1943 completing up to 500 buildings per month; had produced 4,000 war
housing units and 20,000 square footage of barracks construction

1942-43, prefabricate and erect 1120 units, Liberty Homes (Site #1512)%

A. H. Guion and Co. of Charlotte
1941, dock renovation and construction, Port Terminals/Port of Embarkation34

Harza Engineering Company of Charleston
1938-41, designing and constructing engineers, Santee-Cooper project
1943, Buildings 303, 303B and 304, Navy Yard™®

J. C. Beslep Construction Company of Charleston

1938, additions, North Charleston High School

1938, additions, North Charleston Graded School (Site #1526)
1940-41, Stark Army Hospital (Site #1945)36

C. H. Hottinger of North Charleston (dba Whipper Barony Development Company)
ca. 1941, at least ten houses in Whipper Barony (Site #1826)

M. B. Kahn Construction Company of Columbia
1938, additions, Ladson School (Site #1903)
1940, Stark Hospital Army Troop Depot37

Lona Construction —ompany of Charleston

Organized 1918 by Jobn Edward Long, whose son Leonard D. Long, an architect,

headed the firm. By 1923 the company built more than 250 buildings.

1942-43, Liberty Homes (Site #1512)

1941-43 Nafair (Site #1816), Nafair Addition (Site #1820), Dorchester
Terrace (Site #1967), Waylyn, Windsor Place™®

MacDougald Company
1931, dry dock enlargement, Navy Yard
1941, dry dock, pier extensions, Navy Yard3?

Mason and Hangar Company
ca. 1917, Army Port Terminals40

McCrady Brothers; McCrady Brothers and Cheves; John McCrady Company
1911, founded by John & W. Shackelford McCrady
Engineers for sanitary sewer plans, Charleston Neck and North Charleston#l

A. R. McMurry of Knoxville Tennessee
1926, Five Mile Viaduct (Site #1842)4%
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Neal A. Melick, Engineer for the Treasury Department Public Works Office
1935, Building 590-A, Navy Yard43

Ohio Construction Company
1942-43, several hundred houses in Spartanburg
1943, fifty houses at Whipper Barony (Site #1828)%

Henry Oliver

1899, Keepers House (Quarters F), Gardener's Lodge & Stable, Pump House,

Tool House and Carriage Sheds, Chicora Park

1901, Transportation Building and Machinery Hall, Interstate and West Indian
Exposition4®

Henry N. Pregnall
1896, wharf at Chicora Park
1901, wharf at Interstate and West Indian Exposition4é

Ralph Simmons
1935, Chicora Graded School (Site #1520)%7

Simons-Mayrant Company (S. Lewis Simons and William R. Mayrant), of
Charleston, organized 1898, engineers, general contractors and builders
1913, Power House, Navy Yard

1926, paving, Five Mile Viaduct (Site #1842)

1942, Building 62, Navy Yard

1943, St. Andrews Homes (see Harold Tatum)48

A. J. Sineath of North Charleston

1938, Felton Mercantile Store, O'Hear Avenue at East Montague

1941-43, Dorchester Terrace (Site #1967) [subcontractor for Long
Construction Co.?}4%°

Skinner and Ruddock of Charleston

1940, Administration Building, Red Cross Recreation Building, ambulance
garage, Stark Army Hospital (Site #1945)

1942-43, 380 units at Liberty Homes (Site #1512)

1943, Liberty Homes Extension

December 1942 to March 1943: 354 units in three projects
Victory Courts (Baker Tract), King and Grove Streets, Charleston
Ashley Homes (Buist Tract), Peachtree and Hester Streets, Charleston
Boulevard Dormitories (Fabian Tract), North CharlestonS5?

Southeastern Constructjion Company of Charlotte

1941, $1. million in contracts for Navy Yard

1941, Coast Guard In-Shore Patrol Base, West Point Mill, Charleston

1942-43, dry docks, shop buildings, pier, railroad tracks, Navy Yard (South
Yard)>3l

C. Y. Thomason
1940-41, road work, Stark Army Hospital (Site #1945)52

George T. Trescott of Charleston, dba Kenilworth Corporation
Builder of more than 600 houses, mostly in peninsular Charleston, may have
built at Chicora3?
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R. B. Tyler Company of Louisville, KY

1941, runway extensions, Charleston Municipal Airport

1940-41, road and paving work, Naval Ammunition Depot (Naval Weapons
Station)

1940-41, road and paving work, Stark Army Hospital (Site #1945)%4

United Engineers and Ceonstruction of Philadelphia

1941, Building 45, Navy Yard>®

C. Bredette Walker

ca.

1909, wWalker Residence, Chicora (Site #1665)

wWells

ca. 1915, Wells House, Olde North Charleston (Site #1742)56

Whitmer Construction Company (David H. Whitmer) of Charleston

ca. 1910, 1818 and 1819 Orvid Street (Sites #1835 and 1836), Chicora

T. W. Worthy of Worth Charleston

1917, Brooks House, Olde North Charleston (Site #1718)
1920, North Charleston Baptist Church, Reynolds Avenue
1926, Yeamans Hall Club, Berkeley County~’
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"RAmong the War Workers. Whipper Barony Home Owners, " 7 March 1943.
"Fifty New Houses to be Built Here (Whipper Barony),” 30 March 1943.
“Among the War Workers...Liberty Homes, " 11 april 1943.

"Protests Raised at Housing Site,” 13 April 1943.

“"WPA Recounts Public Works in Eight Years of Existence,” 27 April 1943.
"Do You Know Your Charleston? Boulevard Dormitories,® 10 May 1943,

“Bus Route Changes,® 23 May 1943.

“Do You Know Your Charleston? St. Philip’'s and St. Michael's Parish,” 24 May 1943.

“V~C Chemical Company Property Obtained for Negro Housing, ™ 13 June 1943.
"Do You Know Your Charleston? Victory Courts,” 14 June 1943.

"Do You Know Your Charleston? War Housing Conversion," 19 July 1943.

"Do You Know Your Charleston? St. Bndrew’s Homes, * 9 August 1943.
“Suburban 'City’' Has Sprung Up in 3 Years...," 15 Rugust 1943.

"Do You Know Your Charleston? Stark General Hospital, " 30 August 1943.
“War Housing Center to be Closed Scon, ™ 2 November 1943.

"Modern High School..."14 Pebruary 1944.
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"Do You Know Your Charleston? Stark Hospital Farm,” 5 June 1944.

"Liberty Homes and Dorchester Terrace Get Bducational Buildings,” 18 September 1944.
"Do You Rnow Your Charleston? Two New Schools, ” 18 September 1944.

"Do You Know Your Charleston? Stark Hospital Annex, " 26 February 1945.

"Do You Rnow Your Charleston? Beyond Cherokee, * 9 July 1945.

"Do You Know Your Charleston? Dorchester-Waylym,® 23 July 1945.
"Pine Forest of a Pew Years Ago..."” 27 August 1945.
*Do You Know Your Charleston? Liberty Homes Projects, ™ 17 September 1545.
"Business Section of Today Grew from Lumber Commissary Store,” 1 October 1945.
“Park Circle USO Club to Close,™ 26 February 1546.
"Preliminary Plans for New Pinehaven Hospital, ™ 22 March 1946.
“Cosgrove BAvenue [Presbyterian] Church Marks Fifth Anniversary,” 7 Decembexr 1946.
"Do You Know Your Charleston? Pinehaven Sanitorium,” 27 September 1948.
"Present Pinehaven Building Worn Out, " 21 Bugust 1949.
"$200,000. in Federal Funds Authorized for New TB Bospital, " 17 September 1949.
"North Charleston High School... Three Decades, " 26 November 1951.
"Midland Park...” 25 March 1952.
“Pioneers of 1914," 3 June 1952,
"Pittsburgh Company Expanding Here, " 23 December 1953.
"Local Metals Plant Adds Tenth Furnace, " 22 September 1955.
“Seven Deceased Charlestonians Commemorated at Stark, " 25 November 1955.
"Two Horth Area Schools Renamed, " 20 December 1956.
“Customer is King at Pinehaven Shopping Center in North Area,” 16 September 1959.
*Pinehaven Site has History of Public Use, " 16 September 1959.
"Stark Industrial Park Grew from Former Military Area,” 16 September 1959.
"West Virginia Pulp and Paper...," 16 September 1959.
"Douglas Ellington Rites Set Today, " 29 August 1960.
"Fertilizer: Boon of Long Ago, " 31 March 1970.
"Leonard D. Long" Obitaary, 21 December 1370.
"Vacant Buildings {Adanac Farm] Attacked, " 9 February 1979.
"Historians: ‘Phogsphate Boom' Belped Slaves and the Elite,* 24 April 1981.
"Plant's History Dates Back a Century, " 25 Pebruary 1983.
"North Charleston High Will be Demolished” and "Coming Down, ™ 4 June 1983,
"Coming Down"® (photo, North Charleston High School) 4 June 1983.
"Westvaco Celebrates 50th Birthday Here, " 13 October 1987,
“Dead House Revived. Naval Base Rich in History, " 28 March 1994.
"Muscle and Mud, " 30 September 1994.
News and Courier, North Charleston Edition
Cupp, Ruth W., In Times Past
"Reynolds Avenue...,” 5 February 1987.
"From Small Change to Big Bucks,” 28 May 1987.
“Lack of Bousing...," 22 October 19387,
"Windsor Place...," 5 November 1987.
"Name Game Took North Area Streets...,” 7 Bpril 1988.
“ABichele Terrace Still Blooms, " 5 May 1988.
"Cemeteries...,"” 19 May 1988,
“Sanitorium’'s Name..." (photo) 21 July 1988.
"Iron Dog,” 29 September 1988.
"North Charleston's a Young City..." 27 Octcber 1988.
“Marquis Road Homes Pirst Built Near Park Circle, ™ 4 May 1989.
"Aerial Photograph Reveals Historical Facts, ™ 10 Angust 1989.
“Housing Demands brought Palmetto Gardens..." 21 March 1991,
"Jenkins Bomes Recalled, " 20 Bugust 1993.
Charleston Bvening Post

"Economic Predicament,” 10 July 1947.
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il.

PROPERTIES IN THE SURVEY AREA THAT ARE LISTED IN THE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

The southwestern edge of the City of North Charleston is included within the

boundaries of the Ashley River Historic District,

National Register of Historic Places on September 12, 1994.

12. EVALUATION OF SURVEY DATA
Number of Properties Surveyed
Phase One 1225
Phase Two 1481
Total 2706
Date Range of Properties Surveyed
ca. 1820 1885 4
ca. 1870 1
ca. 1890 1
ca. 1900 6
ca. 1909 ca. 1915 50
ca. 1916 ca. 1920 122
ca. 1921 ca. 1930 100
ca. 1930 ca. 1935 144
ca. 1936 ca. 1940 559
ca. 1941 ca. 1945 1719
Total 2706
Types of Properties Surveved

Parks and Designed Landscapes 3
Recreational Facilities 2
Schools 6
Churches 5
Cemeteries 6
Lodge Hall 1
Marker 1
Stores, Offices and Other Commercial Buildings 31
Mapufacturing Facility Buildings 8
Barn 1
Hospital Wards 4
Prison Farm Auxiliary Buildings 3
0il Storage Field 1
Bridge 1
Garage 1
Garage-Apartments 7
Apartments (single, duplex or multiple) 2
Duplexes 404
Multi-Residence Buildings 154
Single Pamily Residences 2065
Total 2706

(cemeteries)

which was listed in the
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Number of Properties by Neighborhood

Liberty Hill

Ashley Junction-Pettigru-Six Mile-pPeas Hill
Chicora Place

Stromboli

Charleston Heights

Cherokee Place and Mappus Tract
Buckfield

Olde Worth Charleston

Charleston Farms

Ben Tillman Homes (River Place)
George Legare Homes (North Park Village)
John C. Calhoun Homes

Liberty Homes

Palmetto Gardens

Nafaix

Nafair Addition

Whipper Barony

Whipper Barony Extension

St. Johns

Dorchester Terrace

Ferndale and Morningside
Russelldale

Liberty Park and Highland Terxace
Midland Park

Ladson

Scattered Sites

37
22
224
9
49
66
33
335
98
138
160
200
192
200
67
52
90
12
10
550
83
10
18
12
3

36

2706
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South Carolina Department of Archives and History

1430 Senate Street, P.0. Box 11,669, Colombia, South Carolina 29211 (R03) 7348577
State Records (E03) 734-7914; Local Records (B03) 734-7917

CITY OF NORTH CHARLESTON SURVEY
NATIONAL REGISTER EVALUATION - PHASES I & II

PROPERTIES DETERMINED ELIGIBLE FOR LISTING IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER OF
HISTORIC PLACES

The following determinations are based on an evaluation of the City of
North Charleston Survey (Phases I & II) by the State Historic Preservation
Office (SHPO) of the South Carolina Department of Archives and History. It
is the opinion of the SHPO that the properties meet the eligibility
criteria for inclusion in the National Register of Historic Places. These
determinations are based on the present architectural integrity and
available historical information for the properties included in the City of
North Charleston Survey. Properties may be removed from or added to this
list if changes are made that affect a property's physical integrity.
Historical information that is brought to the attention of the National
Register speclalist confirming or denying a property's historic
significance may also affect a property's eligibility status. The process
of identifying and evaluating historic properties is never complete. The
SHPO encourages readers of this report to alert the National Register
specialist to properties that may have been omitted during this evaluation.

National Register field evaluations were made by SHPO staff members
Andrew W. Chandler, ¥ Thomas Shaw, and Mary R. Parramore in June 1994, and
by Andrew W. Chandler and Virginia M. Dilworth in July 1995.

_— e
PROPERTIES ELIGIBELE FOR INDIVIDUAL LISTING IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

The SHPO considers the following properties to be eligible for individual
listing in the National Register »f Historic Places. The City of North
Charleston Survey site number and the historic or common name, if known,
are given along with the National Register Criteria for Evaluation
(Criterion A, B, or C) and/or Criteria Considerations (abbreviated "CC")
under which the property qualifies.

362-1511.00

thru ,04 John C. Calhoun Homes and Office A: Community Planning &
Development
C: Architecture
089-1842 Five Mile Viaduct A: Transportation

: Engineering



e So—

COMPLEXES ELIGIBLE FOR LISTING IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

The SHPO considers the following complexes, or collections of historically
or physically related properties, to be eligible for the National Register
of Historic Places. The historic or common name, if known, and City of
North Charleston Survey site number are given along with the National
Register Criteria for Evaluation (Criterion A, B, or C) and/or Criteria
Considerations (abbreviated "CC") under which the property gqualifies.

362-1519
thru 1521;
1526 thru
1528 War Worker Housing Historic District
(Ben Tillman Homes and School, and
George Legare Homes) A: Community Planning &
Development; Socilal.
History
362-1660.00
thru .06,
1663 thru
1665 General Asbestos and Rubber Company
(GARCO) and Employee Housing (non-
contiguous element in overall
GARCO complex) A: Industry; Social
History

C: Architecture
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13. DATA GAPS
Areas not Surveyed:

1) Ingleside/Woodstock 1s a large property south of Ladson. There are
known to have been a railroad depot, cemetery, phosphate mill, etc.,
generally centered around the spot shown on Topographic maps as "Woodside."
We were not able to obtain access. Topographic maps do not indicate his-
toric buildings on the tract (the house was burned about 1929). The proper-
ty should be marked on SHPO maps as a Data Gap.

2) Waylyn was not surveyed for this project, although basic historical
research was done. The subdivision is outside the corporate boundaries of
the City of North Charleston. Waylyn was built ca. 1942-43 by the devel-
opers of Dorchester Terrace, and the houses in the two neighborhoods are
very similar.

Suggestions for Further Investigation:

1) An undetermined number of properties in the Phase One area (for example,
Site #1752, 1058 Bexley Street) were originally built in the Garco village
(see Site #1966). Because so few houses remain in the village, several
relocated buildings were not recognized during Phase One.

2) Site #1970: this interesting collection was evidently moved, but the
origin of the buildings is uncertain. They appear post-World War One, but do
not resemble Garco houses. Our assumption is that they are from one of the
military installations in or near North Charleston.

3) Site #1971: the original location of these military buildings is not
certain. They are said to have been army housing, but could have been built
for one of the naval installations in North Charleston.

4) At the northeast side of Dorchester Road {outside the survey area) are
a few buildings that are very similar to two-story barracks buildings built
at Stark Hospital and Stark Annex. They have been extensively altered, but
are interesting for their resemblance to Brmy buildings. FPurther investiga-
tion would reveal whether the Stark complex extended north of Dorchester
Road, or whether these buildings have been moved.

5) There are several relocated demountable buildings (Site #1949) whose
origin has not been established. Further photographic research is needed to
fully document prefabricated construction in WNorth Charleston and Charleston
County.

Suggestions for Further Research:

1) The list "Architects and Builders Known to Have Worked in North
Charleston" compiles information gathered during this project. It is by no
means complete, and should be the basis of more comprehensive research into
who the people were who actually built North Charleston. Particularly in
the case of building contractors, very little is known about employees: New
Deal workers, local people and newcomers.

2) There is a reference in The South Carolina Architects, 1885-1935 (John
E. Wells and Robert E. Dalton, 1992, p. 225) to "Quickbuilt Bungalows”® made
by A. C. Tuxbury Lumber Company ca. 1920. No information could be found
about these houses.

3) This project and the separate investigations into the history and
significance of above-ground structures at Naval Base Charleston have not
been fully integrated, particularly with respect to architects, engineers,
material suppliers, builders and their employees.

4) Periodicals such as Architectural Record, American Builder, and
Quartermasters Review provide a general information about architectural
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style and building construction, and also material about specific projects
nationwide. These periodicals have not been searched for sites in North
Charleston, oxr for architects, engineers and builders known to have worked
in the area.

5) Several repositories should be searched for photographic documentation
of North Charleston's historic sites. Photograph files at the South Caro-
lina Historical Society and the News and Courier library include pictures of
a variety of properties in North Charleston (the newspaper cannot provide
original prints of many photographs published before 1970).

6) The News and Courier is available on microfilm at the Charleston
County Public Library. The bibliography in this report references many
articles, but there are months of newspaper reels that we did not even scan.
They contain a tremendous amount of unexplored material about North
Charleston.

14. COMPILED IXVENTORY
See Bppendix Four

15. RECOMMENDATIONS

* Further Investigations

The Data Gaps include suggestions for further research and site evaluations.
* Archaeological Resources

This North Charleston Historical and Architectural Survey does not include
an archaeoclogical component. It has been stated by many observers that
there are probably unrecorded archaoelogical remains, prehistoric or his-
toric, on any tract of land in the South Carolina Lowcountry (although not
all of them should be expected to possess National Register significance).
It is not feasible to undertake a general archaeological inventory on the
model of an above-ground inventory, so the City and State must be alert to
the potential presence of important cultural remains on any property that is
proposed for development. This awareness should result in routine pre-
screening for areas of sensitivity, so that damage to archaeoclogical
resources is avoided by early project planning. Further information about
archaeological programs is available from SHPO and from the South Carolina
Ipstitute of Archaeology and Anthropology (SCIAA).

* National Register of Historic Places

Owners of properties that have been found eligible for listing in the
National Register are notified of this status. They should be encouraged to
consider completing the npominations to have the properties listed in the
Rational Register.

* Interagency Cooperation

Several historic properties along the west side of the Ashley River (Mag-
nolia Plantation and Gardens, Drayton Hall, and Middleton Place) are managed
for preservation and heritage education. Conservation of areas at the
opposite bank of the river in North Charleston is a tool for protecting the
view corridors from the historic plantations. The stewards of these proper-
ties should be encouraged to share ongoing concerns with the appropriate
departments of city government.

* Public Policy

Every city must protect its cultural resources by taking historic sites into
account during modermization and economic development. This means balancing
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difficult questions of land use, zoning and development against preservation
of historic buildings that may be seen by their own neighbors as eyesores.
The first step to protecting and revitalizing historic neighborhoods is to
increase public awarenesg and appreciation for them.

* Historic District Designation

At every level of administration, the City of North Charleston is working to
increase awareness of and appreciation for the city's heritage. The "01d
Village" was designated as a historic district in 1994, Several other
neighborhoods are also worthy of this designation: Chicora and Charleston
Heights, Cherokee-Buckfield, Liberty Hill, and the Pettigru-Six Mile-Ashley
Junction-Seven Mile-beas Hill corridor, as well as the war housing complexes
of River Place (Ben Tillman Homes), North Park Village (George lLegare
Homes), John C. Calhoun Homes, Palmetto Gardens, Nafair, Whipper Barony, and
Dorchester Terrace. The sites and complexes that are eligible for listing
in the National Register of Historic Places (see Section 12) should also be
considered for local designation.

These districts should be considered for conservation district status as
well. Programs targeted toward neighborhood revitalization can have the
regrettable side effect of demolishing historic buildings that are consi-
dered merely "old and run-down." Conservation district status would alert
the managers of various city, state and federal programs that demolitions in
a historic neighborhood should be restricted, and that new construction
undertaken with public funds should respect the existing architecture,
streetscapes and landscapes of the district. The City of North Charleston
should investigate the feasibility of design standards or other architect-
ural guidelines (at least for governmental projects) in the city's historic
neighborhoods.

* Heritage Tourism

The notion that older neighborhoods are considered historic can come as a
surprise, particularly in the case of North Charleston's large stock of
tweptieth century resources. The findings of this project have already
proved valuable in educating historians abount the buildings of the World War
Two era. Preservation organizations, including the Vernacular Architectural
Forum and the University of South Carolina's Preservation Field School, have
begun to look at North Charleston as a case study in "preserving the recent
past.” These groups should be encouraged to visit the city, and their field
trips should be publicized.

Tourism shows residents that their surroundings are interesting enough to be
chosen as destinations, and validates local pride of place. Besides sto-
dents of architecture and city planning, there is a large constituency for
military history. The Spanish-American Veterans Lodge might be the ideal
place to begin a Visitors Center, one that would focus not only on the Navy
Base but also on its relationship with the surrounding City of North
Charleston.

* Historic Markers

The City of North Charleston should begin an aggressive historic markers
program. Citizens and visitors alike need visual aids to interpret North
Charleston's history, because in many areas it is hidden beneath the modern
city. Various markers have been placed throughout the North Area for
decades: Macalloy Corporation (Pittsburgh Metallurgical), the Quarter Mile
House, Whipper Barony, the first City Hall, The Elms, and Cherokee Place all
have plaques or signboards of some kind. Plagques are also found inside
several school buildings. Efforts of the people who have placed and main-
tained these markers should be encouraged through an official markers
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campaign. Such a program should be locally based, and could become part of
heritage education in the school systems. High school or college students
could manage the roles of verifying locations and certifying the text for
factual accuracy and ease of understanding.

There are two kinds of markers: those that commemorate properties that no
longer exist, and those that explain existing resources. Commemorative mar-
kers could be placed at the locations of such "lost" properties as Stark
Army Hospital, Read Homes, Liberty Homes Extension, Burton Lumber Company,
the County Prison Farm, Lambs Phosphate Mill, Garco Village, the Ashley
Ferry; along the route of the electric trolley, and at the locations of
passenger and freight depots along the routes of early railroads. Chicora
rark, Pinehaven Sanitorium, Boulevard Homes, and Tom McMillan Homes couald
all be commemorated at one place, the intersection of Rivers and McMillan
Avenues.

Markers that celebrate existing properties and neighborhoods are more effec-
tive in encouraging preservation through public awareness. They could be
located in public spaces throughout the city: at the Felix C. Davis Commun-
ity Center (USO Club) at Park Circle, at PFelix Pinckney (Liberty Hill) and
Danny Jones (site of Liberty Homes Extension) Recreation Centers, at North
Charleston High (site of Olde North Charleston’'s first school lot), at the
Aamtrak Station and Heinsohn-Attaway Stadium. The area's transportation
heritage could be explained through markers at Carner Avenue (1897),
Cosgrove Avenue (1907), Rivers Avenue/Dual Lane (1939); and also along the
0ld State Road (at the junction of Spruill Avenue and Meeting Street Road,
and at Piggly-Wiggly Boulevard and Rivers Avenue). PFipnally, local historic
districts shounld be recognized by plaques and markers as they are
established.
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slide Presentation, "Historic ¥North Charleston”

The text and cues for the slide presentation that was prepared as part of
the North Charleston Historical and Architectural Survey are reprinted here.
Cues have bean amnotated to include sources of archival views. The slides
themselves are housed at the Department of Planning and Management, and with
the State Ristoric Preservation Office in Columbia.

HISTORIC NORTB CHARLESTON

These slides were made during a preject that lasted nearly two years, to
research the historic properties in the City of North Charleston and to
develop materials to help us learn about our past. The Department of Plan-
ning and Management will be working with neighborhood associations, schools
and other groups to make this program and our brochure available to the
people of North Charleston.

North Charleston is a modern city that includes historic neighborhoods 1like
Liberty Hill, Chicora and Cherokee, Deas Bill, Ferndale and Russelldale,
Midland rark, Nafair, Olde North Charleston, Whipper Barony. We'‘'re proud of
the places where we have worked for generations: the Navy Yard, Garco, and
West Virginia Pulp and Paper.

We start our slide presentation with 1. Robert Mills Atlas of 1825,

a section of Robert Mills Atlas. (*) Charleston District (Courtesy of
This shows the area of Rorth Sandlapper Publishing Company,
Charleston in 1825. Orangeburg, S.C.)

You can see South Carolina‘s his-
tory in North Charleston today.
Filbin Creek. Dorchester Road.
Plantations with names like Arch-
dale Rall, Windsor Hill, The Elms,
Otranto, and Accabee. The South
Carolina Railroad. Some places have
been written about for decades, but
others have nearly been forgotten.
(*) Here is the Quarter House Marker

on Meeting Street Road at Charleston 2. Quarcer House Marker

Heights.

{*) Many of these slides are famil-

iar scenes to you. If you want to 3. Ingleside Plantation House [burned in
ask about one, don't be afraid to the 19203} (from Barriett Kershaw

stop me, or ask about it after we're Leiding, Bistoric Houses of South Caro-
finished. A list with sources is on lins (Philadelphia, 1921)

file with the Department of Planning
and Management at City Hall.

(*) North Charleston straddles the 4. Five Mile Viaduct carrying
most important geographic link in King Street Extension over
South Carolina's early history. The Meeting Street Road

route from Charleston through the
North Area has been followed by
highways, (*) railroads, trading
paths and Indian trails.

5. Railroad Line locking North
toward Ladson
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(*) Betfore 1700, lands were granted
in the area between the Ashley and
Cooper Rivers. This is an 1800
painting of Wigton Plantation near
Goose Creek.

(*) Here is Riverview Cemetery on
Accabee Plantation.

(*) Early settlers traveled by
water or land to Charleston and to
their new charches. We still use
soma of their roads and churches
today. (*)

In those early years, (*) the popu-
lation was low. Mosquitoes were
fierce in the swamps and marshes.
There were a few large planters and
their slaves, (*) but much of the
Rorth Area was too wet to farm.

Our forests supplied early shipyards
(*) and fed the lumber mills that
employed thousands of people between
the Civil War and the Great Depres-
si0on.

After the railroad opened in the
1830s, shops and taverns sprang up
near depots. Sometimes a cemetery
{(*) is the oldest sign of a commun-
ity, like here at Midland Park.

Planned settlements grew ap along
main roads. (*) The oldest church in
¥orth Charleston is St. Peters AME
at Liberty Hill. (*) This freedmen's
village may be the oldest neighbor-
hood in North Charleston. It was
established in 1864, before the
Civil War had even ended. As the
plat shows, lots were several acres,
to allow for houses and small farms.

Soon after St. Peters began, (*)
Union Baptist Church was organized
near Deas Hill.

The modern era (*) in North Charles-
ton began in 1900, with the estab-
lishment (*) of the Charleston Navy
Base on the site of Chicora Park.(*)
With a quick change of focus, the
North Area was transformed from a
zone of timber tracts to a land of
homesites. (*)(*)

6. Watercolor, Wigton Plantation (Goose
Creek) in 1800 (from Alice R. Huger Smith,
ed. A Charleston Sketchbook, 17961806, by
Charles Fraser (Charleston, rep. 1959).

7. Stone at Riverview Cemetery

8. St. James, Goose Creek Parish Church

(from Charleston Sketchbook)

9. St. Andrews Parish Church

10. Blue House Swamp, from Highway 78

11l. From Spruill Avenue toward
Baxter Street in Chicora

12. Lumber Boat, Typical Scene (from the col-
lection of Horry County Public Library,

Conway, S.C.)

13. Johnson Cemetery, Stall Road,
Midland Park

14. St. Peters AME Church, Liberty Bill

15. 1871 Plat of Liberty Hill (from
Charleston County Registexr of Mesne

Conveyance )

16. Placque, Union Baptist Church, bDaly
Avenue

17. "Dead House” on Navy Base (courtesy of
National Trust for Historic Preservation,
Southern Regional Office, Charleston, S.C.)
18. Construction of Dxy Dock One (from Jim
McoNeil, Charleston's Navyy Yard: A Picture
History (Charleston, 1985, by permission).
19. Quarters A, Navy Yard (Naticnal Trust
photo)
20. Dormer Detail, 3447 Apache Street,
Cherckee
21. 1809 & 1811 Carlton Street, Chicora
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But many long-~term residents (*),
from Ten Mile to Accabee, still
worked at fertilizer plants, country
stores, (*) or lumber mills.

(*) In terms of numbers, (*) nothing
equals the thousands of people who
came with the Navy Base and the
buildings that housed them. (*)

The earliest strictly residential
subdivisions are Buckfield and
Chicora Place, next door to the Navy
Yard. In Buckfield there are
several houses (*) that look like
(*) this typical “freedmen's cot-
tage" of Charleston.(*) Some houses
in Chicora also show the influence
of the Charleston style. (*)

We don't see other replicas of
Charleston architecture in North
Charleston's historic neighborhoods.
(*) Our builders were influenced by
national styles like the bungalow,
and not by Charleston tradition.
Even these 1910 buildings (*) that
were designed by a Charleston archi-
tect reflect mainstream American
tastes. (*)

Good examples of bungalows were
built in (*) Cherokee Place and Olde
Horth Charleston. (*) (*)

(*) The city plan for Olde North
Charleston was also very modern,
with clear connections to national
trends in landscape design. (*)(*)

(*) Olde North Charleston was a (*)
fully planned city with separate
zones for (*) shopping, (*) resi-
dences, (*) and industry.

{*) General Asbestos and Rubber Com-
pany (Garco) built its first factory
building in 1915.

(*) wWworld War One brought a major
build-up of the Ravy Yard.(*) Then
the yard was nearly mothballed due
to post-war reductioms. (*) The Navy
and Army both sold buildings for
salvage and relocation.

22. Phosphate Workers (by peonission,
from Bernard E. Powers, Black Charles-
tonians: A Social History 1822-1885
(Fayetteville, AR, 1994).

23. Burton Lumber Company Train (from
Thomas Petters, Logging Railroads of South
Carolina (Forest Park, IL, 1990).

24. Navy Yard Entrance at Spruill Avenue
{Natiopal Trust photo)

25. Ben Tillman Homes (River Place)

26. Ben Tillman Homes, 2nd View

27. 3319 Proctor Street, Buckfield
28. 1902 Ubank Street, Buckfield
29. 452 Huger Street, City of Charleston

30. 1937 Redwood Street, Chicora

31. 1906 & 1908 Carlton Street, Chicora
32. 1808 Carlton Street, Chicora
33. 1900 & 1902 Calvert Street, Chicora

34. 3445 Cochise Street, Cherckee Place
35. 1114 Marquis Road
36. Garco Village House, Hyde Avenue

37. 1913 Plat of North Charleston (RMC)
38. Aerial Photo, Park Circle (Department

of Planning and Management photo)
39. Quarterman Park

40. USO Building at Park Circle
41. North Charleston Graded School
42. Califfs Drugs

43. 1215 park Place South

44. 4702 park Place Rast

45. Garco, Building #1

46. Navy Yard Building #9 (National Trust
photo)

47. Building 13, Naval Clothing Factory
(National Trust)

48. World War One Houses on McKReal Tract,
Meeting Street Road
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(*) The Great Depression hit North
Charleston early and hard, but the
neighborhoods continued to grow (*)
(*y(*)-

During the 1920s, (*) state and
federal spending made a big differ-
ence to North Charleston. (*) The
great era of state school construc-
tion was increased by the "alphabet
soup” agencies of Franklin D. Roose-
velt's New Deal.(*) Beginning in
1933 there was a long period of
sustained growth (*) at the Ravy
Yard. (*)(*)(*).

In 1937, West Virginia Pulp and
Paper Company built a plant on the
Cooper River. (*) Garco expanded and
ran double shifts to supply WestvaCo
and the Navy (*) with fireproof
industrial fibers. In 1939 Rivers
Avenue (*) was laid as a dual lane
north of Montague Avenue and neigh-
borhoods like Ferndale and Morning-
side (*) developed.

New Deal projects (*) in North
Charleston and at the Navy Yard
overlapped with the World war Two
buildup. (*) Two large projects
intended as permanent low-income
housing were taken over for war
workers. (*) The federal government
also built schools for defense
workers' children.

(*)The federal Defense Homes
Corporation (*) built Palmetto
Gardens. (*)(*)(*)

(*)The Army threw up hundreds of
buildings at Stark General Hospi-
tal(*), now Stark Industrial Park.

Prefabricated housing (*) may be the
most interesting wartime construc-
tion in North Charleston. Hundreds
of buildings (*) were put together
from sections shipped in on trains.
By 1943, workers could assemble
Liberty Homes in less than eight
hours per building, (*) even working
around the trees that still stand at
Century Oaks.

{*)The buildings were also demount-
able. (*) They could be taken apart
and moved as easily as they were put
up. (*) The Tom McMillan Homes were
removed from the site of the present
Naval Hospital. Thirty of them are
now Dor-Towne Apartments. (*)

49.
50.

51.
52.

53.
54.
55.
56.
57.

58.
59.

60.
61.

62.

63.

65.

66.

67.
68.
69.

70.
71.

73.

4.

76.

78.

79.
80.

Train on Street (Horry County Library
photo)

3429 & 3435 Cochise Street, Cherokee
Charleston Beights Baptist Chuarch
Detail, Old Charleston Heights
Baptist Church

Chicora Graded School

Ladson School

Mess Hall, Municipal Prison Farm
1941 Naval Hospital (Rational Trust
photo)

Ship Launching (from Ravy Yard)
"Panama House" (National Trust photo)
Shipbuilders with Ship {(from Ravy
Yard)

Garco, Building #8

Streetscape, Garco Village, Byde
Averme

Rivers avenue Dual Lane, Facing Rorth
between Puller and Gaynor St.
Streetscape, Aster Drive, Morningside

George Legare Homes (North Park
Village)

1941 Map, Tom McMillan & George
Legare (Sanborn Co. Insurance Maps)
Ben Tillman School (Ronald McNMair

Elementary)

Constructing Palmetto Gardens (W. L.
Califf photo, courtesy Ruth Cupp)
4718 Marlboro

4803 Boulevard

Streetscape, Berckman Street

4771 Churchill

Stark Army Hospital Building
Stark Army Hospital Bailding

John C. Calhoun Bomes
John C. Calhoun Homes, 2nd Shot

Liberty Hames (Century Oaks)

Demountable Apartments, 4846 Gaynor
Avenue, Perndale

Demountable Apartments, 2175 West
Jimtown Road, Deas Hill

Dor-Towme Apartments

bor-Towne Apartments
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(*) Because the War Production Board
allowed construction materials to be
diverted from the war effort, pri-
vate contractors could build whole
neighborhoods for war workers. (*)
The Long family developed Nafair,
enlarged it to the west side of
Rivers Avenue, (*} then built Waylyn
and Dorchester Terrace(*). These
were permanent houses. Even though
they were built quickly, with stock
elements and plans, (*) they were
not prefabricated. (*) Every effort
was made to create neighborhoods of
individual homes.

{*) The Hottinger family's Whipper
Barony rivaled Nafair in location,
lot size, and house plans.(*) The
most identifiable houses here were
built by the General Housing Corpor-
ation. (*) They are unmistakable
because of the chimneys and the
interesting porch details.(*)

(*) We should not forget the
individual private homes built in
neighborhoods like Fermdale and Mid-
land Park. (*) Not nearly as many of
them were built as in the war
housing complexes, (*) but each of
‘them is interesting.

“The end of World War Two ended the
historic era in North Charleston’'s
architecture. (*) Cameron Terrace
is the first of the modern neighbor-
hoods of ranch-style brick houses.

(*) Housing patterns came full-
circle when Garco sold most of its
village in the 1970s and 80s. (*)
These houses were not demountable,
and were moved intact. (*) All over
North Charleston, from new subdivi-
sions like Wando Woods to the oldest
sections like (*) Highland Terrace
and Liberty Hill, appear the Garco
houses. (*)

~LIGHTS COME ON-

81.

82.

83.

B4.
85.
B6.

87.

88.
89.

90.

91.
92.
93.

94.

95.
96.
7.
98.

3515, 3517 & 3519 Admiral Drive,
Nafair
3536 & 3534 Admiral Drive, Nafair

2116 & 2114 Captain Avenue, Nafair
Extension

Sorentrue Avenue, Dorchester Terrace
Kent Avenue, Doxchester Terrace
South Allen Drive, Dorchester Terrace

Rewspaper Ad, Rafair & Whipper Barony
(fram News and Courier, May 1540)
Walnut Street, corner of Birah Strxeet
Streetscape, East Side of Chestnut
Street

Portico Detail, 3918 Walnut Street

2001 Puller Street, Ferndale
1911 Harper Street, Perndale
House on Stall Road, Midland Park

Victoria Avenue, Cameron Terrace

2335 Taylor Street, Liberty Park
4752 Nesbit Avenue, Liberty Hill
2738 Bonds Avenue, Murray Bill

2109 Target Street, Liberty Park

99. 4761 Luella Street, Liberty Hill

North Charleston's historic sites and neighborhoods have been connected

together by modern residential and commercial development.

The old and the

new, historic and modern neighborhoods, make North Charleston a unique city.
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South Carolina Statewide Survey Site Form
State Historic Preservation Office
P.0O. Box 11669 ¢ Columbis ® SC e+ 29211 » (803) 7348609

IDENTIFICATION

1. Control Number __ / / / 2. NR Microfiche index ¥
county census designated place site #
3. Historic numne(s):
4. Common name;
5. Address/location:
Gity: Vicinity of; County: -
6. Owpership:  private (1) dty (2) county (3) state (4) federal (5) 9. Current use(s): single dwelling (1) muld dwelling (2)
7. Category: building (1) site (2) structure (3) object (4) commerdial (3) other (0)

8. Historic use(s): single dwelling (1) muld dwelling (2) commercial (3) 10.Potential:

other (0)

11. Status/date:  lisied individually in Natdonal Register __ /_ /__
_listed as part of NR historic district __/_ /_ Name of district

_contributing __non-conuibuting

__listed individually National Historic Landmark __/__/__

__determined eligible—owner objection _ /_ /__
—determined NOT eligible _/__/____
_deferred by reviewboard __/_ /

—rejected by Washingion __/_ /____

__pending federal nomination _/__ /____

__completed Preliminary Information Sheet (PIS)_ /_ /__

12. Number of contribating properties:
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: When other (0) is chosen, enter data on reverse side wunder category 20 or 21.

13. Construction Date

14. Alteration Date

16. Commercial Form — circle appropriate responac (s)

A) 2-part commercial block
B) 1-part commercial block
C) enframed window wall

D )stacked vertical block

E) 2-part vertical block
F) .-part vertical block

17. DESCRIPTION: Select as many responses as appropriate.

A) HISTORIC CORE SHAPE

rectangular (1)
square (2)
L (%)
T(4)
U (5)
H (6)
octagonal (7)
irregular (8)
other (0)

B) STORIES
1 story (1)
1 1/2 stories (2)
2 swories (3)
21/2 stories (4)
3 sworics (5)
other (0)

C) PORCH HEIGHT
1 story (1)
1 story w/deck (2)
2 or more stories (3)
2 or more with tiers (4)
roofed balcony over 1 story
hip/shed (5)
other (0)

D) ROOF SHAPE

gable (end to front) (1)
gable (lateral) (2)
hip (3)

cross gable (4)
pyranudal (5)

flat (6)

truncated hip (7)
‘gambrel (8)
mansard (9)

salt box (10)
jerkinhead (11)
gable-on-hip (12)
mono-pitch (14)
not visible (15)
other (0)

E) PORCH WIDTH
entrance bay only (1)
over 1 bay, less than full
facade(2)
full facade (3)
facade & left elevation (4)
facade & right elevaton (5)
facade & both elevatons (6)
other (0)

name

NR(1) NR historic district (2) archacological (8)

__partof NHL district __/_ /__
—DOEprocess _/__/__

__sejected by review board__/__/__

_removed from NR _/_/__

__removed from survey __/__ /__

—demolished _ /__/__

__nominadon on file/never processed __/__/__

15. Architectural style or influence

G) temple front
H) vault
1) enframed block

F) PORCH ROOF SHAPE
shed (1)
hip (2)
gable (8) ©
pedimented gable (4)
flat (5)
engaged (6)
partially engaged (7)
gable-on-hip or shed (8)
engaged porte cochere (9)
other (0)

G) NUMBER OF CHIMNEYS
___exterior (1)
___interiorend (2)
___inteior (3)

___central (4)

__flue (%)

___double shouldered (6)
___notvisible (7)
__other (0)

J) Central block w/wings
K) arcaded block
0) other

H) WINDOWS
single (1)
double (2)
tripartite (8)
grouped (4)
decoragve (5)

display (6)
other (0)

I) PANE CONFIGURATION
taceried (1)
Queen Anne block-glass (2)

Prairie /bungalow/craftsman

geometric (3}
notvisible (4)
other (0)
S S

]) DOORS
__single (1)
__double (2)
mansom (3)
fankght (4)
sidelighus (5)

9/%



K) CONSTRUCTION METHOD
rmasonry (1)

frame (2)

log ()

steel (4)

other (0)

L) EXTERIOR WALLS

weatherboard (1)

beaded weatherboard (2)

shiplap (3)

flushboard (4)

wood shingle (5)

stcco (6)

wbby (7)

brick (8)

brick veneer (9)

sone veneer (10)

caststone (11)

marble (12)

asphalt roll (13)

synthedc siding (14)

azbestos shingle (15)

pigmented suuctural
glass(16)

other (0}

M) PORCH DETAILS
chamfered posus (1)
umed posts (2)
supporis on pedestals (8)
columns (4)
posts (5)
piers (6)
pillars (7)
freestanding posts (8)
balustrade (9)
apron wall (10)
turmed balusters (11)
decoratve sawn balusters (12)
slat balusters (13)
other sawn/tumed work (14)
insect screening (15)
porte cochere (16)
other (0)

N) CHIMNEY MATERIAL
brick (1)
suiccoed brick (2)
stone (3)
brick & stone (4)
other (0)

18 HISTORIC OUTBUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES:

none (1)

none visible (2)

garage (3)

garage w/living area (4)
shed (5)

kitchen (6)

tenant house (7)
other house (8)
office (9)

barn (10}
tobacco barn (11)
dairy (12)

O) ROOF MATERIAL
composition shingle (1)
pressed meul shingle (2)
wood shingle (3)
slate (4)
raised seam metal (5)
other metal (6}
rolled roofing (7)
not visible (8)
tdle (9)
other (0)

P) FOUNDATION
not visible (1)
brick pier (2)
brick pler with fill (3)
brick (4)
stuccoed masonry (5)
stone pier (6)
stone (7)
concrete block (8)
slab construction (9)
basement (10)
raised basement (11)
other (0)

crib (18
smokehouse (14)
slave house (15)
privy (16)

well (17)
springhouse (18)

Q) DECORATIVE ELEMENT
MATERIAL
cast ron (1)
pressed metal (2)
terrz coltz (8)
granite (4)
marble (5)
cast stonc (6)
brick (7)
wood (8)
pigmented glass (9)
stone (10)
stucco (11)
other (0)

R) INTERIOR FEATURES (list)

store (19)
windmill (20)
chicken coop (21)
silo (22)
washhouse (28)
root cellar (24)
other (0)

19. SURROUNDINGS: residental (1) residential/commercial(2) commercial (3) rural (4) rural community (5) industrial (6) other (0)

20. ADDITIONAL DESCRIPTIVE COMMENTS:

21. ALTERATIONS

HISTORICAL INFORMATION

22. Theme(s): 23. Period(s): 24. Important persons:

25. Architect(s): Source:

26. Builder(s) Source:

27. Historical data

28. Informant/Bibliography

PROGRAM MANAGEMENT

29. Quadrangle name: : 30. Photographs prints (1) slides (2) negatves (3)

81. Other documentation: survey back-up files (1) National Register files (2) tax act files (8) grant files (4) state historical marker files (5)
environmental review files (6) HABS/HAER (7) SCIAA (8) other (0) #

32 Recorder name/frm _ 33, Date recorded / /




South Carolina Statewide Survey Site Form
CONTINUATION AND PHOTOGRAPHS

Control Number / / -/
county census designated place site #
Continuation:
(Use grid for sketching)
I
(Attach photas here)
Photo # Photo Index # View of N,S,EW

Date Taken/Recorded by:

State Historic Preservation Office ¢« P.O. Box 11669 * Columbia, SC 29211 (803)A734-8609
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Compiled TInventory of Sites

The compiled inventory of sites is a comprehensive list of all properties
included in the North Charleston Historical and Architectaral Inventory.
USGS Topographic Map Code, Site Number, Tax Parcel Number, Street Address,
bate (or circa date), Name and Neighborhood (where appropriate) are provided
for each site. The list is printed here in order of street address.

The compiled inventory was provided on computer disk to the City of North
Charleston Department of Planning and Management, formatted as a data base
that can be sorted by any of the categories of information. The data base
format aided the Evaluation of Survey Data (Section 12 of the Survey Report)
and will allow the Department of Planning and Management to search the files
by Tax Parcel Rumber or Reighborhood as well as by Street Address.

Key to Types
APT Apartment Building
BARN Barn
BRG Bridge
CEM Cemetery
CHU Church
COM Commercial Building
DUP Duplex
G-Apt Garage with Upstairs Apartment
HOS Hospital
LDG Lodge
LNDS Designed Landscape
MFG Manufacturing Plant
MISC Miscellaneous/Varied
MR Multiple Residence (More than Two Units)
OBJ Object or Monument
Park Park
PUB Public Service Building
REC Recreational PFacility
SCH Schonl
SFR Single Family Residence
SITE Property without Buildings
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Site #
1931
1959.00
1662.03
1889
1890
1867.14
1967.07
1967.14
1967.18
1967.07
1967.12
1816.00
1816.01
1816.00
1816.01
1816.00
1816.01
1816.01
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.01
1816.00
1816.00
1818.00
1816.00
1816.02
1816.01
1816.01
1816.00
1816.00
1818.01
1816.00
1816.00
1816.01
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.00
1816.01
1816.00
1816.00
1816.01
1816.00
18186.01
1816.02
1816.01
1816.01
1816.00
1967.14
1987.12
1967.14
1967.00
1967.00
1967.14
1967.14
1967.00
1967.18
1967.05
1967.07

Tax Parcel #
470-14-0-254
470-03-0-107
470-03-0-121
469-11-0-188
468-11-0-180
411-16-0-297
411-16-0-162
411-16-0-163
411-16-0-285
411-16-0-184
411-16-0-291
469-06-0-043
469-06-0-042
469-06-0-048
485-06-0-041
469-06-0-047
469-06-0-040
463-06-0-048
469-06-0-039
469-06-0-049
4689-06-0-050
465-06-0-037
469-06-0-051

465-06-0-017

4658-06-0-013
469-06-0-011

469-09-0-100
468-03-0-101

465-05-0-104

St.# Street
2116 Aberdeen Ave.
4740 Abraham St.
4761 Abratam St.
2148 Accabee Rd.
2160 Accabee Rd.
2601 Accabee Rd.
2602 Accabee Rd.
2804 Accabee Rd.
2605 Accabes Rd.
2606 Accabes Rd.
2611 Accabee Rd.
3503 Adevéral Dr.
3505 Admiral Dr.
3506 Admiral Dr.
3507 Admiral Dr,
3508 Admiaad Dr.
3509 Admiral Dr.
3510 Admiral Dr.
3511 Admiral Dr,
3512 Admiral Dr.
3514 Admiral Dr,
3515 Admicad Dr.
3516 Admiral Dr.
3517 Admiral Dr.
3518 Admiral Dr.
3519 Admiral Dr.
3520 Admiral Dr.
3521 Admiral Dr.
3522 Admical Dr.
3523 Admirad Or.
3525 Admiral Dr.
3526 Admiral Dr.
3527 Admiral Dr.
3529 Admiral Dr.
3530 Admiral Dr.
3531 Admiral Dr.
3532 Admirai Dr.
3533 Adimiral Dr.
3534 Admirad Dr.
3535 Admiral Dr.
3536 Admiral Dr.
3538 Admiral Dr.
3539 Admirad Dr.
3540 Admiral Or.
3541 Admiral Dr.
3542 Admiral Dr.
3543 Admirat Dr.
3544 Admiral Dr.
3545 Admiral Dr.
3546 Admirat Dr.
3549 Admiraf Dr.
3551 Admiral Dx.
3553 Admiral Dx.
3555 Admiral Dr.
3557 Admiral Dr.
3561 Admiral Dr.
3563 Admirad Dr.
3567 Admiral Dr.
3569 Admiral Or.
3571 Admiral Dx.
4537 Admiral Dr,
2303 Aintree Ave.
2304 Aintree Ave.
2305 Aintree Ave.
2308 Amtree Ave.
2305 Aintree Ave.
2310 Aintree Ave.
2312 Aintree Ave.
2313 Aindree Ave,
2318 Aintree Ave.
2321 Aintree Ave.
2327 Alntree Ave.

Type Date Name

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR

1935 ca.
1940 ca.
1916 ca.
1040 ca.
1930 ca.
1942

1942

1842

1842

1942

1942

1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca,
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1540 ca.
1940 ca.
1540 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ¢a.
1940 ca.
1340 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
~944

1944

1944

1944

1944

1944

1544

1944

1944

1944

1944

Bungaiows
Garco - Type B (moved)

Type Nine
Type Five
Type Nine
Type Eleven
Type Five
Type Eight

One & One-Half Story Houses
One-Story Houses
One & One-Half Story Houses
One-Stary Houses
One & One-Half Story Houses
One & One-Half Story Houses

One-Story Houses

One & One-Half Story Houses
One-Story Houses
One-Story Houses

One & One-Half Story Houses
One-Story Houses

One & One-Haif Story Houses
Two-Story Houses

One & One-Half Story Housas
One & One-Half Story Houses
One-Story Houses

Type Nine

Type Eight

Type Nine

Type One

Type One

Type Nine

Type Nine

Type One

Type Eleven

Type Four

Type Five

Liberty Hill
Liberty Hili

Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace

EEEESEEE%%E%EE%EEE%EE%E%E%E%EEEE%
H

Nafair
Nafair
Nafair

Nafair
Nafair

Nafair

Nafalr
Nafair
Nafair
Nafair
Natair
Nafaic
Nafalr
Nafair
Nafair
Dorchester Tesrace
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Tefrace
Dorchester Tesmuce
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Teirace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
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276
276
276
276
276

BRRanEs33383833B3A88888

BEBREBEEBEEBE

Ske #

Tax Parcel #

1967.09 469-09-0-081

1967.14
1693
1715
1710
1708
1714
1710
1655
1713
1712
1718.01
1800
1900
1900
1900
1786
1784
1793
1957
1958
1956
1858
1858
1800
1900
1900
1900
1800
1800
1800
1830.00
1830.00
1830.00
1662.09
1662.09
1831
1831
1831
1831
1830.01
1662.05
1662.05
15714
1570
1784
1617
1851
1951
1951
1951
1951
1951
1801
1900
1902
1800
1800
1800
1967.12
1967.05
1967.11
1967.18
1967.18
1967.18
1845
1967.14
1967.05
1967.07
1867.00
1967.12
1967.05

469-08-0-080
470-08-0-244
470-08-0-243
470-08-0-245
470-08-0-246
470-08-0-241
470-08-0-247
470-08-0-248
470-08-0-239
470-08-0-249
470-08-0-238
473-14-0-171

473-14-0-167
473-14-0-168
473-14-0-169
471-15-0-181

471-15-0-191

471-150-192
472-16-0-040
472-16-0-314
472-16-0-018
472-16-0-044
472-16-0-045
471-03-0-010
471-03-0-014
471-03-0-009
471-03-0-015
471-02-0-008

471-03-0-018
471-03-0-019
469-08-0-258
469-08-0-253
469-08-0-255
469-08-0-173
469-08-0-167
469-08-0-174
4689-08-0-166
469-08-0-175
465-08-0-259
469-08-0-253
469-08-0-257
469-08-0-261

471-15-0-138
471-15-0-139
471-15-0-145
471-150-148
470-02-0-028
470-02-0-032
470-02-0-033
470-02-0-034
470-02-0-036
470-02-0-020
473-14-0-102
473-14-0-103
473-14-0-072
473-14-0-108
473-14-0-066
473-14-0-111
485-09-0-007
469-09-0-006
469-09-0-005
468-09-0-004
465-09-0-003
469-09-0-002
412-04-0-003
469-10-0-174
469-10-0-176
468-10-0-168
469-10-0-181
469-10-0-167
469-10-0-166

St # Street
2329 Aintree Ave.
2331 Alndree Ave.
1004 Alamo St.
1005 Alamo St
1006 Alamo St.
1010 Alamo St.
1011 Alamo St.
1014 Alamo St.
1018 Alamo St.
1019 Alamo St
1022 Alamo St.
1023 Alamo St.
5526 Aldrich Ave.
5604 Aldrich Ave.
5610 Aldrich Ave.
5616 Aldrich Ave
4696 Alpiva St.
5012 Alpha St
5014 Alpha St.
2008 Alon St.
2016 Alton St
2017 Alton St.
2018 Alton St.
2020 Alton St.
5435 Annette St.
5438 Annetie St
5441 Annette St.
5442 Aanette St.
5445 Annefte St.
5458 Annette St.
5460 Annette St.
3439 Apache St
3444 Apache St
3447 Apache St
3366 Apache St.
3371 Apache St
3372 Apache St
3375 Apache St.
3376 Apache St.
3427 Apache St
3431 Apache St.
3435 Apache St
3436 Apache St.
1130 Arant St.
1134 Arant St.
1170 Asrant St.
1186 Arant St.
4715 Aster Dr.
4744 Aster Dr.
4748 Aster Dr,
4754 Aster Dr.
4764 Aster Dr.
4765 Aster Dr
5512 Attaway St
5516 Attaway St.
5611 Aftaway St.
5620 Attaway St
5635 Attaway St.
5638 Attaway St.
3645 Aralea Ave.
3647 Azalea Ave.
3649 Azalea Ave.
3651 Azalea Ave.
3653 Azalea Ave
3655 Azalea Ave
3715 Azalea Dr.
2203 Bailley Dr.
2206 Bailey Dr
2215 Balley Dr.
216 Baiey Dr.
2217 Babey Dr.
2218 Bailey Dx.

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR

Date

1844

1944

1915 ca.
1935 ca.
1915 ca.
1915 ca
1925 ca.
1915 ca.
1915 ca.
1920 ca.
1920 ca.

G-Apt 1935 ca.

SFR

SFR

SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
CEM
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

1935 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1945 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1540 ca.
1835 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca
1940 ca.
1940 ¢a.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1920 ca.
1935 ca.
1920 ca
1916 ca.
1916 ca
1935 ca.
1845 ca.
1935 ca.
1840 ca.
1935 ca.
1916 ca.
1916 ¢a.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1935 ca.
1845 ca.
1941 ca.
1941 ca.
1941 ca.
1941 ca.
1941 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1935 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1941

1941

1941

1941

1941

1841

1820 ca.
1944

1944

1944

1844

1944

1844

Name
Type Six
Type Nine

Taylor House

Flynn House

Mirimai-Traditional Cottages
Minimas-Traditional Cottages
Minima-Traditional Cotteges
Minimal-Traditional Cottages

Minimal-Traditional Cottages
Minimat-Traditional Cottages
Minimad-Tracditional Cottages
Minirral-Traditional Cottages
Minimal-Traditional Cottages
Minimat-Traditional C

Bungalows, Minimal-Traditional |

Micirmak-Tradit -

Bungaiows

Minimal-Traditional Cott
Minimal-Traditional Cottages
Minimal-Traditional Cottages
Type Eight

Type Four

Type Seven

Type Ten

Type Eleven

Type Eleven

Riverview Cemetery

Type Nine

Type Four

Type Five

Type One

Type Eight

Type Four
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Site #

1967 .16
1967.02
1967.16
1967.00
1967.18
1967.12
1967.00
1967.16
1967.14
1967.12
196711
1967.07
1967.14
1967.12
1967.05
1967.05
1967.18
1967.00
1967.16
1967.12
1967.05
1967.16
1967.11
1967.05
1967.14
1967.16
1967.05
1967.14
1967.05
1967.05
1967.07
1967.16
1867.07
1967.16
1967.11
1967.12
1867.12
1967.12
1967.00
1967.14
1967.12
1967.16
1967.05
1967.18
1967.05
1967.12
1967.18
1967.12
1867.16
1967.00
1830

1825.00
1825.00
1828.02
1828.02
1636.01
1636.01
1636.00
1636.00
1636.01
1618

1620

1630

1628

1629

1627

1633.06
1633.07
1633.11
1633.04
1633.04
1633.03

Tax Parcel #
469-10-0-183
468-10-0-164
469-10-0-163
469-10-0-188
468-10-0-187
469-10-0-160
469-10-0-158
469-10-0-188
468-10-0-157
468-10-0-156
469-10-0-191
489-10-0-192
489-10-0-153
469-10-0-151
463-10-0-195
463-10-0-150
469-10-0-148
469-10-0-124
469-10-0-147
469-10-0-146
469-10-0-126
469-10-0-145
469-10-0-127
469-10-0-128
4695-10-0-130
4659-10-0-141
469-10-0-131
469-10-0-140
469-10-0-133
469-10-0-134
469-10-0-136
469-09-0-135
469-09-0-136
465-09-0-059
469-09-0-065
469-09-0-054
469-09-0-067

469-09-0-068
459-08-0-052
469-09-0-049
468-09-0-048

465-05-0-037
470-14-0-061

468-02-0-079
468-02-0-080
469-02-0-081

4859-02-0-140
469-16-0-248
469-16-0-234
469-16-0-255
469-18-0-229
465-16-0-226
471-15-0-216
471-15-0-214
471-15-0-228
471-15-0-202
471-15-0-231
471-15-0-198
471-14-0-017
471-14-0-003
471-14-0-018
471-14-0-004
471-14-0-014
471-14-0-006

St # Street
2220 Bailey Dr.
2223 Balley Dr.
2225 Bajey Dr.
2228 Badey Dr.
2228 Bailey Dr.
2231 Baley Dr.
2235 Bailey Dr.
2236 Baley Dr.
2237 Badey Dr.
2735 Baitey Dr.
2242 Balley Dr.
2244 Balley Dr.
2245 Bajley Dr.
2247 Badey Dr.
2250 Bailey Dr.
2251 Bailey Dr.
2255 Basey Dr.
2256 Bailey Dr.
2257 Badey Dr.
2259 Balley Dr.
2260 Baley Dr.
2261 Bailey Dr.
2262 Bailey Dr.
2264 Baiey Dr.
2268 Baley Dr.
2269 Balley Dr.
2270 Baley Dr.
2271 Babey Dr.
2274 Bailey Dr.
2276 Baifley Dr.
2279 Bailey Dr.
2304 Bailey Dr.
2306 Bafley Dr.
2311 Bailey Dr.
2320 Baiey Dr.
2323 Bailey Dr.
2324 Balley Dr.
2325 Bailey Dr.
2326 Badey Dr.
2327 BaBey Dr.
2333 Bailey Dr.
2335 Badey Dr.
2336 Balley Dr.
2337 Badley Dr.
2340 Balley Dr.,
2341 Badey Dr.
2342 Bafley Dr.
2345 Balfley Dr.
2355 Balley Dr.
2357 Bafley Dr.
4017 Bamberg St.
2144 Banyan St
2150 Banyan St.
2156 Banyan St

2174 Banyan St.
1812 Bader St.

1919 Banter St.
1928 Baxter St.
1929 Baxter St.
1935 Baxter St.
4957 Baylor St.
4961 Baylor St.
5004 Baylor St.
5007 Baylor St.
5010 Baylor St.
5015 Baylor St.
4803 Berckman Rd.
4804 Bercikanan Rd.
4805 Berckman Rd.
4806 Bevckman Rd.
4809 Berclonan Rd.

4810 Berciman Rd.

Type

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
5FR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

1844
1944
1944
1844
1944
1944
1844
1944
1844
1944
1844
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1544
1944
1544
1944
1944
1944
1944
1944
1844
1944
1944
1844
1944
1944
1544
1944
1944
1944
1844
1944
1944
1544
1544
1844
1944
1935 ca.
1943 ca.
1943 ca.
1843
1943
1935 ca.
1940 ca.
1935 ca.
1935 ca.
1940 ca.
1935 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca,
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1941
1841
1841
1941
1941
1941

Type Ten
Type Two
Type Ten
Type One
Type Eloven
Type Eight
Type One
Type Ten
Type Nine
Type Eight
Type Seven
Type Five
Type Nine
Type Eight
Type Four
Type Four
Type Eleven
Type One
Type Ton
Type Eight
Type Four
Type Ten
Type Seven
Type Four
Type Nine
Type Ten
Type Four
Type Nine
Type Four
Type Four
Type Five
Type Ten
Type Five
Type Ten

Type Ten

Palmetto Gardens, Type D2
Palmetto Gardens, Type E
Paimetto Gardens, Type G
Palmetto Gardens, Typs C
Palmetto Gardens, Type C
Paknetto Gardens, Type B

Dorchester Yerrace
Dorchester Temrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Tesrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Tefrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Teirace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Tesrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Tesrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Temrace
Dorchester Teirace
Dorchester Tesmace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchenter Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Temmace
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Temace
Dorchaster Terrace
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Temmace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester Termace
Dorchester TefTace
Dorchester Terrace
Dorcheater Terrace
Dorchoater Terrace
Dorchester Termace
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Sie # Tax Parcel # St # Street Type Date Name Neighborhood
1633.05 471-14-0-013 4811 Bercianan Rd. SFR 1941 Pakmnetto Gardens, Type D1 Olde North Charleston
1633.02 471-14-0-007 4812 Berckman Rd. SFR 1941 Paimetto Gardens, Type A2 Olds North Charleston
1633.07 471-14-0012 4813 Berckman Rd. SFR 1941 Palmetto Gardens, Type E Olde North Charleston
1633.03 471-140-008 4814 Berckman Rd. SFR 1841 Palmetto Gardens, Type B Olde North Charleston
1633.10 471-14-0-029 4815 Berckman Rd. SFR 1941 Palmetto Gardens, Type F3 Olde North Charleston
1633.01 471-14-0-009 4816 Berckman Rd. SFR 1941 Palmetic Gardens, Type A1 Oide North Charleston
1633.01 471-14-0-011 4820 Berckman Rd. SFR 1941 Palmetto Gardens, Type A1 Olde Notth Charleston
1519.06 469-03-0-002 3867 Berea Cr. MR 1541 George Legare Homes, Two-Sto North Park Village
1519.06 469-03-0-002 3869 Berea Cr. MR 1941 George Legare Homes, Two-Sto  North Park Vilage
1518.06 468-03-0-002 3875 Berea Cr. MR 1941 George Legare Homes, Two-Sto North Park Village
1519.08 469-03-0-002 3877 Berasa Cr. MR 1941 George Legare Homes, Two-Sto North Park Vitage
1519.06 469-03-0-002 3881 Berea Cr. MR 1541 George Legare Homes, Two-Sto North Park Vilage
1518.06 468-03-0-002 3883 Berea Cr. MR 1941 George Legare Homes, Two-Sto  North Park Viltage
1518.06 465-03-0-002 3885 Berea Cr. MR 1841 George Legare Homes, Two-Sto  North Park Village
1708 470-08-0-258 1004 Bethany St. SFR 1935 ca. Olde North Charleston
1708 470-08-0-257 1005 Bethany St. SFR 18915ca. Oide North Charleston
1710 470-08-0-322 1009 Betharry St. SFR 1915 ca. Olde North Charleston
1707 470-08-0-259 1018 Bethany St. SFR 1935 ca. Olde North Charleston
1708 470-08-0-260 1022 Bethany St. SFR 1930 ca. Olde North Charleston
1693 470-08-0-215 1049 Bethany St. SFR 1915ca. Oide North Charleston
1692 470-08-0-214 1053 Bethany St. SFR 1935ca. Oide North Charleston
1753 470-08-0-024 1050 Bexiey St. SFR 1935ca. Olde North Charleston
1755 470-08-0-021 1055 Bexiey St. SFR 1930ca. Olde North Charleston
1754 470-08-0-020 1057 Bexey St SFR 1920 ca. Oide North Charleston
1752 470-08-0-029 1058 Bexdey St SFR 1815ca Oide North Charteston
1751 470-08-0-032 1068 Bexdey St SFR 1925ca. Oide North Charleston
1750 470-08-0-033 1070 Bexey St. SFR 1835ca. Olde North Charleston
1749 470-08-0-034 1072 Bexdey St. SFR 1925 ca. Oide North Charleston
1748 470-08-0-038 1080 Bexdey St. SFR 1520 ca. Olde North Charlestor
1782 470-07-0-260 1109 Bexey St. SFR 1840 ca. Olde North Charteston
1781 470-07-0-231 1150 Bexdey St SFR 1940 ca. Olda North Charleston
1780 470-07-0-233 1164 Bexey St. SFR 1940 ca. Cide North Charleston
1779 470-07-0-240 1177 Bexdey St. SFR 1940 ca. Olde North Charleston
1778.00 470-07-0-238 1179 Baxey St. SFR 1840 ca Oide North Charleston
1778.01 470-07-0-239 1181 Bexey St. SFR 1945ca Oide North Charleston
1825.00 470-14-0-090 2136 Birch St. SFR 1943 ca. One-Story Houses Whipper Barony
1828.03 470-14-0-091 2140 Bikch St SFR 1943 ca. General Housing Co., Various  Whibper Barony
1828.03 470-14-0-092 2146 Birch St SFR 1943 ca. General Housing Co., Various  Whipper Barony
1826.01 470-14-0-006 2166 Bich St SFR 1842 ca. One & One-Half Story Houses  Whipper Barony
1825.00 470-14-0-098 2176 Birch St. SFR 1843 ca. One-Story Houses Whipper Barony
1825.01 470-14-0-099 2180 Birch St. SFR 1942 ca. One & One-Half Story Houses  Whipper Barony
1828.03 470-14-0-100 2184 Birch St. SFR 1844 ca. General Housing Co., Various  Whippes Barony
1511.04 470-050-0C1 1603 Bixby Ln. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
1511.01 470-05-0-001 1604 Bixby Ln. SFR 1841 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type A Oide North Charleston
1511.04 470-050-001 1607 Bixby Ln. DUP 1841 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
1511.04 470-05-0-001 1608 Bixby Ln. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Clde North Chareston
1511.04 470-05-0-001 1811 Bixby Ln. DUP 1941 John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Cide North Charleston
1511.04 470-05-0-001 1612 Bixby Ln. DUP 1541 John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Otde North Charleston
1511.04 470-05-0-001 1615 Bixby Ln. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
1511.04 470-05-0-001 1616 Bty Ln. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Oide North Charleston
1511.04 470-05-0-001 1620 Bixby Ln. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
1511.04 470-05-0-001 1624 Bixby Ln. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
1900 473-14-0-131 5519 Blackwelf St. SFR 19840 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1900 473-14-0-130 5525 Blackwef St. SFR 1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charteston Farms
1900 473-14-0-146 5528 Blackwell St. SFR 1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1800 473-14-0-129 5529 Biackwell St SFR 1840 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1900 473-14-0-147 5530 Blackwett St. SFR 13940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charteston Farms
1900 473-14-0-128 5533 Blackwefl St. SFR 1940ca. MinxmalTraditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1900 473-14-0-148 5534 Blackweli St. SFR 1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Famms
1800 473-14-0-149 5538 Biackwell St. SFR 1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Faims
1800 473.14-0-127 5539 Blackweil St. SFR 1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1800 473-14-0-126 5543 Blackwed St. CFR 1940 ca. MinimalTraditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1900 473-14-0-150 5544 Blackwedl St. SFR 1940 ca. MinimalTraditional Cottages Charleston Famms
1900 473-14-0-123 5611 Blackwell St. SFR 1940 ca, Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1900 473-14-0-122 5615 Blackwell St. SFR 1840ca. MinknakTraditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1900 473-14-0-153 5618 Blackwefl St. SFR 1940 ca. Minimat-Traditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1900 473-14-0-120 5625 Blackwel St. SFR 1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1900 473-14-0-154 5626 Blackwell St. SFR 1840 ca. Mnimal-Traditiorsal Cottages Charleston Farms
1511.04 470-05-0-001 4480 Bluffwood Ave. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
1511.04 470050001 4464 Bluffwood Ave. DUP 1941 John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
1511.04 470-050-001 4488 Biuffwood Ave. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde Horth Charleston
1511.04 470-05-0-001 4472 Biuffwood Ave. DUP 1941 John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Oide North Charieston
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Site #
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.00
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1511.04
1936
1956
1856
1956
1856
1958
1662.07
1633.10
1633.04
1633.01
1632.02
1633.08
1633.04
1633.08
1633.02
1633.01
1633.02
1633.01
1633.04
1633.05
1633.03
1633.05
1633.01
1633.01
1633.03
1633.01
1633.02
1633.10
1792
1633.04
1633.01
1633.04
1633.01
1633.04
1633.03
1633.03
1726
1725
1724
1723
1727
1728
1730
1729
1737
1736

Tax Parcel #
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
470-05-0-001
472-16-0-067
472-16-0-052
472-16-0-079
472-16-0-050
472-16-0-080
472-16-0-048
411-15-0-057
471-14-0-131
471-140-044
471-14-0-043
471-140-042
471-14.0-047
471-140-041
471-14-0-048
471-14-0-040
471-14-0-049
471-14-0-039
471-14-0-050
471-140-038
471-14-0-051
471-14-0-037
471-140-052
471-14-0-036
471-140-053
471-14-0-035
471.14-0-054
471-14-0-034
471-140-033
471-150-165
470040018
470-04-0-010
470-04-0-011
470-04-0-012
470-04-0-016
470-04-0-017
470040018
470-08-0-229
470-08-0-230
470-08-0-232
470-08-0-233
470-08-0-152
470-08-0-151
470-08-0-154
470-08-0-150
470-08-0-143
470-08-0-142

4819 Boulevard Ln.
4820 Boulevard Ln.
4821 Boulevard Ln.
4822 Boulevard Ln.
4823 Boulevard Ln.
4825 Boubevard Ln.
1225 Braddock Ave.
3740 Brookside Dr.
4706 Brookside Dr.
4710 Brookside Dr.
4714 Brookside Dr.
4730 Brookside Dr.
4734 Brookside Dr.
4736 Brookside Dr.
1004 Buist Ave.
1006 Buist Ave.
1014 Buist Ave.
1018 Buist Ave.
1049 Buist Ave.
1053 Buist Ave.
1058 Buist Ave.
1059 Buist Ave.
1075 Buist Ave.
1077 Buist Ave.

Type
DUP
DUP
DuUP
DuUpP
bup
buP
DUP
oup
bup
Dup
pup
DUP
OFF
DUP
DUP
DupP
Dup
bup

puP
DUP

pup
oupP
DUP
Dup
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

Date
1941
1941
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1941
1941
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ¢ca.
1942 ca.
1940 ca.
1919
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1841
1841
1941
1941
1941
1840 ca.
1841
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1941

1840 ca.
1935 ca.
1935 ¢a.
1840 ca.
1840 ca.
1840 ca.
1935 ca.

1942

1935 ca.
1935 ca.

Name Neighborhood

John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Okde Noith Charleston
Johin C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Okde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde Noirth Charleston
Johin C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Oide North Charleston
John C, Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charteston
John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Oide North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes Office Qlde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Chanleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Oide North Charleston
John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Clde North Chareston
John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Oide North Charleston
John C, Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Calhoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston
John C. Cathoun Homes, Type D Olde North Charleston

Bungalows Fermndale

Bungalows Femndale

Bungalows Femdale

Bungalows Fermndale

Bungalows Femdale

Bungalows Femndaie

Garco - Type & (moved) Murray Hill

Paimatto Gardens, Type F3 Olde North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type C Olde North Charleston

Palmetio Gardens, Type A1 Oide North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type A2 Olde North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type F1 Oide North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type C Oide Nocth Charleston
Pakmetto Gardens, Type F1 Olde North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type A2 Oide North Charleston
Palmetto Gardens, Type A1 Olde North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type A2 Oide North Charleston
Palmeito Gardens, Type A1 Oide North Charteston

Paimetto Gardens, Type C COlde North Charleston
Paimetio Gardens, Type D1 Oide North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type B Cide North Charleston

Paimetic Gardens, Type D1 Cide North Chasteston
Paimetto Garderss, Type A1 Olde North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type A1 Olde North Charleston
Palmetto Gardens, Type B Olda North Charleston
Paimetio Gardens, Type A1 Okde North Charleston
Pakmetto Gardens, Type A2 Olde North Charleston
Palmetto Gardens, Type F3 Olde North Charleston

QOide North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type C Olde North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type A1l Oide North Charleston
Palmetto Gardens, Type C Oide North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Typs A1 Olde North Charleston
Palmetto Gardens, Type C Olde North Charleston
Paimetto Gardens, Type B Oidde North Charleston
Paimetio Gardens, Type B Oide North Charleston
Otde North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
Oide North Chareston
Oide North Charlestorn
Oide North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
Oide North Chareston
Cothran House Oide North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
Demore House Olde North Charieston
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Site #
1584
1633.04
1633.02
1900
1900
1865
1868
1636.01
16368.01
1634.00
1635.00
1636.00
1636.01
1636.02
1636.02
1634.01
1634.01
1636.01
1635.00
1634.00
1635.00
1635.00
1636.00
1635.00
1636.00
1636.02
1967.05
1967.05
1987.12
1967.12
1967.12
1967.06
1867.14
1967.14
1967.07
1867.08
1967.00
1967.11
1967.05
1987.07
1967.18
1967.11
1967.05
1967.14
1967.07
1967.07
1967.00
1967.12
1967.14
1967.16
1987.05
1967.18
1967.05
1967.02
1967 .14
1967.16
1967.11
1967.16
1967.12
1959.00
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820

Tax Parcel #
470-07-0-029
471-14-0-109
471-14-0-108
473-15-0-208
473-15-0-203
472-14-0-091
472-14-0-086
469-16-0-336
469-16-0-337
469-16-0-333
469-16-0-339
469-16-0-340
469-16-0-340
469-16-0-343
468-16-0-343
4693-16-0-346
469-16-0-347
463-168-0-348
465-16-0-32%
469-16-0-349
468-16-0-324
4895-16-0-350
466-16-0-323
489-16-0-351
458-16-0-352
469-16-0-354
469-10-0-230
469-10-0-231
469-10-0-229
469-10-0-226
469-10-0-068
468-10-0-237
469-10-0-097
468-10-0-076
468-10-0-098
4898-10-0-078
469-10-0-094
469-10-0-079
469-10-0-093
469-10-0-080
469-10-0-092
469-10-0-091
469-10-0-083
489-10-0-084
469-10-0-085
469-05-0-109
468-09-0-108
468-03-0-105
469-09-0-078
469-09-0-020
469-09-0-021
469-09-0-022
463-08-0-025
469-08-0-026
489-09-0-027
468-09-0-028
469-09-0-030
469-09-0-033
469-09-0-034
470-03-0-310
469-11-0-082
469-11-0-083
469-11-0-084
469-11-0-102
468-11-0-085
469-11-0-107
469-11-0-088
469-11-0-087
469-11-0-088
469-11-0-098
4659-11-0-089
469-11-0-097

St. # Street
1175 Buist Ave.
1201 Buist Ave.
1203 Buist Ave.
1217 Burke St.

1221 Burke St.

5101 Butler St.

5121 Butler St.

1800 Calvert St.
1804 Calvert St.
1805 Calvert St.
1806 Calvert St
1808 Calvert St.
1810 Calvert St.
1816 Calvert St.
1818 Cabvert St.
1900 Calveit St.
1902 Calvert St.
1904 Calvert St.
1905 Calvert St.
1906 Calvert St.
1907 Calvert St.
1908 Cabvert St.
1909 Cabvert St.
1910 Cabvert St.
1914 Calvert St.
1920 Calvest St.

2201 Cambridge Ave.
2202 Cambridge Ave.

2110 Captain Ave.
2112 Captain Ave.
2114 Captain Ave.
2115 Captain Ave.
2116 Captain Ave.
2117 Captain Ave.
2118 Captain Ave.
2120 Captain Ave.
2122 Captain Ave.
2123 Captain Ave.
2124 Captain Ave.
2125 Cagptain Ave.

Type
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
8FR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

Date Name Neighborhood
1940 ca. Oide North Charleston
1841 Paimetio Gardens, Type C Olde North Charleaton
1941 Paimetto Gardans, Type A2 Olde North Charleston
1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Charleston Farms
1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cattages Charleston Farms
1840 ca. Minimak-Traditional Cottages Russelidale

1935 ca. Russetidale

1840 ca. Bungalows, Simple Chicora Place
1940 ca. Bungslows, Simple Chicora Place
1909-10 Walker-Designed Houses Chicora Place
1840 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Chicora Ptace
1540 ca. Bungalows, Craftsman-infiuence Chicora Place
1940 ca. Bungalkows, Simple Chicora Place
1935 ca. Bungslows, Recessed Porch Chicora Place
1935ca. Bungalows, Recessed Porch Chicora Place
1909-10 Walker-Deslgned Houses Chicora Place
1909-10 Walker-Designed Houses Chicora Place
1940 ca. Bungalows, Simple Chicora Place
1935 ca.  Minimal-Traditional Cottages Chicora Ptace
1909-10 Walkear-Designed Houses Chicora Place
1940 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Chicors Place
1935 ca.  Minimal-Traditional Coltages Chicora Place
1535 ca. Bungalows, Crafteman-infiuence Chicora Place
1935 ca. Minimal-Traditional Cottages Chicora Place
1835ca. Bungalows, Craftsman-Influence Chicora Place
1935 ca. Bungalows, Recessed Porch Chicora Ptace
1944 Type Four Dorchester Terrace
1844 Type Four Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Eight Dorchester Temrace
1844 Type Eight Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Eight Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Four Dorchester Terrace
1944 Typa Nine Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Nine Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Five Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Six Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type One Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Seven Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Four Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Five Dorchester Tervace
1844 Type Ten Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Seven Dorchester Terrace
1844 Type Four Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Nine Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Five Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Five Dorchester Temrace
1944 Type One Dorchester Termace
1944 Type Eight Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Nine Dorchester Tervace
1944 Type Ten Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Four Dorchester Tenrace
1944 Type Eleven Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Four Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Two Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Nine Dorchaster Terrace
1844 Type Ten Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Seven Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Ten Dorchester Terrace
1944 Type Eight Dorchester Terrace
1935 ca. Bungalows Liberty HE

1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafalr Addition
1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1842 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Adddion
1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1842 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1842 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafair Addition
1942 ca. One-Story Houses Nafalr Addition
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Ske #
1820
1820
1820
1820
1634.00
1634.00
1636.02
1636.01
1685
1636.00
1636.01
1638.00
1639.00
1636.00
1636.01
1836.00
1635.00
1638.00
1636.00
1636.00
1664
1823
1638.00
1915
1521
1840
278, 362 1512.01
276, 362 1512.01
276, 362 1812.01
276, 362 1512.01
276, 362 1512.01
276, 362 1512.01
276, 362 1512.01
276, 362 1512.01

BBBBBBEEBREEEEBBRREEEBBREES

278, 362 1512.01
362 1742
362 1745
362 1743
362 1746
362 1744
362 1747
362 1711
362 1921

89 1880
;W2 1585
362 1585
362 1584
362 1592
362 1583
362 1581
362 1604
362 1580
362 1633.10
362 1633.08
362 163315
362 1633.03
362 163.01
362 1633.05
362 1633.01
362 1633.07
362 1633.04
362 16833.07
362 1633.01
362 1633.01
362 1633.07
362 1633.04
362 1633.03
362 16331
362 1633.04
362 1633.04
362 1633.01
362  1633.01

Tax Parcel #
485-11-0-000
466-11-0-092
465-11-0-094
469-11-0-093
469-12-0-233
469-12-0-238
459-12-0-231
469-12-0-240
488-12-0-244
469-12-0-227
469-12.0-245
469-12-0-247
469-12.0-224
468-12-0-248
469-12-0-223
469-12-0-248
489-12-0-222
489-12-0-250
469-12-0-251
469-12-0-252
469-12-0-219
469-12-0-181
469-12-0-165
466-03-0-027
469-15-0-103
469-15-0-103
471-09-0-004
471-09-0-004
471-09-0-004
471-09-0-004
471-09-0-004
471-09-0-004
471-09-0-004
471-09-0-004
471-09-0-004
470-08-0-185
470-08-0-188
470-08-0-183
470-08-0-189
470-08-0-182
470-08-0-190
471-16-0-025
473-15-0-192
465-08-0-015
470-07-0-073
470-04-0-158
470-04-0-171
470-04-0-160
470-04-0-170
470-04-0-161
470-04-0-188
470-04-0-165
470-04-0-121
470-04-0-106
470-04-0-105
470-04-0-107
470-04-0-108
470-04-0-012
470-04-0-101
470-04-0-110
470-04-0-111
470-040-112
471-14-0-098
471-14-0-095
47114-0-099
471-14-0-094
471-14-0-100
471-14-0-092
471-14.0-093
471140102
471-14-0-104
471-14-0-105

St & Street
2126 Caplain Ave.
2130 Captain Ave.
2131 Captain Ave.
2132 Captain Ave.
1807 Cariton St.
1808 Cariton St.
1811 Carilon St.
1812 Cartton St.
1820 Carfton St.
1821 Cartton St.
1822 Carfton St.
1902 Carlton St.
1903 Cariton St.
1904 Cartton St.
1905 Carfton St.
1906 Carlton St.
18Q7 Carfton St.
1908 Carlton St
1910 Cariton St.
1912 Carlton St.
1915 Cartton St.
1921 Cariton St.
2001 Cariton St.
2207 Camner Ave.
2950 Camer Ave.
Camer Ave.
1650 Ceitic Ct.
1651 Celtic Ct.
1654 Ceftic Ct.
1655 Celtic Ct.
1659 Celtic Ct.
1683 Cettic Ct.
1664 Cettic Ct.
1686 Celtic Ct.
1867 Cettic Ct.
4703 Chateau Ave.
4716 Chateau Ave.
4717 Chateau Ave.
4722 Chateau Ave.
4723 Chateau Ave.
4730 Chateau Ave.
4840 Chateau St.
5729 Chatham Ave.
1817 Cherokee St.
1174 Chesterfield Rd.
1204 Chesterfield Rd.
1205 Chesterfield Rd.
1208 Chesterfiedd Rd.
12008 Chesterfield Rd.
1210 Chesterfield Rd.
1214 Chesterfield Rd.
1217 Chesterfield Rd.
4701 Chesterfield Rd.
4711 Chesterfieid Rd.
4719 Chesterfiedd Rd.
4726 Chesterfield Rd.
4730 Chesterfiid Rd.
4731 Chesterfieid Rd.
4733 Chesterfield Rd.
4736 Chesterfieid Rd.
4744 Chesterfieid Rd.
4748 Chesterfleld Rd.
4804 Chesterfieki Rd.
4805 Chesterfield Rd.
4806 Chesterfield Rd.
4807 Chesterfield Rd.
4808 Chesterfield Rd.
4805 Chestarfield Rd.
4811 Chesterfield Rd.
4812 Chesterfield Rd.
4818 Chesterfield Rd.
4818 Chesterfield Rd.

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
DupP
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SITE
DUP
DUP
DuP
DUP
DupP
Dup
DUP
DUP
pupP
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SER
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

Date

1942 ca.
1942 ca.
18942 ca.
1942 ca.

1808-10
1909-10

1835 ca.

1935 ca.
1809-10
1920 ca.

1940 ca.

1940 ca.
1840 ca.
1835 ca.
1940 ca.
1935 ca.
1940 ca.
1935 ca.
1930 ca.
1940 ceo.
1920 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1930 ca.
1943
1943
1942-43
1942-43
1942-43
154243
1942-43
1542-43
194243
1942-43
1942-43
1915 ca.
1922
1920 ca.
1925 ca.
1915 ca.
1925 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1945 ca.
1945 ca.
1945 ca.
1840 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
15841
1941
1941
1941

Name

Minimal-Traditional Cottages

Palmetto Gardens, Type F3
Paimetto Gardens, Type F1
Palmetto Gardens, Composite
Pakmetto Gardens, Type B8
Patmetto Gardens, Type A1
Palmetio Gardens, Type D1
Paimetto Gardens, Type At
Palmetto Gardens, Type E
Palmetio Gardens, Type C
Palmetto Gardens, Type E
Paimetto Gardens, Type A1
Palmetio Gardens, Type A1
Palmetto Gardens, Type E
Paimetto Gardens, Type C
Palmetto Gardens, Type B
Paimetto Gardens, Type A1l
Palmetio Gardens, Type C
Patmetto Gardens, Type C
Paimetto Gardens, Type A1
Palmetto Gardens, Type A1

Oide Nocth Charleston
Qide North Charleston
Oide North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
Olde North Charlaston
Oide North Charleston
Oide North Charleston

Olde North Charleston
Oide North Charteston
Oide North Charleston

Oide North Charleston
Olda North Charleston

Otde North Charleston
Qide North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
Olde North Charteston
Oide North Charleston
Olde North Charleston
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Sie #
1633.04
1633.10
18256.01
1828.01
1825.00
1828.03
1828.01
1828.00
1828.00
1828.03
1825.01
1828.00
1828.03
1828.01
1520
1636.02
1663
1663
1637.00
1663
1828.08
1828.07
1828.04
1828.07
1633.04
1633.03
1633.04
1633.03
1633.04
1633.03
1633.11
1633.01
1633.04
1633.03
1633.08
1633.03
1633.04
1833.03
1633.09
1633.10
1633.08
1633.06
1633.03
1633.01
1633.04
1633.01
1633.01
1633.03
1633.01
1633.04
1633.03
1642
1636.01
1636.00
1635.01
1636.00
1636.00
1636.01
1636.00
1635.00
1668
1636.00
1638.00
1636.01
1636.01
1641
1856
1956
1958
1956
1956
1956

Tax Parced #
471-14-0-108
471-14-0-107
469-02-0-033
469-02-0-034
489-02-0-040
470-14-0-081
470-14-0-062
470-14-0-063
470-14-0-084
470-14-0-136
470-14-0-135
470-14-0-086
470-14-0-134
470-14-0-087
469-12-0-115
469-16-0-180
469-16-0-261
469-16-0-261
488-12-0-184
469-16-0-261
470-14-0-143
470-14-0-155
470-14-0-154
470-14-0-153
470-04-0-082
470-04-0-078
470-04-0-085
470-04-0-077
470-04-0-089
470-04-0-088
470-04-0-074
470-04-0-073
470-04-0-072
470-04-0-090
470-04-0-091
470-04-0-070
470-04-0-092
470-04-0-069
470-04-0-068
470-04-0-084
471-14-0-125
471-14-0-087
471-14-0-086
471-14-0-u39
471-14-0-085
471-14-0-090
471-14-0-084
471-14-0-103
471-14-0-081
471-14-0-080
471-14-0-078
471-14-0-077
466-03-0-118
466-03-0-115
466-03-0-113
469-16-0-022
466-03-0-112
463-16-0-023
486-03-0-111
466-03-0-110
468-16-0-025
469-16-0-026
469-16-0-027
489-16-0-029
469-16-0-032
459-16-0-033
472-16-0-104
472-16-0-102
472-16-0-109
472-16-0-122
472-16-0-091
472-16-0-087

St # Street

4820 Chesterfleld Rd.
4822 Chaesterfiekt Rd.

3858 Chestnut St.
3860 Chestriat St.
3882 Chestrugt St.
3902 Chestrut St.
3908 Chestnut St.
3812 Chestnut St.
3918 Chestrud St.
3923 Chestrut St.
3929 Chestrud St
3832 Chestriut St.
3935 Chestnut St.
3936 Chestrud St.
1912 Chicora Ave.
2924 Chicora Ave.
3008 Chicora Ave.
3012 Chicora Ave.
3043 Chicora Ave.
008B Chicora Ave

2010 Christopher St
3955 Christopher St
3863 Christopher St.
3967 Christopher St.

4710 Churchill Rd.
4725 Churchil Rd.
4726 Churchill Rd.
4731 Churchiff Rd.
4738 Churchill Rd.
4740 Churchifl Rd.
4741 Churchilt Rd.
4745 Churchil Rd.
4751 Churchat Rd.
4752 Churchii Rd.
4756 Churchill Rd.
4759 Churchill Rd.
4762 Churchilt Rd.
4785 Churchill Rd.
4771 Churchifl Rd.
4772 Churchill Rd.
4801 Churchill Rd.
4803 Churchill Rd.
4805 Churchill Rd.
4808 Churchifl Rd.
4807 Churchil Rd.
4808 Churchiil Rd.
4809 Churchill Rd.
4814 Churchil Rd.
4825 Churchill Rd.
4829 Churchill Rd.
4837 Churchill Rd.
4838 Churchill Rd.

1928 Clements Ave.
1937 Clements Ave.
1941 Clements Ave.
1942 Clements Ave.
1943 Clements Ave.
1844 Clements Ave.
1845 Clements Ave.
1847 Clements Ave.
1948 Clements Ave.
1950 Clements Ave.
1952 Clements Ave.
1956 Clements Ave.
1962 Clements Ave.
1864 Clements Ave.

1903 Chifton St
1507 Clifton St
1910 Clifton St
2004 Clifton St.
2009 Clifton St.
2017 Clifton St.

Type
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
MFG
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

Date
1941
1841
1942 ca.
1842 ca.
1943 ca.
1943 ca.
1943 ca.
1943
1944
1944 ca.
1943 ca.
1843 ca.
1944 ca.
1844
1835
1940 ca.
1945 ca.
1945 ca.
1935 ca.
1945 ca.
1943 ca.
1944 ca.
1943 ca.
1944 ca.
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1641
1941
1941
1941
1941
1841
1941
1941
1941
1941
1841
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1920 ca.
1940 ca.
1830 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1925 ca.
1825 ca.
1935 ca.
1935 ca.
1935 ca.
1917
1945 ca.
1940 ca.
1940 ca.
1843 ca.
1840 ca.
1840 ca.

Name

Paimetto Gardens, Type C
Paimetio Gardens, Type F3
One & One-Half Story Houses
One & Onea-Half Story Houses
One-Story Houses

General Housing Co., Varicus
General Housing Co. Type B
Gerneral Housing Co. Type A
Genaral Housing Co. Type A
One & One-Half Story Houses
Geners! Housing Co. Type A
General Housing Co., Various
General Housing Co. Type B
Chicora Graded Schoot
Bungalows, Recessed Parch
Garage w/ 2nd Leve! Apt.
Garage w/ 2nd Level Apt.

Qids North Charteston
Olde North Chareston

Whipper Barony
Whipper Barony
Whipper Barony
Whipper Barony
Whipper Barorty
Whipper Barony

i
i

Charteston Heights
Chicota Place
Chicora Place
Chicora Ptace

Bungalows, Craftsman-influence Charteston Heights

Garaga w/ 2nd Level Apt.
Ganeral Housing Co. Type C
General Housing Co., Various
General Housing Co. Type A
General Housing Co., Various
Paimetto Gardens, Type C
Palimetto Gardens, Type B
Palmetto Gardens, Type C
Paimetto Gardens, Type B
Palmetio Gardens, Type C
Paimetto Gardens, Type B
Palmetto Gardens, Type G
Palmetto Gardens, Type A1
Paimetto Gardens, Type C
Palmetto Gardens, Type B
Paimetto Gardens, Type F1
Palmetto Gardens, Type B
Paimetto Gardens, Type C
Palmetto Gardens, Type B
Paimetlo Gardens, Type F2
Patmetto Gardens, Type F3
Paimetto Gardens, Type F1
Paimetto Gardens, Type D2
Paimetto Gardens, Type B
Paimetto Gardens, Type A1
Paimetto Gardens, Type C
Paimetto Gardens, Type A1
Pakmetto Gardens, Type A1
Palmetto Gardene, Type B
Paimetto Gardens, Type A1
Paimetto Gardens, Type C
Palmetto Gardens, Type B

Bungakows, Simple

Chicora Place

Whipper Barony Exdt.
Whipper Barony Ext.
Whipper Barony Ext.
Whipper Barony Ext.
Oide North Charleston
Olde North Charleston

Olde North Charleston
Olde Norcth Charleston

Oide North Charleston
Oide North Charleston

Oide North Charleston
Oide North Charfeston
Oide North Charfeston
Oide North Charleston

Chicora Place

Bungalows, Craftsman-influence Chicora Place
Minimai-Traditional w/ Bungaiow Chicora Place
Bungaiows, Crafteman-influence Chicora Place
Bungalows, Craftsman-infiuence Chicora Ptace

Bungalows, Simple

Chicora Ptace

Bungalows, Craftsman-influence Chicora Place

Minimal-Traditional Cottages

Chicora Place
Chicora Place

Bungalows, Craftsman-influence Chicora Place
Bungalows, Craftsman-Influence Chicora Place

Bungalows, Simple
Bungalows, Simple
Trolley Line Power Plant
Bungalows

Bungalows

Bungalows

Bungalows

Bungalows

Bungaiows

Chicora Place
Chicora Place
Chicora Place
Ferndale
Femdale
Ferndake
Femdalo
Ferndale
Ferndale
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276
276
276
276
276
276
278
276

276
276
276
276

Site #
1956
1957
1956
1630.01
1830.01
1882
1830.01
1830.01
1830.00
1830.01
1831
1662.09
1831
1831
1830.00
1830.00
1830.00
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1820
1566
1626
1955
1831
1831
1830.01
1830.01
1830.01
1830.00
1831
1830.00
1820
1820
1830.00
1830.00
1830.00
1830.00
1830.00
1676
1702
1703
1701
1700
1704
1705
1949
1900
1900
1900
1900
1800
1900
1900
1842
1956
1956

1856

Tax Parcel #
472-16-0-086
472-16-0-088
472-16-0-131
469-08-0-197
468-08-0-195
469-08-0-194
469-08-0-163
463-08-0-192
469-08-0-229
459-08-0-218
469-08-0-228
469-08-0-220
465-08-0-227
469-08-0-221
469-08-0-226
469-08-0-222
469-08-0-224
469-11-0-073
469-11-0-072
469-11-0-071
469-11-0-046
469-11-0-066
469-11-0-048
469-11-0-065
459-11-0-048
468-11-0-064
489-11-0-051
469-11-0-062
469-11-0-052
469-11-0-061
469-11-0-053
469-11-0-0680
466~11-0-054
459-11-0-055
471-150-270
471-15-0-240
470-14-0-185
469-08-0-203
469-08-0-202
469-08-0-201
489-08-0-189
489-08-0-177
489-08-0-260
469-08-0-165
469-08-0-164
469-11-0-145
469-11-0-144
459-08-0-214
463-08-0-213
469-08-0-212
489-08-0-211
469-08-0-210
470-08-0-271
470-08-0-270
470-08-0-269
470-08-0-272
470-08-0-273
470-08-0-267
470-08-0-266
397-00-0-024
473-13-0-071
473130072
473-13-0-066
473-13-0-075
473-13-0-053
473-13-0-051
473-13-0-049
470-10-0-050
472-16-0-145
472-16-0-162
472-16-0-165
472-16-0-166

St # Street
2019 Clifton St.
2021 Chfton St.
2024 Clifton St.
3360 Cochise St
3368 Cochise St.
3371 Cochise St
3375 Cochise St.
3383 Cochise St.
3423 Cochige St.
3424 Cochise St.
3429 Cochise St.
3432 Cochise St.
3433 Cochise St.
3434 Cochise St.
3435 Cochise St.
3438 Cochise St.
3445 Cochise St.
2105 Commander Rd.
2107 Commander Rd.
2108 Commander Rd.
2116 Commander Rd.
2119 Conmwmander Rd.
2120 Commander Rd.
2121 Commander Rd.
2122 Commander Rd.
2123 Commander Rd.
2126 Commander Rd.
2127 Commander Rd.
2128 Commander Rd.
2129 Commander Rd.
2130 Commander Rd.
2131 Commander Rd.
2132 Commander Rd.
2134 Comimander Rd,
5000 Converse St.
5017 Converse St.
4007 Corder Ave.
1903 Coegrove Ave.
1911 Coegrove Ave.
1817 Cosgrove Ave.
1935 Cosgrove Ave.
2009 Cosgrove Ave.
2020 Cosgrove Ave.
2021 Cosgrove Ave.
2027 Cosgrove Ave.
2123 Cosgrave Ave.
2125 Coegrove Ave.
3423 Cosgrove Ave.
3427 Cosgrove Ave.
3431 Cosgrove Ave.
3435 Coegrove Ave,
3439 Coegrove Ave.
1004 Crawford St.
1005 Crawford St
1007 Crawford St.
1010 Crawford St.
1022 Crawford St.
1023 Crawford St.
1027 Crawford St.
Cross County Rd.
5432 Crown Ave,
5438 Crown Ave.
5439 Crown Ave.
5454 Crown Ave.
5455 Crown Ave.
5463 Crown Ave,
5469 Crown Ave.
4428 Dabey St.
1919 Dalton St.
1922 Dalton St.
1928 Dalton St.
2002 Dalton St.

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
coM
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
G-AP
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
MR

SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR
SFR

SFR
CEM
SFR
SFR